
Delivering
the Best
Annual Report 2009

Yangzijiang Shipbuilding 
(Holdings) Ltd.
揚子江船業(控股)有限公司

Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd.

4 Robinson Road #04-01 The House of Eden 

Singapore 048543



Company Profile 3
Chairman’s Message 4
主席致詞 7
Review of Operations 9
Board of Directors & Senior Management 16
Corporate Information 21
Investor Relations 22
Corporate Governance 25
Directors’ Report 35
Statement by Directors 38
Independent Auditor’s Report 39
Consolidated Income Statement 41
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 42
Balance Sheets 43
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 45
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 47
Notes to the Financial Statements 49
Statistics of Shareholdings 99
Notice of Annual General Meeting 101
Appendix 106
Proxy Form

Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd
 Annual Report 2009

CONTENTS

Designed and produced by

(65) 6578 6522



1Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. • Annual Report 2009

2009
31 December

RMB’000

2008
31 December

RMB’000

2007
31 December

RMB’000

Results
Revenue 10,623,642 7,359,096 3,855,494
Gross Profit 2,234,672 1,363,012 885,253
Other Income 360,527 232,431 121,423
Other gains 178,708 274,239 101,766
Net profit attributable to shareholders 2,289,951 1,579,760 869,509

Balance Sheet
Total Assets 20,411,218 18,219,985 14,491,308
Net Cash 2,899,878 2,570,401 4,410,315
Shareholders’ equity 6,310,304 4,315,438 4,179,224
Cash and cash equivalents 3,806,955 3,060,384 4,438,757
Basic EPS (RMB Cents) 62.68 45.13 28.20
Dividends (Singapore Dollar) 0.035 0.028 0.01565
Share price at period end (Singapore Dollar) 1.21 0.46 2.00

Market capitalisation at period end
Net profit % 22% 22% 22%
Payout ratio 27% 30% 30%
P/E 9.38 4.85 35.88
P/B 3.40 1.85 7.99
Dividend yield 3% 6% 1%
No. of shares (’000) 3,653,283 3,653,283 3,300,897

2008 2009 2008 2009

Cash & Cash Equivalents 
and Total Assets
(RMB’ million)

Net Profit

Total Equity

Net Profit Attributable 
to Equity Holders and 
Total Equity (RMB’ million)

1,579.8

4,315.4

2,290.0

6,310.3

3,060.4

3,807.0

18,220
20,411

Cash & Cash Equivalent

Total Assets
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Company Profile

We are one of the leading shipbuilders in the PRC, 
with two shipbuilding bases across the Yangtze 
River opposite each other, and producing a broad 
range of commercial vessels, containerships, bulk 
carriers and multi-purpose cargo vessels.

We operate two yards, through our subsidiaries, JYS 
(the “Old Yard”) and JNYS (the “New Yard”). Our 
Old Yard is located by the Yangtze River upstream 
of the Jiangyin Changjiang Bridge in Jiangyin city, 
PRC. Our old shipyard spans approximately 800 
meters of deep-water coastline and covers an area 
of approximately 200,000 square meters (excluding 
the coastal area).

Our New Yard is located on the northern bank of 
the Yangtze River and within the Jiangyin Economic 

Development District in Jingjiang city, PRC. The 
shipyard has 1,200 meters of deep-water coastline, 
a production area of 793,039 square metres and a 
dry dock that is able to accommodate two 100,000 
deadweight tones (“DWT”) vessels, and two half 
100,000 DWT vessels at one time.

Located next to JNYS, our wholly-owned to 
subsidiary, Jiangsu Runzhou Ship Accessories Co., 
Ltd in Jingjiang city, has a production area of 
280,888 square meters. Jiangsu Tongzhou Marine 
Equipment Co., Ltd, another wholly-owned 
subsidiary next to our new yard, JNYS, has 740 
meters of deepwater coastline; 434,930 square 
meters production area, and a slipway that is able 
to accommodate two 100,000 DWT vessels.

  WoRLD RENoWNED 
CAPABiLiTiES uNDER 
oNE GRouP
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Chairman’s Message

Dear Shareholders, Ladies and Gentlemen:

Broad shifts began taking place in the world’s 
marine industry in the year 2009, after it went 
through multiple whammies such as vessel supply 
glut, dismal freight rates and the economic recession 
as a result of the global financial crisis. For China, 
however, it was a year of repositioning on the 
global shipbuilding scene – we emerged for the first 
time as the nation with most newbuilding orders. 
China captured 61.2% of the global newbuilding 
market share (2008: 37.7%).

Yangzijiang Shipbuilding has specialized in 
newbuilding of cargo vessels for over half a century. 
We are one of the most efficient yards in China. On 
the Singapore bourse, we were the most profitable 
company from China and the largest S-chip in terms 
of market capitalization as at 31 December 2009. 
In recognition of the growing significance of our 
enterprise, MSCI added us to its MSCI Singapore 
Index1 in November 2009.

The fight for no.1 spot has not been easy. In the 
aftermath of a 70%-90% plunge in shipping freight 
rates during the second half of 2008, operating 
losses put shipowners under severe pressure to 
cancel newbuilding orders or even to abandon 
newbuildings under construction. In the face of 
this, we at Yangzijiang Shipbuilding proactively 
implemented comprehensive counter measures: 
We devised ways and means to help customers to 
honour their contracts. We improved operational 
efficiency and ensured timely delivery. We enforced 
policies to ensure cost effectiveness. We developed 
new vessel designs and secured new orders. And, 
we lobbied for favorable government policies.

As a result of rampant cancellation of orders placed 
during the 2007-2008 boom, shipyards all over the 
world, regardless of size or reputation, were left 
with massive dents in their order books. Yangzijiang 
Shipbuilding, however, emerged as a rare shipyard 

Ren Yuanlin
Executive Chairman

Cash dividend of 3.5 Singapore 
cents per share

New revenue stream from ship 
breaking 

Most profitable and largest 
Singapore-listed China company 

Morgan Stanley Capital index 
stock

1
2
3
4
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Chairman’s Message

that did not suffer from any order cancellation 
throughout the entire difficult period since the 
global financial crisis began.

About 65% of Chinese shipbuilders received no 
newbuilding orders2 last year. We were one of the 
few that received multiple orders. During 2009, 
our new yard secured orders for 10 bulk carriers 
of 92,500 DWT each and orders for two 19,000 
DWT multi-purpose vessels. The value of these 
new contracts amounted to a total of US$460 
million. 127 vessels currently sit on our order books, 
amounting to 6.6 million DWT and contract values 
of US$5.6 billion as at 31 December 2009.

HoW DiD WE Do iT?
We worked hard on win-win solutions that help our 
customers honour their orders. Firstly, we eased their 
financial burden by offering them a longer vessel 
delivery schedule and easier credit terms, albeit 

within reasonable limits. Secondly, for customers 
who have taken delivery of their vessel, we offered 
a grace period for docking space at our yard. This 
alleviates their burden of paying docking charges 
for idle vessels. Thirdly, to help customers suffering 
from the grave supply glut in the container shipping 
market, we acceded to vessel conversion and main 
engine upgrade requests in alignment with shipping 
trends. Finally, for the more lucrative contracts, we 
passed cost savings arising from declines in steel 
and equipment prices on to our customers.

I am glad to report that these measures have proven 
sound, and we delivered 40 vessels according to 
our pre-determined production schedule. Group 
revenues were RMB 10.6 billion, up 44% year-on-
year. Gross profit margins expanded 2 percentage 
points to 21%, as the steel markets stabilized. Profit 
attributable to the shareholder was RMB 2.3 billion, 
up 45%. Net margins were maintained at 21.6%.
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Chairman’s Message

NET PRoFiT ATTRiBuTABLE  
To EQuiTY HoLDERS (RMB ’million)

2007

869.5

2008

1,579.8

2009

2,290.0

CASH DiViDEND (SGD ’000)

2007

57,178

2008

102,292

2009

127,865

I must confess that such margins in the past 2 years 
stemmed from exceptionally lucrative contracts 
that marked the 2007 shipbuilding boom. Though 
this may persist for the next 2 years, it will be 
challenging to maintain such margins in the long 
run. Newbuilding values in 2009 have already fallen 
about 22% year-on-year, back to normal levels3.

To maintain vibrant growth for the Group, it is 
our vision to transform into an integrated group 
of company with diversified revenue streams. We 
invested in 2 ship demolition yards, each with 
a coastal line of one kilometer. It is our goal to 
become one of the world’s major players in ship 
breaking within 2 to 3 years. At our 2 existing 
yards, we endeavor to continue our meticulous 
management, maximizing capacity utilization, 
upgrading the designs of our bulk carriers and 
container vessels, improving cost effectiveness and 
decreasing wastage in order to preserve and grow 
shareholders value.

We are in a net cash position, with a cash hoard of 
RMB 3.8 billion, up 24.4% year-on-year. To share our 
success, the board is glad to propose a first and final 

tax-exempt cash dividend of 3.5 Singapore cents per 
share, translating to a payout ratio of 27.3%.

APPRECiATioN
Ship owners, suppliers, bankers and other business 
associates have played an important role in our 
progress, and continue to do so. For this support, 
we wish to extend our appreciation. At the same 
time, I also wish to express my heart-felt gratitude 
for the tireless effort poured in by the board of 
directors, the management and all staff.

For 2010, we are committed to continue 
implementing sound management directives, 
timely delivery of 48 vessels, securing more orders, 
improving cost effectiveness and developing new 
revenues streams, so as to accelerate and enhance 
the Group’s progress.

Let us join hands to sail the seas!

Ren Yuanlin
Executive Chairman

1 The MSCI Singapore Index consists of stocks traded primarily on the SGX, and is maintained by MSCI Inc, a leading provider of indices, and portfolio 
risk & performance analytics.

2 China Association of the National Shipbuilding Industry data
3 Clarksons data



7Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. • Annual Report 2009

主席致詞

各位親愛的股東，女士們，先生們：

在全球運力過剩、航運市場低迷和國際金融危機對實體經
濟重挫的雙重壓力下，2009年全球造船業進入了全面調
整時期。也在這一年中國在新造船市場中脫穎而出，首次
以絕對優勢佔據新接訂單首位，取得了全球新承接訂單
61.2%(2008年為37.7%)的良好業績。

揚子江船業的造船歷史可追溯到半個世紀前，如今已成為
中國最有效率的船廠之一。截止2009年12月31日，揚子江
成為新加坡上市的中國公司中盈利最豐厚、市值最大的公
司；2009年11月被納入摩根士丹利資本國際新加坡指數，
體現了揚子江在新加坡上市公司中日益重要的地位。

這一切都來之不易。自2008年下半年以來，受國際金融危
機影響，海運費暴跌70％-90％，航運業蒙受了巨大損失，
也使我們面臨著船東撤單和棄船的巨大壓力。面對嚴峻挑
戰，我們主動出擊，採取了“三保兩爭取”等多項措施積
極應對：想方設法幫助船東確保履行合約；提高生產效
率，按時交船；降本增效，確保既定效益的實現；積極開
發新船型，爭取新的訂單；積極爭取政府的各項優惠扶持
政策。

由於2007至2008年造船高峰時期所簽訂的新船訂單大量被
取消，全球大部分船廠的手持訂單都大幅削減。揚子江再
次嶄露頭角，做到了“一單不丟，一船不棄”，是僅有未
發生棄船現象的少數幾家船廠之一。

2009年大約有65%的中國船廠沒有接到任何新船訂單，而
我們是實現批量接單的少數幾家船廠之一。2009年集團取
得了10艘92500DWT散貨船和2艘19000DWT多用途船的新
訂單，合同金額共計4.6億美元。截至2009年12月31日，
集團手持訂單127艘船舶(660萬載重噸)，總值達56億美
元。

我們是如何做到的？
2009年，我們與船東共渡難關，保訂單並實現雙贏。首
先，對於已開工船舶，我們適當調整工程進度款的支付時
間和支付比例，緩解船東的資金壓力；其次，同意船東在
辦妥船舶完工接船手續後將船舶停泊在工廠碼頭一段時
間，為船東節省接船後船舶閒置所產生的相關費用；第
三，考慮現有集裝箱船運力嚴重過剩的情況，積極配合船
東更改船型，或調整主機配置；最後，對於高價船，在設
備和原輔材料降價範圍內對船東作適當降價讓利。

令人欣慰的是，公司所採取的各方面措施成效顯著：2009
年我們按計劃成功交付40艘船舶，集團全年銷售收入達
106億元人民幣，比2008年同比增長44%。由於鋼價趨

穩，2009年全年毛利率增長了兩個百分點，達21％。股東
盈利達到23億元人民幣，增長了45%。同時淨利率保持在
21.6％的水平。

近兩年集團的高利潤率，來源於2007年船市高峰時期接到
的高利潤訂單，而且這種情況還將在今明兩年繼續維持；
但從長遠來看，維持這樣的高利潤率並不現實。2009年集
團新接訂單的價格與高峰時相比已滑落了約22％，恢復到
了常態水平。

為保持持續強勁增長，集團正致力於逐步轉型，實現業務
多元化的遠景。我們正在建設兩個共擁有2公里海岸線的船
舶廢金屬綜合利用基地，並計劃在未來兩三年內進入全球
同行前列。對現有的兩個造船廠，我們會繼續精細管理，
實現產能放量；抓好經營開發和降本降耗，實現既定的效
益，確保股東權益保值增值。

集團目前淨現金儲備有38億元人民幣，較2008年同比增長
24.4%。為與股東分享我們的收益，董事會已提議每股3.5
分新元的免稅年終紅利，占年度可分配利潤的27.3%。

致 謝
我們的船東、供應商、合作銀行和其他商業伙伴在我們的
進步中發揮了持續、重要的作用，對於他們的支持，我代
表集團在此表示感謝。同時，我還要感謝董事會、集團管
理層和全體員工投入的不懈努力。

2010年集團承諾繼續實施健康的管理方針，完成交船48
條，繼續做到“強管理，保交船，搶訂單，降成本，謀發
展”，實現集團更快更好的發展。

讓我們乘風破浪，攜手共進。

任元林
執行主席

每股3.5分新幣分紅 

新拆船業務 

新交所盈利最豐厚市值最大的中國公司 

摩根士丹利資本國際指數成份股

1
2
3
4
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SHAREHOLDERS
SURGED 45 PERCENT

NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO
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Review of Operations

 CASH DIvIDEND 
OF 3.5 SINGAPORE
CENTS PER SHARE 
PAYOUT RATIO 27%

Profit Attribute to Shareholder 
(RMB’ million)

2005 2006 2008 20092007

454.3

869.5

1,579.8

2,290.0

283.5



REvIEW OF
Operations
Braving the Storm with Customers

The Group’s net earnings attributable to 
shareholders has multiplied a whopping 15 times 
in the past 5 years, but the last 2 years marked 
the beginning of the shipbuilding industry down 
cycle. Order cancellation was a grave concern 
for the entire industry last year. With over 50 
years of experience and steely determination, 
we successfully helped customers to refrain from 
canceling any order during the downturn. In 2009, 
we delivered on schedule 40 vessels totaling 1.8 
million deadweight tons (DWT), compared with 27 
vessels in 2008. 22 of these vessels were built at 
our new yard in Jingjiang City and 18 at the old 
yard in Jiangyin.

During 3Q09, we secured orders to build six units 
of 92,500 DWT multi-purpose bulk carriers and 
two 19,000 DWT multi-purpose bulk carriers with 
deliveries going up to 2012. During 4Q09, orders 
for another four 92,500 DWT multi-purpose bulk 
carriers were secured. The additional 12 vessel 
orders are worth US$460 million. For 2010, we 
are on schedule to deliver 48 vessels. A total 
of 127 vessels comprising of 54 containerships 
and 73 bulk carriers will be delivered this year 
and the next two years, with current order book 
amounting to US$5.6 billion.
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Review of Operations

Revenues generated by the Group grew 44% year-
on-year to reach a record RMB 10.6 billion during 
FY09. This comprised of RMB 6.0 billion (57%) 
from building containerships and another RMB 
4.6 billion (43%) from building multi-purpose bulk 
cargo carriers.

Compared to our turnover increase of 44%, cost 
of sales increased only 40% while administrative 
expenses increased only 32%. Our cost of sales 
comprised mainly of steel, shipbuilding materials, 
equipment, labor and outsourcing. The lower 
operating expenses were a result of efficiencies 
gained in our production cycles.

Capacity utilization at the new yard is currently 
80% to 90%, while the older yard is fully utilized. 
The old yard has a current capacity of 200,000 CGT 
while the new yard’s capacity will be ramped up to 
800,000 CGT, which will bring the Group’s total 
newbuilding capacity to one million CGT. FY2009’s 
capital expenditure was RMB 128.6 million, for the 
upkeep of existing facilities in both yards.

We will continue adopting more sophisticated 
marine engineering technology and provide a more 
comprehensive range of yard services. The largest 
bulk carrier we have designed to-date is the 92,500 
DWT model, and we are refining its specifications. 
We are also working on the design for 180,000 
DWT, as the demand trend is for larger, and more 

sophisticated vessels. Secondly, a supply glut of 
containerships is mounting pressure on customers 
to cancel orders for 4,250 TEU vessels. 38 such 
vessels currently sit on our order books. We are 
designing an environmentally friendly multi-purpose 
vessel to replace this model, and it is likely to be 
of 8,500 TEU.

Foray into ship breaking and scrap 
steel processing

To counter the adverse impact of vessel oversupply 
on newbuilding demand, we embarked on several 
joint ventures to diversify our revenue streams. In 
addition to building bulk carriers, containerships 
and multi-purpose vessels, we intend to venture into 
ship breaking. Demand for ship breaking is counter-
cyclical to newbuilding demand, so entering this 
business segment will reduce the Group’s earnings 
volatility. Steel from scrapped vessels can be sold 
to the same steel mills that supply the Group with 
steel plates.

Global ship breaking activity has been on the 
increase for 2 reasons. Firstly, vessel prices have 
been plunging. Secondly, this year marks the 
deadline for the phasing out of single-hull tankers, 
according to IMO regulations. Last year, ship-
breaking yards purchased 1,014 vessels amounting 
to 31.5 million DWT, double the 2008 global figure 
and a 13-year high.

Table: Breakthroughs in Production Cycle for New Yard

Hull Erection Period
improvement

Ship Launch
improvement

1Q 09 4Q 09 1Q09 4Q09

Average 90 days 60 days 33% 80 days 50 days 37.5%

Bulk carriers

92,500 DWT 150 days 90 days 40% 74 days 40 days 46%
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In February 2010, we entered a JV agreement to 
take a 20% stake in a ship-breaking shipyard at an 
investment cost of US$9 million. The yard’s annual 
capacity is expected to be one million gross tons of 
vessels. Construction of the new yard is expected 
to complete in July 2010. Other than the core 
business of ship breaking, the yard will also provide 
ship repair services as a supplementary business. 
The ship-breaking yard is known as Jiangsu Xinfu 
Shipbuilding Co Ltd, and will be held under our 
second yard, Jiangsu New Yangzi Shipbuilding Co 
Ltd. Related to this is our agreement made last year 
to invest RMB 60 million for a 20% stake in a scrap-
steel processing company to be known as Jiangsu 
Huayuan Metal Processing Co Ltd.

Another RMB 10 million was invested to start 
a wholly owned subsidiary, Jiangsu Yangchuan 
Equipment and Materials Co Ltd that will supply 
marine equipment.

We also entered into a JV agreement to start a 
venture capital investment fund that provides seed 
capital in Jiangyin city, where our yard is located. 
The Group’s wholly owned subsidiary, Jiangsu 
Yangzijiang Shipbuilding, will take a 20% stake in 
Everbright Venture Capital Jiangyin (EVCJCO) at an 
investment cost of RMB 100 million. The operational 
term of EVCJCO is 7 years and its total issued and 
paid-up capital is RMB 500 million.

Financial Review

Group revenue was RMB 10.6 billion, up 44% 
year-on-year. Gross profit margins expanded 2 
percentage points to 21%, as a stable steel market 
in FY09 lowered our costs compared to FY08. Net 
profits were RMB 2.3 billion, up 45% in line with 
top line growth. Net margins were a high 21.6%, 
reflecting lucrative contracts secured during the 
2007-2008 shipbuilding boom.

Trade receivables doubled to RMB 1.3 billion (up 
116%), mainly because of the two to three fold 
increase in tonnage of vessels delivered last year. 
We delivered 1.8 million DWT of vessels in FY09, 
compared with 668,000 DWT in FY08. A second 
factor for the increase was a longer vessel delivery 
and accounts receivables schedule, at customers’ 
request.

Total assets were up 12.0% at RMB 20.4 billion 
while total liabilities remained largely unchanged 
at RMB 14.1 billion.

RMB 2.2 billion of cash was generated from 
operating activities in FY09, down 14% year-on-
year. Net cash used in investing activities fell 54% 
to RMB 1.6 billion as we scaled back on financial 
investments. Net cash flow from financing activities 
in FY09 was RMB 104.4 million, compared to a 
cash outflow of RMB 1,656.5 million in FY08. This 
was mainly due to an increase in proceeds from 
borrowings by 62.7% to RMB 1.1 billion. The 
company remains in a net cash position. Cash and 
cash equivalents as at 31 December 2009 were RMB 
3.8 billion, up 24.4% year-on-year.

Total equity to shareholders as at 31 December 
2009 was RMB 6.3 billion, up 46.3%, mainly due 
to higher profits during the financial year under 
review.

Risk Management

Even as we extended numerous incentives to 
customers to tide them over the shipping downturn, 
we also took measures to protect the Group’s 
contractual interests. Our newbuilding contracts 
were drafted based on international maritime legal 
counsel.
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We reduced our holdings in short term variable 
income financial assets and shifted to mid-term 
fixed income investments with the following result: 
current financial assets at fair value, through profit 
or loss decreased from RMB 1.2 billion in FY08 to 
RMB 5.4 million in FY09, while non-current held-
to-maturity financial assets increased from nil to 
RMB 3.1 billion. Other income on the profit and 
loss statement, which comprises mainly of interest 
income, increased 55% year-on-year to RMB 360.5 
million.

5% of the Group’s outstanding order book was 
contracted in Euro to hedge the ship engines which 
will be paid for in Euro. As a result of less favorable 
valuation for EUR/CNY forward contracts, during 
4Q09, we recorded a mark to market loss from the 
outstanding orders denominated in EUR which was 
recognized separately as a derivative in accordance 
with the Financial Reporting Standards. The decline, 
however, was offset by gains from disposal of 
financial assets in 2Q09. “Other gains” item on the 
profit and loss statement fell 35% to RMB 178.7 
million as a result.

To hedge our forex risks, we used derivative financial 
instruments according to the Group’s written policies 
on risk management, which have been approved by 
the Board of Directors. Transactions are accounted 
for using financial reporting standards on cash flow 
hedge for forex risk. We also actively obtained bank 
guarantees for new shipbuilding orders in a timely 
manner to minimize exposure to foreign currency 
exchange loss arising from Renminbi appreciation.

Our internal control and accounting system were 
fully reviewed by external audit professionals, Moore 
Stephens.

Corporate Social Responsibility

Other than delivering an impressive financial 
report to shareholders, we also demonstrated 
responsible corporate citizenship in the community 
where we operate. For example, we have been 
reducing greenhouse gas emissions and other 
pollutants, recycling water, using renewable energy, 
implementing workplace safety measures and have 
provided extensively for workforce development. As 
a major national enterprise, we will be even more 
conscious of playing an exemplary role in corporate 
social responsibility in the years to come. The 
social impact of our environmental friendly practices 
will be especially relevant as we embark on the 
ship breaking trade, which requires more involved 
processes for the control of pollution.

Vision

In our bid to become an integrated marine group 
with diversified revenue streams, we shall bring 
our sound practices and execution strength to the 
new ventures we embark on. Even though the 
industry is in a downcycle, the Group shall strive to 
achieve sustained growth and deliver the best to 
our shareholders.
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 ExCELLENT TRACk 
RECORD AND STRONG 
ORDER BOOk
We have delivered more than 200 vessels including 4250 TEU 

containerships and 92,500 DWT Post-Panamax bulkers; the Group 

have progressively working on the design for larger, and more 

sophisticated and environmentally friendly multi-purpose vessel.

The Group’s total order book stands at 127 vessels with a total 

value of USD5.6 billions as at 31 December 2009, made up 6.6 

million DWT or 2.4 million CGT to maintain optimal production 

activities all the way till 2012.
Revenue (RMB’ million)

2005 2006 2008 20092007

2,325.0

3,855.5

7,359.1

10,623.6

1,532.6
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WANG DoNG (Aged 51, PRC)

Executive Director

Mr Wang was appointed a Director of the Company on 

18 March 2007 and last re-elected on 25 April 2008. 

Mr Wang has nearly 30 years of experience in the 

shipbuilding industry. He first joined Jiangyin Shipbuilding 

Factory in 1977 as a workshop welder. Thereafter in 1985, 

he was transferred to the administrative management 

department. In 1988, he was promoted to the position of 

Assistant Sales Supervisor of Jiangyin Shipbuilding Factory. 

Between 1992 and 1997, he held the position of assistant 

factory supervisor of Jiangyin Shipbuilding Factory (which 

was changed to Jiangsu Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Factory 

in 1992), where he was in charge of the daily operations 

of the factory. Thereafter, he became the Deputy General 

Manager of Jiangsu Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Factory 

(which has since been changed to JYS in 1999). He is 

now the Deputy General Manager in JYS and JNYS and 

in charge of the sales and procurement of materials for 

the shipbuilding processes. Mr Wang holds a high school 

certificate from Jiangyin City High School (江陰市高級中
學) which he was conferred in 1975.

q  Wang Dong 
 (Executive Director)

q  Ren Yuanlin 
 (Executive Chairman)

REN YuANLiN (Aged 56, PRC)

Executive Chairman

Mr Ren was appointed a Director of the Company on 

13 January 2006 and Chairman on 18 March 2007. He 

was last re-elected on 28 April 2009. He is the founder 

of the Group and is currently responsible for the overall 

management and operations of the Group. He is also the 

Chairman of the Board of Directors of JYS and JNYS. Mr 

Ren has over 30 years of experience in the shipbuilding 

industry, and has worked within the Group and the 

Group’s predecessors in various positions since the 1970s. 

In 1973, Mr Ren joined Jiangyin Shipbuilding Factory as 

a worker involved in cold works. From 1976 to 1982, he 

held the positions of vice-head and head of the ship body 

workshop. From 1982 to 1984, he was the department 

head of the process technology department. From 1984 

to 1985, he held the position of Assistant Shipbuilding 

Supervisor. During the period between 1985 and 1997, 

inclusive of the time when Jiangyin Shipbuilding Factory 

was changed to Jiangsu Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Factory, 

he concurrently held the positions of Assistant Factory 

Supervisor and Supervisor of a shipbuilding subfactory. 

From 1997, Mr Ren has held the concurrent positions of 

Factory Supervisor and Chairman 

of the board of directors in Jiangsu 

Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Factory 

(which has since been changed into 

Jiangsu Yangzijiang Shipbuilding 

Co., Ltd (“JYS”) in 1999). Mr 

Ren has also been appointed 

as a secretary to the central 

branch of the Communist Party 

of China since 1997. Mr Ren was 

awarded the Outstanding Factory 

Supervisor (Management) award  

(優秀廠長(經理)) for two consecutive 

years by the Jiangyin Municipal 

Commission of Communist Party, 

People’s Government of Jiangyin 

Municipality in 2000 and 2001. 

He also holds a Diploma in 

Economics from Jiangsu Television 

Broadcasting University (江蘇廣播
電視大學) which he was conferred 

in 1986.
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XiANG JiANJuN (Aged 50, PRC)

Executive Director

Mr Xiang was appointed a Director of the Company on 

18 March 2007 and last re-elected on 28 March 2007. 

Mr Xiang has more than 25 years of experience in the 

shipbuilding industry. He joined Jiangyin Shipbuilding 

Factory in 1978, and worked in the workshop for about 

a year. In May 1979, he became a Loftsman, and since 

then, he has worked in various positions within Jiangyin 

Shipbuilding Factory (which was changed to Jiangsu 

Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Factory in 1992 and finally 

JYS in 1999). He was promoted to Production Process 

Department Section Head in 1985. From January 1992 to 

December 1994, Mr Xiang was the Technical Department 

Section Head of Jiangsu Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Factory. 

Between 1995 and 1998, he served in various positions 

including the Head of the Production Process, Technical 

Quality Control Department and Assistant Shipyard 

Supervisor of Jiangsu Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Factory. In 

January 1999, he became the Shipyard Supervisor of JYS. 

He is now the General Manager of JYS. Mr Xiang holds 

a Diploma in Ship Engineering from Wuhan School of 

Transport by Water (武漢水運學院) which was conferred 

in 1991.

Yu KEBiNG (Aged 46, PRC)

Non Executive Director

Mr Yu was appointed as a Director of the Company on 20 

March 2009 and last re-elected on 28 April 2009. Mr Yu 

is an experienced investor in shipping and marine industry 

in last 20 years. He founded Shanghai Tongbao Shipping 

Co (統寶船務有限公司) in 1992, the company focused 

on ocean towing, project cargo transportation, marine 

engineering solution, ship agency, forwarding and ship 

building broke etc. The business of company covered Far-

East Asia, East-South Asia, Mid-East Asia, Europe etc. Mr. 

Yu was also the founder of Tongbao (Singapore) Shipping 

Pte Ltd (TBSS) in Singapore in mid 2003 for the purpose 

of invest shipbuilding, ship managing, port agency etc. 

Mr. Yu was awarded the degree of Executive Master of 

Business Administration (EMBA) from the Cheung Kong 

Graduate School of Business (http://www.ckgsb.com) in 

October 2007. He obtained the degree as Bachelor of 

Marine Engineering Management, conferred by Shanghai 

Maritime University (http://en.shmtu.edu.cn) in 1986. 

Prior to starting Shanghai Tongbao Shipping Co Ltd,  

Mr Yu was the Deputy General Manager 

of Shanghai Eastern Marine Technical 

Services Co (上海東方海事技術公司).

q  Yu Kebing 
 (Non-Executive Director)q  Xiang Jianjun 

 (Executive Director)
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TEo Yi-DAR (Aged 39, Singaporean)

Lead Independent Director

Mr Teo was appointed a Director of the Company on  

28 July 2006 and last re-elected on 28 April 2009. 

Mr Teo is an Investment Partner with SEAVI Advent 

Corporation Ltd, the Asian affiliate of Boston-based 

Advent International private equity group. He manages 

direct investments in Asia, and focuses on the electronics, 

chemical, engineering and technology segments. 

Prior to joining SEAVI Advent, he was with Keppel 

Corporation Ltd., conducting business development 

activities for Keppel’s marine and offshore businesses. 

Mr. Teo started his career as an Engineer in SGS-Thomson 

Microelectronics. Mr. Teo holds two Masters’ degrees; 

Master of Science Degree in Industrial and Systems 

Engineering (1998) and Master of Science Degree in 

Applied Finance (2000) from the National University of 

Singapore. He graduated from the same university with 

a Bachelor of Electrical Engineering (Honours) in 1996. 

He was awarded the Chartered Financial Analyst by the 

CFA Institute in 2001.

TEo MoH GiN (Aged 51, Singaporean)

Independent Director

Mr Teo was appointed a Director of the Company on  

18 March 2007 and last re-elected on 25 April 2008. He 

is currently a director of Vive Capital Pte. Ltd., where he is 

involved in investment-related work. Between March 2006 

and January 2007, he was the Chief Corporate Officer of 

RichLand Group Limited, where he oversaw the finance, 

business development, mergers and acquisition activities 

as well as the corporate affairs of RichLand Group Limited. 

From 2005 to 2006, Mr Teo was the Managing Director 

of Global Business Insights Pte Ltd. From 1994 to 2005, 

Mr Teo also held various senior management positions in 

leading organisations such as GKE International Limited, 

Transworld Carnival Corporation, SESAMi Inc, System 

Access Limited, Credit Suisse and Veno Technologies 

(S) Pte Ltd. From 1990 to 1993, Mr Teo was the Senior 

Investment Officer with Government of Singapore 

Investment Corporation Private Limited. From 1983 to 

1989, he was the Head of Business Consulting Division 

in Arthur Andersen Associates. Mr Teo was the Executive 

Vice President of GKE International and was responsible 

for mergers and acquisitions and business development for 

the logistics company. He handled many of the mergers 

q  Teo Moh Gin 
 (Independent Director)

q  Teo Yi-dar 
 (Lead Independent Director) and acquisitions activities, implementation 

of business development plans in locations 

such as China, Malaysia and the Middle 

East. Mr Teo was the Chief Executive Officer 

of Transworld Carnival Corporation. His 

responsibility included the execution of the 

company’s mobile amusement fairs. Mr 

Teo also held the positions of Senior Vice 

President in corporate development and Chief 

Financial Officer in SESAMi Inc., and System 

Access Limited. He oversaw all the financial 

functions of the respective companies 

including financial planning and analysis, 

financial control, business opportunities and 

investments. Mr Teo graduated from the 

National University of Singapore in 1983 

with a Bachelor of Accountancy (Honours) 

and obtained a Post-Graduate Diploma in 

Business Administration jointly awarded by 

the University of Manchester and University 

of Wales in 2001. He has been a CPA 

member of the Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants of Singapore since 1989 

and was admitted as a Fellow of ICPAS in 

2004.
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WANG JiANSHENG (Aged 54, PRC)

General Manager

Mr Wang was appointed as General Manager of 

Jiangsu New Yangzi Shipbuilding Co., Ltd on 1 Janu-

ary 2008. He is responsible for the administration of 

Jiangsu New Yangzi Shipbuilding Co., Ltd. He has 

more than 20 years of experience in the shipping in-

dustry. Prior to joining the Group, between 2004 and 

2007 Mr Wang was the Vice President of Shanghai 

Waigaoqiao Shipbuilding Co., Ltd. (上海外高橋造船有
限公司), and was responsible for the management of 

manufacturing. He joined Shanghai Shipyard Co. Ltd (

上海船廠) in 1982 as Assistant Manager in the work-

shop and was promoted to Vice General Manager in 

1997. Mr Wang holds a Diploma from Wuhan Uni-

versity of Technology (武漢理工大學) which he was 

conferred in 1982.

Du CHENGZHoNG (Aged 42, PRC)

Deputy General Manager

Mr Du has more than 10 years of experience in 

the shipbuilding industry. In July 1991, he started 

as a trainee in the turbine workshop of the then 

Jiangyin Shipbuilding Factory. In July 1992, he 

became a technician in the same workshop where 

he held the position till December 1996. During 

the period between January 1997 and December 

2001, he worked as a construction staff in the 

Production Department of JYS. In January 2002, 

he was promoted to the position of Deputy Head 

of Engineering Department of JYS and served 

in the position till December 2004. Thereafter, 

between January 2005 and December 2005, he held 

concurrent positions as Assistant General Manager 

cum Head of Technical Preparation Department. 

From January 2006, he has been the Deputy General 

Manager and Head of Quality Control Department 

in JYS and JNYS, where he is also responsible for 

the technical and quality aspects of the operations 

in JYS and JNYS. Mr Du holds a Bachelor’s Degree 

in Mathematics and Engineering from Harbin 

Shipbuilding Engineering Institute (哈爾濱船舶工
程學院) which he was conferred in 1991. He was 

accredited as an Engineer by the Wuxi City Human 

Resource Bureau (無錫市人事局) in 1998.

Du Chengzhong q
 (Deputy General Manager)

q Wang Jiansheng 
 (General Manager)
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 WELL GEARED
FOR THE FUTURE
To maintain vibrant growth for the Group, our vision is to 
transform into an integrated group of company with diversified 
revenue streams. In our bid to become an integrated marine 
group with diversified revenue streams, we shall bring our sound 
practices and execution strength to the new ventures we embark 
on.

DiRECToRS
Ren Yuanlin, Executive Chairman
Wang Dong, Executive Director
Xiang Jianjun, Executive Director
Yu Kebing, Non-Executive Director
Teo Yi-dar, Lead Independent Director
Teo Moh Gin, Independent Director

JoiNT CoMPANY SECRETARiES
Joanna Lim Lan Sim
Pan Mi Keay

CoMPANY REGiSTRATioN NuMBER
200517636Z

REGiSTERED oFFiCE
8 Cross Street, #11-00
PWC Building
Singapore 048424

BuSiNESS ADDRESSES
Jiangsu New Yangzi Shipbuilding Co., Ltd.
Jinjiang Park of Jiangyin Economic Development 
Zone, Jiangsu Province, China 214532
Jiangsu Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Co., Ltd.
38 Shi Yu Port Road, Jiangyin city,
Jiangsu Province, China 214431

SHARE REGiSTRAR AND
SHARE TRANSFER oFFiCE
Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services
Pte. Ltd.
50 Raffles Place
#32-01 Singapore Land Tower
Singapore 048623

AuDiToRS
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Certified Public Accountants
8 Cross Street
#17-00 PWC Building
Singapore 048424
Partner-in-charge: Tham Tuck Seng
(appointed on 26 February 2007)
(a member of the Institute of
Certified Public Accountants of Singapore)



22 Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. • Annual Report 2009

Investor Relations

The Group is highly committed to continuously 
communicating with its shareholders and the 
investing community. Despite a slowdown in 
shipbuilding industry, we continued to host quarterly 
results briefings, detailing our operational highlights 
and business outlook. To ensure that shareholders 
are equally privy to information disseminated, we 
regularly post the briefing PowerPoint presentations 
on SGX’s website.

Our Executive Chairman, Mr Ren Yuanlin, flies 
down to Singapore and Hong Kong every quarter 
to personally update the investing community 
on our progress and for media interviews. We 
engage the investing community by speaking to 
the financial media, having one-on-one meetings 
with institutional investors, and by participating in 
road shows organized by various brokerages. We 
also engage retail investors through events like the 
SIAS conference.

CFO Liu Hua receives Yangzijiang’s inaugural SIAS Investors’ Choice 
Award on 7 Oct 2009 from Mr Hsieh Fu Hua, who was CEO of the SGX 
at that time.

Yard visit to JNYS organised for analysts, fund managers and media
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Mainstream media that have featured Yangzijiang 
Shipbuilding include TV stations such as CNBC, 
Channel News Asia, Channel U, Channel 8, radio 
stations such as 938 FM, print media such as the 
Straits Times, the Business Times, Lianhe Zaobao, 
the Edge, PULSES, South China Morning Post, Smart 
Investor, TODAY, trade media such as Fairplay, 
TradeWinds, Lloyd’s List as well as online media 
such as Bloomberg, Dow Jones and NextInsight.

Road shows that we participated in last year 
included those hosted by RBS, Credit Suisse, UBS, 
UOB Kayhian, DBS Vickers, Daiwa, CLSA, Citigroup 
and Taifook.

To give the investing community a better feel 
of the scale of our operations, we organized a 
visit to our shipyard in Jiangsu last July. Visitors 
included marine/shipping analysts from Bank of 

America-Merrill Lynch, RBS, UOB Kayhian, BOCI, 
Morgan Stanley, CITIC and Taifook, as well as fund 
managers and trade media such as Tradewinds.

Broker Covering 
Yangzijiang Analyst

1. HSBC Tarun Bhatnagar
2. DBS Vickers Pei Hwa Ho
3. Credit Suisse Haider Ali
4. CLSA Chua Jen-Ai
5. Deutsche Bank Kevin Chong
6. Morgan Stanley Andy Meng
7. UBS Hubert Tang
8. CIMB Lim Siew Khee
9. OCBC Low Pei Han
10. Nomura Lisa Lee
11. Macquarie John Wyndham

Quarterly results briefing Attending a vessel naming ceremony at JNYS

Ms Liu Hua (CFO), Mr Ren Yuanlin (Executive Chairman) and Ms Kathy Zhang (Financial PR) during Q&A session
in a quarterly results briefing
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For our efforts, we have achieved the following:

During the year, we obtained research coverage from eleven brokerages.

Last October, we were awarded Runner-up for Most Transparent Company (Foreign Listing category) by 
the Securities Investors Association of Singapore at its Investors Choice Award 2009. Award recipients were 
nominated by investment analysts, fund managers, financial journalists and also retail investors represented 
by SIAS. Since listing in 2007, this is the first time the Group has been awarded this honour by SIAS.

Last November, we were added to the MSCI Singapore Index. MSCI is a global leading provider of investment 
decision support tools, including indices and portfolio risk and performance analytics.

Going forward, the Board of Directors would like to reaffirm their commitment to maintaining a high level 
of transparency to shareholders and the investing community.
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The Board of Directors of Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. (the “Company”) is committed to maintaining high 
standards of corporate governance to protect the interests of shareholders and to promote investors’ confidence and 
supports. This report set out the Company’s corporate governance processes and activities with specific references to 
the guidelines of the Code of Corporate Governance 2005 (the “Code”).

(A) BoARD MATTERS

Board of Directors

Principle 1: Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

The Group is led and controlled by an effective Board that has the overall responsibility for corporate governance, 
strategic direction, overseeing the investments, operations, internal controls, financial reporting and compliance 
of the Group and approving the nominations of Board of Directors.

The Board’s approval is required for matters such as corporate restructuring, mergers and acquisitions, major 
investments and divestments, material acquisitions and disposal of assets and release of the Group’s quarterly 
and full-year financial results.

The Board has also established and delegated specific authority to the Audit Committee, Nominating Committee 
and Remuneration Committee. Each of the Board Committee functions within its terms of reference.

The Board meets at least 4 times a year, with additional meetings convened when circumstances require. The 
Company’s Articles of Association provide for meetings to be held via telephone conference or other methods 
of simultaneous communication by electronic or telegraphic means. Management has access to the Directors 
for guidance or exchange of views outside of the formal environment of the Board meetings.

The Directors’ attendance at the meetings of the Board and Board Committees during the financial year ended 
31 December 2009 is shown below:

Name of Directors

Board of 
Directors

Audit 
Committee

Nominating 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

No. of meeting No. of meeting No. of meeting No. of meeting

Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended

Ren Yuanlin 4 4 – – – – – –

Xiang Jianjun 4 1 – – – – – –

Wang Dong 4 1 – – – – – –

Teo Moh Gin 4 4 4 4 2 2 1 1

Teo Yi-dar 4 4 4 4 2 2 1 1

Yu Kebing# 3 3 3 3 1 1 – –

Ong Sie Hou Raymond* 1 1 2 1 2 1 1 1

# Appointed as Director on 20 March 2009, total of 3 Board meetings, 3 Audit Committee meetings and 1 Nominating 

Committee meeting had been held since the date of his appointment.

* Retired as Director at the Annual General Meeting held on 28 April 2009, total of 1 Board meeting, 2 Audit Committee 

meetings, 2 Nominating Committee meetings and 1 Remuneration Committee meeting had been held up to the date of 

his retirement.
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Currently, the Company does not have a formal training programme for new directors. However, to assist the 
Directors in discharging their duties, where necessary the Directors will be updated of any new legislations, rules 
and/or regulations relevant to the Group. Newly-appointed Directors will be given briefings by the management on 
the business activities of the Group and its strategic directions as well as its corporate governance practices.

Principle 2: Board Composition and Balance

The Board of Directors comprises six Directors, two of whom are Independent Directors. The Directors of the 
Company as at the date of this statement are:

1. Mr Ren Yuanlin (Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
2. Mr Xiang Jianjun (Executive Director)
3. Mr Wang Dong (Executive Director)
4. Mr Yu Kebing (Non-Executive Director)
5. Mr Teo Yi-dar (Lead Independent Director)
6. Mr Teo Moh Gin (Independent Director)

Mr Teo Yi-dar, the Lead Independent Director, will be available to shareholders who have concerns which contact 
through the normal channels of the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer has failed to resolve or 
which such contact is inappropriate. The criteria for independence are determined based on the definition as 
provided in the Code.

The Directors bring with them a broad range of business and financial experience, skills and expertise in finance, 
legal, industry, business and management and general corporate matters. Their profiles are set out on pages 
16 to 18 of this Annual Report.

The size and composition of the Board are reviewed annually by the Nominating Committee (“NC”), taking into 
account the scope and nature of operations of the Company, to ensure that the size of the Board is appropriate 
to facilitate effective decision-making, and that the Board has an appropriate balance of independent Directors. 
The NC is of the view that the current Board size is appropriate for the Group’s present scope of operations and 
the Board has an adequate mix of competency to discharge its duties and responsibilities. Further, no individual 
or small group of individuals dominates the Board’s decision making process.

Principle 3: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Ren Yuanlin holds the positions of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) of the Company. He 
is responsible to the Board for corporate directions and operational efficiency, development and review of the 
Group’s policies and strategies, and ensuring a cohesive working relationship among the Directors, and timeliness 
of information flow between the Board and management.

The Board is of the view that it is not necessary to separate the role of Chairman and CEO given the present 
Group corporate structure, scope of operations and the presence of two Independent Directors, three Executive 
Directors and one Non-Executive Director who have demonstrated commitment in their roles as Directors.

The Chairman schedules the meeting and sets the meeting agenda of the Board, and reviews the Board 
papers before they are presented to the Board. In addition, the Chairman also assists to ensure the Company’s 
compliance with the Code.
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Principle 4: Board Membership
Principle 5: Board Performance

Nominating Committee (“NC”)

The NC comprises the following Directors as at the date of this statement  are:

Mr. Teo Yi-dar (Lead Independent Director) –   Chairman
Mr. Teo Moh Gin (Independent Director) –   Member
Mr. Yu Kebing (Non-Executive Director) –   Member

The NC performs the following functions in accordance with its terms of reference:

(a) Review and recommend to the Board on all Board appointments and re-appointment of Directors.

(b) Review the Board structure, size and composition regularly.

(c) Determine the independence of Directors annually (taking into account the circumstances set out in the 
Code and other salient factors).

(d) To assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the Committees of the Board and the contribution 
of each individual Director to an effective Board.

The Board, through the NC, reviews annually the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and its required mix 
of skills and experience and other qualities, including core competencies, which Directors should bring to the 
Board.

The Board, on the recommendation of the NC, appoints new Directors. All new Directors who are appointed by 
the Board are subject to re-election at the next Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”). In addition, pursuant to 
the Company’s Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors other than the Managing Director, are required 
to retire by rotation at each AGM.

Mr. Xiang Jianjun and Mr Wang Dong will be retiring at the forthcoming AGM in accordance with the Article 
94 of the Company’s Articles of Association.

The NC meets at least once a year. Additional meetings are scheduled when the Chairman of the NC considers 
it necessary.

The Board has established a formal assessment process which will be carried out annually for evaluation of the 
performance of the Board and individual Directors on the basis of the following performance criteria:

• Attendance at Board meetings;
• Level of participation at Board meetings and overall commitment;
• Ability to strategise and propose sound business direction; and
• Contribution of specialised knowledge.

The appraisal process requires the Directors to complete appraisal forms which will be collated by the NC 
Chairman who will compile the results of the appraisal for review by the NC. The NC will thereafter report to 
the Board.
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Principle 6: Access to Information

All Directors have access to the Company’s senior management, including CEO, CFO and other key management, 
as well as the Group’s internal and external auditors. Wherever possible, the Directors are provided Board papers 
prior to each Board meeting. Board papers provided are, amongst others, financial and corporation information, 
significant operational, financial and corporate issues, results and performance of the Company and of the 
Group, and management’s proposals which require the approval of the Board. Queries by individual Directors 
on circulated paper are directed to management who will respond accordingly.

The Directors, whether as a full Board or in their individual capacity may seek independent professional advice 
in the furtherance of their duties from time to time. The advisor so selected shall be approved by the Chairman 
and CEO and the cost of such professional advice will be borne by the Company.

The Company Secretary attends all Board meetings and Board Committees meetings and records the proceedings 
and decisions of the Board and of the Board Committees. The Company Secretary ensures that the corporate 
secretarial aspects of procedures concerning the Board are duly complied.

(B) REMuNERATioN MATTERS

Principle 7: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies
Principle 8: Level and Mix of Remuneration
Principle 9: Disclosure on Remuneration

Remuneration Committee (“RC”)

The RC comprises the following Directors as at the date of this statement are:

Mr. Teo Yi-dar (Lead Independent Director) –   Chairman
Mr. Teo Moh Gin (Independent Director) –   Member
Mr. Yu Kebing (Non-Executive Director) –   Member

The RC has adopted the terms of reference and their principal functions as follows:

(a) Review and recommend to the Board a framework of remuneration for Directors and key executives.

(b) Review and recommend to the Board the specific remuneration packages for Executive Directors and key 
executives.

(c) Review Directors’ remuneration packages annually to recommend appropriate adjustments (if 
necessary).

(d) Approve the payment of performance bonus to certain Executive Directors and executive officers pursuant 
to the profit-sharing scheme of the Company.

The RC shall meet at least once a year. Additional meetings are scheduled when the Chairman of the RC considers 
it necessary. No Director shall take part in decisions pertaining to his own remuneration. Each member of the 
RC shall abstain from voting on any resolution concerning his own remuneration.

None of the Non-Executive Directors has service agreement with the Company. The Independent Directors are 
each paid a director’s fee which is recommended by the Board. The fees are determined based on the level of 
contribution, taking into account factors such as their effort and time spent and responsibilities, and are subject 
to approval by the shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.
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Each Executive Director has a service agreement with the Company. Each service agreement is valid for an initial 
period of three years commencing 18 March 2007. In view of the service agreement which will be expired in year 
2010, it has been agreed between the Company and the Executive Directors to continue to renew for another 3 
years period. The service agreement may be terminated by either the Company or the Executive Director giving 
not less than six months’ notice in writing. The remuneration package of Executive Directors and other senior 
management consists of the following components:

(a) Fixed Component

Fixed pay comprises basic salary, social security contributions, and employer’s fixed allowances. Eligibility 
of employer’s fixed allowances depends on the length of service.

(b) Variable Component

This component comprises variable bonus based on the Group’s and the individual’s performance. To link 
rewards to performance, the more senior the executive is in the Group, the higher is the percentage of 
the variable component against total compensation. 

(c) Profit-Sharing Scheme

We have a profit-sharing scheme which benchmarks against the Group’s audited profit before tax, 
pursuant to which certain executive directors and executive officers are each entitled, subject to the 
approval of the RC, to a shared performance bonus.

Remuneration of Directors

Director of the Company

Remuneration 
Band

S$
Salary(1) 

%
Bonus(1) 

%

Directors’ 
Fees(2)

%
Total

%

Ren Yuanlin Below S$250,000 51 49 N.A 100%
Xiang Jianjun Below S$250,000 47 53 N.A 100%
Wang Dong Below S$250,000 46 54 N.A 100%
Teo Moh Gin Below S$250,000 N.A N.A 100% 100%
Teo Yi-dar Below S$250,000 N.A N.A 100% 100%
Yu Kebing Below S$250,000 N.A N.A N.A N.A

(1) These are under the service contract.

(2) The directors’ fees are subject to the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General 

Meeting.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2009, the remuneration of each of the top 5 key executives who are 
not Directors of the Company was less than S$250,000. The Company believes that given the highly competitive 
industry conditions coupled with the sensitivity and confidentiality of staff remuneration matters, disclosure of 
the remuneration of individual executive on a named basis is disadvantageous to its business interests.

There were no employees of the Group who are immediate family members of a Director, the CEO or a substantial 
shareholder of the Company, and whose remuneration exceeded S$150,000 during the financial year ended 
31 December 2009.
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(C) ACCouNTABiLiTY AND AuDiT

Principle 10: Accountability
Principle 11: Audit Committee
Principle 12: Internal Controls
Principle 13: Internal Audit

Audit Committee (“AC”)

To ensure that the corporate governance is effectively practised, the Directors have established self regulatory 
and monitoring mechanisms, including the establishment of the AC. The AC comprises three members, two of 
whom are Independent Directors and one is a Non-Executive Director.

The members of the AC as at the date of this statement are:

Mr. Teo Moh Gin (Independent Director) –   Chairman
Mr. Teo Yi-dar (Lead Independent Director) –   Member
Mr. Yu Kebing (Non-Executive Director) –   Member

The Chairman of the AC, Mr. Teo Moh Gin, is a Certified Public Accountant. All members of the AC have several 
years of experience in financial management or accounting. The Board is of the view that AC has sufficient 
financial management expertise and experience to discharge the AC’s functions.

The AC carried out its functions in accordance with its terms of reference, Section 201B(5) of the Singapore 
Companies Act. In performing their functions, the AC reviewed the following, where relevant, with the Executive 
Directors and the independent auditors:

(a) The audit plan of the Company’s independent auditor, results of its audit and its report on the weaknesses 
of internal accounting controls arising from the statutory audit;

(b) The audit plan of the internal auditor, results of its audit and evaluation of the Group’s systems of internal 
accounting controls;

(c) The nature and extent of the independent auditors’ non-audit services to the Group, seeking to balance 
the maintenance of objectivity and value for money, as well as the assistance given by management to 
the external auditor;

(d) The significant financial reporting issues and judgments so as to ensure the integrity of the financial 
statements of the Group and any formal announcements relating to the Group’s financial statements;

(e) The financial reports of the Group, prior to the submission to the board, and assisting our Board in the 
discharge of its responsibilities on financial and accounting matters;

(f) The adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function, and the adequacy of the Group’s 
internal financial controls, operational and compliance control, and risk management systems;

(g) Interested person transactions and potential conflicts of interest, if any;

(h) The hedging policies and instruments implemented by the Group; and

(i) Making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external 
auditor, and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors.
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The AC has full access to and co-operation by the management and the external auditors have unrestricted 
access to the AC. The AC meets with the external auditors and the internal auditors, without the presence of 
the management, at least once a year.

The Board, through its announcements of quarterly and full-year financial results, aims to provide shareholders 
with a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s performance and prospects. The management 
provides the Board with quarterly management accounts for the Board’s review.

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control to safeguard 
the shareholders’ investments, the Company’s assets, and the need to review the adequacy and integrity of those 
systems regularly. In establishing and reviewing the system of internal control, the Board recognises that the 
system of internal control can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against the risk of material 
misstatement or loss.

In accordance with the scope laid out in audit plan, the external auditors carry out a review of the effectiveness 
of the Company’s internal controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management 
in the course of their annual statutory audit. Material non-compliance and internal control weaknesses noted 
during their audit are reported to the AC together with auditors’ recommendations.

The Group engaged a firm of Certified Public Accountants to conduct a full review of its internal control and 
accounting system (the “Internal Auditors”). The Internal Auditor’s primary line of reporting is directly to the 
Chairman of the AC. Administratively, the Internal Auditor reports to the CEO of the Company. The Internal 
Auditor reviews, identifies and analyses the risks incurred by the Group in its activities and examines if there are 
any material non-compliance and internal control weaknesses. These will then pass to Internal Audit Department 
to monitor the implementation. The AC will oversee and monitor implementation of any improvements 
thereto.

The Company has developed a whistle-blowing policy. This policy provides well-defined and accessible channels 
in the Group through which employees may raise concerns about improper conduct within the Group.

The AC, having reviewed the non-audit services provided by the external auditors to the Group, is satisfied 
with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and recommends to the Board of Directors the 
nomination of the external auditors for re-appointment.

Both AC and the Board have reviewed the appointment of different auditors for its subsidiaries  and/or significant 
associated companies and satisfied that the appointment of different auditors would not compromise the 
standard and effectiveness of the audit of the Company. Accordingly, the Company has complied with Rule 
716 of the Listing Rules of the SGX-ST.

(D) CoMMuNiCATioN WiTH SHAREHoLDER

Principle 14: Communication with Shareholders
Principle 15: Greater Shareholder Participation

The Board acknowledges the importance of regular communication with shareholders and investors through which 
shareholders can have an overview of the Group’s performance and operation. Information is communicated to 
shareholders on a timely basis through the Company’s annual report, circulars to shareholders (if any), quarterly 
financial results and the various announcements.
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At the Annual General Meeting, shareholders are encouraged to meet the Board and raise questions or seek 
clarifications on any issues so as to understand the Group’s business. The members of the AC, NC and RC 
will be present to address shareholders’ queries relating to the work of these committees. Appropriate senior 
management will also be present at the Annual General Meeting to respond, if necessary, to operational questions 
from shareholders. A shareholder who is entitled to attend and vote may either vote in person or through the 
appointment of one or two proxies. Voting in absentia and by electronic mail may only be possible following 
careful study to ensure that the integrity of the information and authentication of the identity of shareholder via 
the internet is not compromised. Separate resolutions are proposed on each separate issue at general meetings. 
Shareholders are encouraged to meet and communicate with the Board and to vote on all resolutions.

(E) iNTERESTED PERSoN TRANSACTioNS

(Rule 907 of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST)

The Group has adopted an internal policy which sets out the procedures for the identification, approval and 
monitoring of interested person transactions (“IPTs”). All IPTs are subject to review by the AC. The Company did 
not enter into any IPTs which require disclosure or shareholders’ approval under SGX-ST Listing Rules regulating 
IPTs during the financial year ended 31 December 2009.

(F) RiSK MANAGEMENT

(Rule 1207(4)(d) of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST)

Currently, the Group does not have a Risk Management Committee. However, the management regularly 
reviews the Company’s business and operational activities to identify areas of significant business risks as well 
as appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks. The management reviews all significant control 
policies and procedures and will highlight all significant matters to the Directors and the AC.

Financial risk factors have been described in Notes 35 of the Financial Statements.

(G) MATERiAL CoNTRACTS

(Rule 1207(8) of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST)

Save for the service agreements between the Company and the Executive Directors and except as disclosed in 
the Directors’ Report and the Financial Statements, there were no other material contracts of the Company and 
its subsidiaries involving the interests of the CEO or any Director or controlling shareholder, either subsisting at 
the end of the financial year or if not then subsisting, which were entered into since the end of the previous 
financial year.

(H) SECuRiTiES TRANSACTioNS

(Rule 1207(18) of the SGX-ST)

The Group has adopted an internal code (the “Internal Code”) on securities trading which provides guidance and 
internal regulation with regard to dealings in the Group’s securities by its Directors and employees. The Internal 
Code is modelled after SGX-ST’s Listing Rules on best practices on dealings in the Company’s securities. The 
Internal Code prohibits the Directors and employees from dealing in listed securities of the Company on short-
term considerations or while in possession of unpublished material or price-sensitive information. The Directors 
and employees are not allowed to deal in the Company securities during the period commencing two weeks 
before the date of announcement of its quarterly results and one month before the date of announcement of 
the full-year financial results and ending on the date of the announcement of the relevant results.

The Company has complied with SGX-ST’s Listing Rules on best practices on dealing in the Company’s securities 
in the financial year ended 2009.
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(i) uSE oF iPo PRoCEEDS

(Rules 704(28) and 1207(19) of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST)

Table: The total net IPO proceeds received (net of direct listing expenses) is S$600.3 millions. As at 31 December 
2009, the net IPO proceeds of approximately S$523.12 million have been utilised in the following manner:–

use of Proceeds

Estimated 
Application 

of Net 
Proceeds 

(S$ million)

up to 
2008 

Amount 
utilised 

(S$ million)
Movement 
(S$ million)

up to 
2009 

Amount 
utilised 

(S$ million)

a The repayment of the loan undertaken by the 
Group in connection with the Restructuring 
Exercise (as defined in the Prospectus) from 
Lido Point Investments Ltd.

7.60 7.60 – 7.60

b The acquisition of an additional 25% 
shareholding interests in Jiangsu New Yangzi 
Shipbuilding Co., Ltd.

51.80 50.80 – 50.80

c Partial finance the construction, and for 
working capital purposed, of the New Yard 
(as defined in the Prospectus)

180.00 137.40 (35) 102.40

d General corporate purposes: 362.30 362.32 – 362.32

i Acquisition of 40% equity interest in 
Yangzhou Huanzhou Deck Materials Co., Ltd.

– – –

ii Acquisition of Jiangsu Runzhou Ship 
Accessories Co., Ltd.

35.92 – 35.92

iii Working capital for the Company and 
its associate, Yangzhou Huanzhou Deck 
Materials Co., Ltd.

– – –

iv The acquisition of 24.81% equity interest in 
Jiangsu New Yangzi Shipbuilding Co., Ltd

216.40 – 216.40

v  The acquisition of 100% equity interest 
in Jiangsu Tongzhou Marine Equipment 
Co., Ltd. using the share repurchased 
from open market. (total purchase 
consideration: S$120 million, the 
remaining S$10million were using its 
internal source of funds)

110.00 – 110.00

(a + b + c + d) 601.70 558.12 304.57 523.12

Net IPO proceeds received 600.30

Remaining balance of IPO proceed 77.18

(J) CoRPoRATE DiSCLoSuRE

The Company believes that a high level of disclosure is essential to enhance the standard of corporate governance. 
Hence, the Company is committed to provide a high level of disclosure in all public announcements, press releases 
and annual reports.
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The directors present their report to the members together with the audited financial statements of the Group for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2009 and the balance sheet of the Company as at 31 December 2009.

DiRECToRS

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Ren Yuanlin
Wang Dong
Xiang Jianjun
Yu Kebing
Teo Yi-dar
Teo Moh Gin

ARRANGEMENTS To ENABLE DiRECToRS To ACQuiRE SHARES AND DEBENTuRES

Neither at the end of, nor at any time during the financial year, was the Company a party to any arrangement whose 
object was to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or 
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DiRECToRS’ iNTERESTS iN SHARES oR DEBENTuRES

(a) According to the register of directors’ shareholdings kept by the Company for the purpose of section 164 of 
the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”), none of the directors holding office at the end of the financial year 
had any interest in the shares or debentures of the Company or its related corporations, except as follows:

Holdings registered in 
name of director or nominee

Holdings in which a director 
is deemed to have an interest

At 31.12.2009

At 01.01.2009
 or date of 

appointment At 31.12.2009

At 01.01.2009 
or date of 

appointment

Company
(No. of ordinary shares)
Ren Yuanlin 300,000 300,000 1,067,754,000 1,067,754,000
Wang Dong – – 510,466,000 510,466,000
Xiang Jianjun – – 883,668,000 883,668,000
Teo Yi-dar 150,000 100,000 – –
Yu Kebing – – 74,876,000 85,576,000

(b) Mr Ren Yuanlin and Mr Xiang Jianjun who by virtue of their deemed interest of not less than 20% of the issued 
capital of the Company, is deemed to have an interest in the share capital of the Company’s wholly-owned 
subsidiaries and in the shares held by the Company in the subsidiary companies that are not wholly-owned by 
the Group as set out in Note 41 to the financial statements.

(c) The directors’ interests in the ordinary shares of the Company as at 21 January 2010 were the same as those 
as at 31 December 2009.
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DiRECToRS’ CoNTRACTuAL BENEFiTS
Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason 
of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which he is a member 
or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest, except as disclosed in the accompanying financial 
statements and in this report.

SHARE oPTioNS
There were no options granted during the financial year to subscribe for unissued shares of the Company.

No shares have been issued during the financial year by virtue of the exercise of options to take up unissued shares 
of the Company.

There were no unissued shares of the Company under option at the end of the financial year.

AuDiT CoMMiTTEE
The members of the Audit Committee (“AC”) at the end of the financial year were as follows:

Teo Moh Gin (Chairman)
Teo Yi-dar
Yu Kebing

Two of the AC members are independent Directors and one is a Non-Executive Director.

The AC carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Singapore Companies Act. In performing 
their functions, the AC reviewed the following, where relevant, with the executive Directors:

(a) The audit plan of the Company’s independent auditor, results of its audit and its report on the weaknesses of 
internal accounting controls arising from the statutory audit;

(b) The audit plan of the internal auditor, results of its audit and evaluation of the Group’s systems of internal 
accounting controls;

(c) The nature and extent of the independent auditors’ non-audit services to the Group, seeking to balance 
the maintenance of objectivity and value for money, as well as the assistance given by management to the 
independent auditor;

(d) The significant financial reporting issues and judgments so as to ensure the integrity of the financial statements 
of the Group and any formal announcements relating to the Group’s financial statement;

(e) The financial reports of the Group, prior to the submission to the board, and assisting our Board in the discharge 
of its responsibilities on financial and accounting matters;

(f) The adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function, and the adequacy of the Group’s internal 
financial controls, operational and compliance control, and risk management systems;

(g) Interested person transactions and potential conflicts of interest, if any;

(h) The hedging policies and instruments implemented by the Group;

(i) Making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the independent 
auditor, and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the independent auditors.

The Audit Committee, having reviewed all non-audit services provided by the independent auditor to the Group, is 
satisfied that the nature and extent of such services would not affect the independence of the independent auditor.
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AuDiT CoMMiTTEE (CoNTiNuED)

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that the independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, be 
nominated for re-appointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.

Further details regarding the Audit Committee are disclosed in the Corporate Governance Statement.

iNDEPENDENT AuDiToR

The independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, has expressed its willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the directors

REN YUANLIN WANG DONG
Director Director

24 March 2010
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In the opinion of the directors,

(a) the balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group as set out on pages 
41 to 98 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group 
as at 31 December 2009 and of the results of the business, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for 
the financial year then ended; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its 
debts as and when they fall due.

On behalf of the directors

REN YUANLIN WONG DONG
Director Director

24 March 2010



39Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. • Annual Report 2009

Independent Auditor’s Report

YANGZiJiANG SHiPBuiLDiNG (HoLDiNGS) LTD

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd (the “Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 41 to 98, which comprise the balance sheets of the Company and of 
the Group as at 31 December 2009, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement of the Group for 
the financial year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (Cap. 50) (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. 
This responsibility includes:

(a) devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting control sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance 
that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly 
authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss 
accounts and balance sheets and to maintain accountability of assets;

(b) selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and

(c) making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.
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Opinion

In our opinion,

(a) the balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group are properly drawn 
up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2009, and the 
results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the financial year ended on that date; and

(b) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries 
incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditor, have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions 
of the Act.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Public Accountants and Certified Public Accountants

Singapore, 24 March 2010
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The Group
Note 2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 4 10,623,642 7,359,096
Cost of sales 7 (8,388,970) (5,996,084)

Gross profit 2,234,672 1,363,012

Other income 5 360,527 232,431
Other gains – net 6 178,708 274,239
Expenses
– Administrative 7 (212,539) (160,421)
– Finance 9 (8,461) (6,643)

Share of results of associated companies 23 (3,357) (2,754)

Profit before income tax 2,549,550 1,699,864

Income tax expense 10 (259,599) (75,649)

Net profit 2,289,951 1,624,215

Profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 2,289,951 1,579,760
Minority interests – 44,455

2,289,951 1,624,215

Earnings per share attributable to equity holders of 
 the Company (expressed in RMB cents per share)

– Basic and diluted 11 62.68 45.13
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The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit for the year
2,289,951 1,624,215

other comprehensive income:
Financial assets, available-for-sale
 – Fair value gains – 42,222
 – Transfer to income statement (175) (45,549)
Cash flow hedges
 – Fair value gains 19,011 40,472
 – Transfer to income statement (3,078) (54,247)

other comprehensive income, net of tax 15,758 (17,102)

Total comprehensive income 2,305,709 1,607,113

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 2,305,709 1,563,008
Minority interests – 44,105

2,305,709 1,607,113



43Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. • Annual Report 2009

Balance Sheets
For the financial year ended 31 December 2009

The Group The Company
Note 2009 2008 2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 12 3,806,955 3,060,384 135,434 4,073
Restricted cash 13 2,979,646 2,619,030 – –
Financial assets, at fair value through 
 profit or loss 14 5,420 1,213,592 – –
Derivative financial instruments 20 70,142 128,355 70,142 60,657
Financial assets, available-for-sale 15 300 9,300 – –
Financial assets, held-to-maturity 16 1,708,831 1,782,049 – –
Trade receivables 1,298,654 600,029 – –
Other receivables, prepayments 
 and other assets 17 4,002,797 4,784,757 1,232,553 935,931
Inventories 18 837,362 1,474,367 – –
Due from customers on construction 
 contracts 19 – 130,002 – –

14,710,107 15,801,865 1,438,129 1,000,661

Non-current assets
Derivative financial instruments 20 – 5,351 – 5,351
Other receivables 17 175,000 – – –
Lease prepayments 21 384,317 390,363 – –
Investments in subsidiaries 22 – – 4,526,196 4,526,196
Investments in associated companies 23 50,745 14,102 – –
Financial assets, held-to-maturity 16 3,079,536 – – –
Property, plant and equipment 24 1,966,580 1,961,583 – –
Intangible assets 25 343 411 – –
Deferred income tax assets 30 44,590 46,310 – –

5,701,111 2,418,120 4,526,196 4,531,547

Total assets 20,411,218 18,219,985 5,964,325 5,532,208



44 Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. • Annual Report 2009

Balance Sheets
For the financial year ended 31 December 2009

The Group The Company
Note 2009 2008 2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

LiABiLiTiES
Current liabilities
Trade and bills payables 26 940,232 685,946 – –
Accruals, other payables and
 other liabilities 27 459,657 254,314 231,547 36,326
Current income tax liabilities 10 69,906 61,477 3,558 4,802
Derivative financial instruments 20 124,691 59,261 – 56,573
Due to customers on construction 
 contracts 19 11,079,203 11,726,053 – –
Advances received on construction 
 contracts 19 137,560 397,310 94,818 –
Borrowings 28 907,077 489,983 – –
Provisions 29 188,296 94,127 – –

13,906,622 13,768,471 329,923 97,701

Non-current liabilities
Derivative financial instruments 20 30,257 123,114 – 5,351
Deferred income tax liabilities 30 164,035 12,962 156,844 11,881

194,292 136,076 156,844 17,232

Total liabilities 14,100,914 13,904,547 486,767 114,933

NET ASSETS 6,310,304 4,315,438 5,477,558 5,417,275

EQuiTY
Capital and reserves attributable to 
 equity holders of the Company
Share capital 31 4,980,010 4,980,010 4,944,793 4,944,793
Treasury shares 31 (610) (610) (610) (610)
Other reserves 32 (2,338,582) (2,624,355) (40,192) (40,192)
Retained earnings 3,669,486 1,960,393 573,567 513,284

6,310,304 4,315,438 5,477,558 5,417,275

Total equity 6,310,304 4,315,438 5,477,558 5,417,275
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The Group
Note 2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit 2,289,951 1,624,215
Adjustments for:
 – Income tax expenses 259,599 75,649
 – Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 123,509 85,352
 – Amortisation of land use rights 6,046 4,003
 – Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 417
 – Amortisation of intangible assets 138 125
 – Gain on disposal of an associated company – (1,856)
 – Gain on disposal of financial assets, available-for-sale – (45,549)
 – Fair value gain on financial assets, at fair value through 
  profit or loss (88,484) (23,592)
 – Interest expenses 14,155 27,009
 – Unrealised translation loss/(gain) 1,828 (15,524)
 – Interest income (346,644) (232,431)
 – Fair value change on derivative financial instruments 106,977 34,894
 – Share of loss of associated companies 3,357 2,754

2,370,432 1,535,466
Change in working capital, net of effects from acquisition and 
 disposal of subsidiaries
 – Inventories 637,005 (1,061,218)
 – Due from and due to customers on construction contracts (516,848) 3,738,115
 – Advances received on construction contracts (259,750) (899,515)
 – Trade receivables (698,626) (1,050)
 – Other receivables, prepayments and other assets 593,043 (619,600)
 – Trade and bills payables 254,286 365,980
 – Accruals, other payables and other liabilities 215,449 (67,737)
 – Provisions 94,169 22,380
 – Restricted cash (360,616) (256,409)

Cash generated from operations 2,328,544 2,756,412
Interest paid (14,155) (27,009)
Income tax paid (98,708) (151,159)

Net cash provided by operating activities 2,215,681 2,578,244
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The Group
Note 2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sales of investment in an associated company – 120,000
Proceeds from sales of financial assets, available-for-sale 9,000 214,497
Proceeds from sales of investment in subsidiaries – 57,439
Proceeds from redemption of financial assets, held to 
 maturity upon maturity 2,450,000 12,272,070
Proceeds from sales of financial assets, through profit or loss 1,251,995 –
Interest received 361,269 186,640
Loans repayments received from third parties – 654,000
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (138,612) (464,498)
Acquisition of financial assets, held-to-maturity (5,457,200) (13,992,070)
Acquisition of financial assets, available-for-sale – (77,773)
Acquisition of financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss (9,915) (1,190,000)
Acquisition of intangible assets (70) –
Capital injection in an associated company (40,000) (80,400)

Net cash used in investing activities (1,573,533) (2,300,095)

Cash flows from financing activities
Acquisition of equity interest in existing subsidiaries from minority 
 shareholder – (1,119,786)
Proceeds from borrowings 1,139,745 700,705
Repayments of borrowings (724,479) (223,640)
Purchase of treasury shares – (582,775)
Dividends paid to equity holders 33 (310,843) (431,026)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 104,423 (1,656,522)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 746,571 (1,378,373)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of financial year 12 3,060,384 4,438,757

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year 12 3,806,955 3,060,384
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These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.

1. GENERAL iNFoRMATioN

The Company was incorporated in Singapore on 21 December 2005 as a private limited company under the 
name of Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Pte. Ltd. (Company Registration No. 200517636Z). On 15 March 
2007, the Company was converted into a public company listed on the Singapore Exchange and changed its 
name to Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd.

The Company is domiciled in Singapore and the address of its registered office is 8 Cross Street, #11-00 PWC 
Building, Singapore 048424.

The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding. The principal activities of the legal 
subsidiaries, primarily shipbuilding and related businesses and their abbreviation used in the financial statements, 
are described in Note 41.

2. SiGNiFiCANT ACCouNTiNG PoLiCiES

2.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(“FRS”). The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except as 
disclosed in the accounting policies below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to exercise its 
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates and assumptions. Areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, 
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in 
Note 3.

Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2009

On 1 January 2009, the Group adopted the new or amended FRS and Interpretations to FRS (“INT FRS”) 
that are mandatory for application from that date. Changes to the Group’s accounting policies have been 
made as required, in accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective FRS and INT FRS.

The following are the new or revised FRS and INT FRS that are relevant to the Group:

• FRS 1 (revised), Presentation of financial statements (effective from 1 January 2009). The revised 
standard prohibits the presentation of items of income and expenses (that is, ‘non-owner 
changes in equity’) in the statement of changes in equity. All non-owner changes in equity are 
shown in a performance statement, but entities can choose whether to present one performance 
statement (the statement of comprehensive income) or two statements (the income statement 
and statement of comprehensive income). The Group has chosen to adopt the latter alternative. 
Where comparative information is restated or reclassified, a restated balance sheet is required to 
be presented as at the beginning comparative period. There is no restatement of the balance sheet 
as at 1 January 2008 in the current financial year.

• Amendment to FRS 107 Improving Disclosures about Financial Statements (effective from 1 January 
2009). The amendment requires enhanced disclosures about fair value measurement and liquidity 
risk. In particular, the amendment requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of a fair 
value measurement hierarchy (see note 35). The adoption of the amendment results in additional 
disclosures but does not have an impact on the accounting policies and measurement bases 
adopted by the Group.



50 Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. • Annual Report 2009

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2009

2. SiGNiFiCANT ACCouNTiNG PoLiCiES (CoNTiNuED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2009 (continued)

• FRS 108, Operating segments (effective from 1 January 2009) replaces FRS 14, ‘Segment reporting’, 
and requires a ‘management approach’, under which segment information is presented on the 
same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes. This did not result in significant changes 
in the number of reportable segments being presented. Segment revenue, segment profits and 
segment assets are measured on a basis that is consistent with internal reporting.

2.2 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the rendering of services 
in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is presented, net of value-added tax, rebates and 
discounts, and after eliminating sales within the Group. Revenue is recognised as follows:

(a) Revenue from construction contracts

Contract revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at 
the balance sheet date. The stage of completion is measured by reference to the contract costs 
incurred to date, as compared to the estimated total costs for the contract.

Please refer to note 2.8 “Construction Contracts” for the elaboration of accounting policy for 
revenue from construction contracts.

(b) Interest income

Interest income arising from financial instruments is recognised on a time-proportion basis using 
the effective interest method.

2.3 Group accounting

(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies, generally accompanied by a shareholding giving rise to the majority of the voting rights. 
The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are 
considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries that 
meet the definition of a business. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the 
assets given, equity instruments issued or liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, 
plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and 
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair value 
on the date of acquisition, irrespective of the extent of minority interest.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are 
de-consolidated from the date on which control ceases. Please refer to the paragraph “Intangible 
assets – Goodwill” for the accounting policy on goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries.
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2. SiGNiFiCANT ACCouNTiNG PoLiCiES (CoNTiNuED)

2.3 Group accounting (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions, balances and unrealised gains on 
transactions between group entities are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated but are 
considered an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have 
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Minority interests are that part of the net results of operations and of net assets of a subsidiary 
attributable to the interests which are not owned directly or indirectly by the Group. They are 
measured at the minorities’ share of fair value of the subsidiaries’ identifiable assets and liabilities 
at the date of acquisition by the Group and the minorities’ share of changes in equity since 
the date of acquisition, except when the minorities’ share of losses in a subsidiary exceeds its 
interest in the equity of that subsidiary. In such cases, the excess and further losses applicable to 
the minorities are attributed to the equity holders of the Company, unless the minorities have a 
binding obligation to, and are able to, make good the losses. When that subsidiary subsequently 
reports profits, the profits applicable to the minority interests are attributed to the equity holders 
of the Company until the minorities’ share of losses previously absorbed by the equity holders of 
the Company are fully recovered.

Please refer to the paragraph “Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies” for the 
accounting policy on investments in subsidiaries in the separate financial statements of the 
Company.

(b) Transactions with minority interests

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control is accounted 
for by adjusting the carrying amount of minority interests to reflect the changes in the Group’s 
interest in the subsidiary’s net assets. The difference between the amount of adjustment to minority 
interests and the fair value of the consideration paid or received, if any, is brought to equity under 
capital reserves.

(c) Associated companies

Associated companies are entities over which the Group has significant influence, but not control, 
generally accompanied by a shareholding giving rise to between and including 20% and 50% 
of the voting rights. Investments in associated companies are accounted for in the consolidated 
financial statements using the equity method of accounting less impairment losses.

Investments in associated companies are initially recognised at cost. The cost of an acquisition is 
measured at the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued or liabilities incurred or 
assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.

In applying the equity method of accounting, the Group’s share of its associated companies’ post-
acquisition profits or losses are recognised in the income statement and its share of post-acquisition 
movements in reserves is recognised in equity directly. These post-acquisition movements are 
adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an 
associated company equals or exceeds its interest in the associated company, including any other 
unsecured non-current receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has 
obligations or has made payments on behalf of the associated company.
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2. SiGNiFiCANT ACCouNTiNG PoLiCiES (CoNTiNuED)

2.3 Group accounting (continued)

(c) Associated companies (continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associated companies are eliminated to 
the extent of the Group’s interest in the associated companies. Unrealised losses are also eliminated 
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. The accounting 
policies of associated companies have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with 
the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Please refer to the paragraph “Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies” for the 
accounting policy on investments in associated companies in the separate financial statements of 
the Company.

2.4 Property, plant and equipment

(a) Measurement

All property, plant and equipment (“PPE”) are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried 
at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

(b) Components of costs

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase 
price and any cost that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

(c) Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their depreciable amount over 
their estimated useful lives, as follows:

useful lives
Buildings 8 – 20 years
Machinery 5 – 10 years
Vehicles 5 – 12 years
Furniture, fittings and equipment 5 – 12 years

The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method of property, plant and 
equipment are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each balance sheet date. The effects of 
any revision are recognised in the income statement when the changes arise.

(d) Construction-in-progress

Construction-in-progress represents buildings, plant and machinery under construction or 
pending installation and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. This includes 
cost of construction, plant and equipment and other directly attributable costs. No provision 
for depreciation is made on construction-in-progress until such time as the relevant assets are 
completed and ready for intended use. When the assets concerned are brought into use, the costs 
are transferred to property, plant and equipment and depreciated in accordance with the policy 
stated above.
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2. SiGNiFiCANT ACCouNTiNG PoLiCiES (CoNTiNuED)

2.4 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(e) Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been recognised 
is added to the carrying amount of the asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
All other repair and maintenance expense is recognised in the income statement when incurred.

(f) Disposal

On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the disposal 
proceeds and its carrying amount is recognised in the income statement.

2.5 Lease prepayment

Lease prepayment represents prepaid operating lease payments for land less accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate 
the prepaid operating lease payments for land over a period of 50 years.

2.6 Intangibles

(a) Goodwill on acquisitions

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s 
share of the net identifiable net assets and contingent liabilities of the acquired subsidiaries, and 
associated companies at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill on subsidiaries is recognised separately as intangible assets and carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill on associated companies is included in the carrying amount of the investments.

Gains and losses on the disposal of subsidiaries and associated companies include the carrying 
amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

(b) Computer software

Acquired computer software licenses are initially capitalized at cost which includes the purchase 
price (net of any discounts and rebates) and other directly attributed cost of preparing the asset 
for its intended use. Costs associated with maintaining the computer software are recognised as 
an expense as incurred.

Computer software licenses are subsequently carried at cost less amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. These costs are amortised to the income statement using the straight-line 
method over their estimated useful lives of three to five years.

The amortisation period and amortisation method of computer software licenses are reviewed at 
least at each balance sheet date. The effects of any revision are recognised in the income statement 
when the changes arise.
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2. SiGNiFiCANT ACCouNTiNG PoLiCiES (CoNTiNuED)

2.7 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement using the effective interest method, except for 
those costs that are directly attributable to the construction contracts and other qualifying assets.

2.8 Construction contracts

A construction contract is a contract specifically negotiated for the construction of an asset or a 
combination of assets that are closely interrelated or interdependent in terms of their design, technology 
and functions or their ultimate purpose or use.

Contract costs are recognised when incurred.

When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and contract 
costs are recognised as revenue and expenses respectively by reference to the stage of completion of the 
contract activity at the balance sheet date (“percentage-of-completion method”). When the outcome 
of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent of 
contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable. When it is probable that total contract costs will 
exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Contract revenue comprises the initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract and variations in the 
contract work and claims that can be measured reliably. A variation or a claim is only included in contract 
revenue when it is probable that the customer will approve the variation or negotiations have reached 
an advanced stage such that it is probable that the customer will accept the claim.

The stage of completion is measured by reference to the ratio of contract costs incurred to date to 
the estimated total costs for the contract. Costs incurred during the financial year in connection with 
future activity on a contract are excluded from the costs incurred to date when determining the stage of 
completion of a contract. Such costs are shown as construction contract work-in-progress on the balance 
sheet unless it is not probable that such contract costs are recoverable from the customers, in which case, 
such costs are recognised as an expense immediately.

At the balance sheet date, the aggregated costs incurred plus recognised profit (less recognised loss) on 
each contract is compared against the progress billings. Where the cumulative costs incurred plus the 
recognised profits (less recognised losses) exceed progress billings, the balance is presented as due from 
customers on construction contracts. Where progress billings exceed the cumulative costs incurred plus 
recognised profits (less recognised losses), the balance is presented as due to customers on construction 
contracts.

Progress billings not yet paid by customers are included within “trade receivables”. Advances received 
are included within “advances received on construction contracts”.

2.9 Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies

Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies are carried at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses in the Company’s balance sheet. On disposal of investments in subsidiaries and associated 
companies, the difference between disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts of the investments are 
recognised in the income statement.
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2. SiGNiFiCANT ACCouNTiNG PoLiCiES (CoNTiNuED)

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies

Intangible assets with finite life, property, plant and equipment and investments in subsidiaries and 
associated companies are tested for impairment whenever there is any indication or objective evidence 
that these assets may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less cost 
to sell and the value-in-use) is determined on an individual asset basis unless the asset does not generate 
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount 
is determined for the CGU to which the asset belongs.

If the recoverable amount of the asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.

The difference between the carrying amount and recoverable amount is recognised as an impairment 
loss in the income statement.

An impairment loss for an asset is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the estimates used 
to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The carrying 
amount of an asset is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any accumulated amortisation or 
depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of impairment 
loss for an asset is recognised in the income statement.

2.11 Financial assets

(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity and available-for-sale. The classification depends on 
the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification 
of its financial assets at initial recognition.

(i) Financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading and those designated 
at fair value through profit or loss at inception. A financial asset is classified as held for 
trading if it is acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Financial 
assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss at inception are those that are 
managed and their performances are evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with 
a documented Group’s investment strategy. The designation of financial assets as at fair 
value through profit or loss at inception is irrevocable. Derivatives are also categorised as 
held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are presented 
as current assets if they are either held for trading or are expected to be realised within 12 
months after the balance sheet date.
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2.11 Financial assets (continued)

(a) Classification (continued)

(ii) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. They are presented as current assets, except for 
those maturing later than 12 months after the balance sheet date which are presented 
as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are presented as “trade receivables”, “other 
receivables”, and “cash and cash equivalents” on the balance sheet.

(iii) Financial assets, held-to-maturity

Financial assets, held-to-maturity are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments and fixed maturities that the Group’s management has the positive intention and 
ability to hold to maturity. If the Group were to sell other than an insignificant amount 
of held-to-maturity financial assets, the whole category would be tainted and reclassified 
as available-for-sale. They are presented as non-current assets, except for those maturing 
within 12 months after the balance sheet date which are presented as current assets.

(iv) Financial assets, available-for-sale

Financial assets, available-for-sale are non-derivatives that are either designated in this 
category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are presented as non-current 
assets unless management intends to dispose of the assets within 12 months after the 
balance sheet date.

(b) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-date – the date 
on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets 
have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and 
rewards of ownership. On disposal of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount 
and the sale proceeds is recognised in the income statement. Any amount in the fair value reserve 
relating to that asset is transferred to the income statement.

(c) Initial measurement

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs except for financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss, which are recognised at fair value. Transaction costs for financial 
assets at fair value through profit and loss are recognised in the income statement.



57Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. • Annual Report 2009

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2009

2. SiGNiFiCANT ACCouNTiNG PoLiCiES (CoNTiNuED)

2.11 Financial assets (continued)

(d) Subsequent measurement

Financial assets, both available-for-sale and at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently 
carried at fair value. Loans and receivables and financial assets, held-to-maturity are subsequently 
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Changes in the fair values of financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss including the 
effects of currency translation, interest and dividend, are recognised in the income statement 
when the changes arise.

Dividend income on financial assets, available-for-sale are recognised separately in the income 
statement. Changes in fair values of available-for-sale equity securities (i.e. non-monetary items) are 
recognised in the fair value reserve, together with the related currency translation differences.

(e) Impairment

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and recognises an allowance for impairment when 
such evidence exists.

(i) Loans and receivables/Financial assets, held-to-maturity

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter 
bankruptcy, and default or significant delay in payments are objective evidence that these 
financial assets are impaired.

The carrying amount of these assets is reduced through the use of an impairment allowance 
account which is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. When 
the asset becomes uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised against the same line item in 
the income statement.

The allowance for impairment loss account is reduced through the income statement in a 
subsequent period when the amount of impairment loss decreases and the related decrease 
can be objectively measured. The carrying amount of the asset previously impaired is 
increased to the extent that the new carrying amount does not exceed the amortised cost 
had no impairment been recognised in prior periods.

(ii) Financial assets, available-for-sale

Significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost and the 
disappearance of an active trading market for the security are objective evidence that the 
security is impaired.

The cumulative loss that was recognised in the fair value reserve is transferred to the income 
statement. The cumulative loss is measured as the difference between the acquisition cost 
(net of any principal repayments and amortisation) and the current fair value, less any 
impairment loss previously recognised as an expense. The impairment losses recognised as 
an expense on equity securities are not reversed through the income statement.
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2.12 Borrowings

Borrowings are presented as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value (net of transaction costs incurred) and subsequently carried 
at amortised cost. Any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value 
is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest 
method.

2.13 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequently carried at amortised cost, 
using the effective interest method.

2.14 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

A derivative financial instrument is initially recognised at fair value on the date the contract is entered 
into and is subsequently carried at their fair value. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss 
depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the 
item being hedged.

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between the hedging 
instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management objective and strategies for undertaking 
various hedge transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on 
an ongoing basis, on whether the derivatives designated as hedging instruments are highly effective in 
offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows of the hedged items. Fair value changes on derivatives that 
are not designated or do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in the income statement when 
the changes arise.

The Group has entered into currency forwards that qualify as cash flow hedges against highly probable 
forecasted transactions in foreign currencies. The fair value changes on the effective portion of the 
currency forwards designated as cash flow hedges are recognised in the hedging reserve and transferred 
to the income statement when the hedged forecast transactions are recognised.

The fair value changes on the ineffective portion are recognised immediately in income statement. When a 
forecasted transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gains and losses that were previously recognised 
in the hedging reserve are transferred to the income statement immediately.

The carrying amount of a derivative designated as a hedge is presented as a non-current asset or liability 
of the remaining expected life of the hedged items is more than 12 months, and as a current asset or 
liability of the remaining expected life of the hedged items is less than 12 months. The fair value of a 
trading derivative is presented as a current asset or liability.



59Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. • Annual Report 2009

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2009

2. SiGNiFiCANT ACCouNTiNG PoLiCiES (CoNTiNuED)

2.15 Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities

The fair values of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as exchange-traded and over-the-
counter securities and derivatives) are based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The 
quoted market prices used for financial assets are the current bid prices; the appropriate quoted market 
prices for financial liabilities are the current asking prices.

The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market are determined by using 
valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on 
market conditions existing at each balance sheet date, where appropriate, quoted market prices or dealer 
quotes for similar instruments are used. Valuation techniques, such as discounted cash flow analyses, are 
also used to determine the fair values of the financial instruments.

The fair values of currency forwards are determined using actively quoted forward exchange rates.

The fair values of current financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost approximate their carrying 
amounts.

2.16 Operating leases

Leases of property, plant and equipment where substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership 
are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net 
of any incentives received from the lessor) are taken to the income statement on a straight-line basis 
over the period of the lease.

Contingent rents are recognised as an expense in the income statement in the financial year in which 
they are incurred.

2.17 Inventories

Inventories consist of raw materials and work-in-progress and are carried at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out method. Inventories will be used in the 
construction contracts, therefore they are not written down to net realisable value when the market prices 
for those inventories falls below cost, if the overall construction contract is expected to be profitable.

2.18 Income taxes

Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised at the amount expected to be paid to or 
recovered from the tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements except when the deferred income tax 
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss at the time of the transaction.

A deferred income tax liability is recognised on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries 
and associated companies except where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future.

A deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will 
be available against which the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised.
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2.18 Income taxes (continued)

Deferred income tax is measured:

(a) at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or 
the deferred income tax liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date; and

(b) based on the tax consequence that will follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at 
the balance sheet date, to recover or settle the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred income tax are recognised as income or expenses in the income statement for the 
period, except to the extent that the tax arises from a business combination or a transaction which is 
recognised directly in equity.

2.19 Provisions

Provisions for warranty, restructuring costs and legal claims are recognised when the Group has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated.

The Group recognises the estimated liability to repair or replace products still under warranty at the 
balance sheet date. This provision is calculated based on historical experience of the level of repairs and 
replacements.

Changes in the estimated timing or amount of the expenditure or discount rate are recognised in the 
income statement when the changes arise.

2.20 Employee compensation

The Group’s contributions are recognised as employee compensation expense when they are due, unless 
they can be capitalised as an asset.

(a) Defined contribution plans

Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed 
contributions into separate entities such as the Central Provident Fund in Singapore and the social 
security plans in People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary 
basis. The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid.

In accordance with the relevant regulations in the PRC, the premiums and welfare benefit 
contributions borne by the Group are calculated based on certain percentages of the total salary of 
employees, subject to a certain ceiling, and are paid to the labor and social welfare authorities.

(b) Profit-sharing scheme

Profit-sharing scheme is a performance incentive settled by cash pursuant to which certain Executive 
Directors and Executive Officers, are each entitled, subject to the approval of the Remuneration 
Committee, to a shared performance bonus (the “Performance Bonus Pool”) in respect of 
each financial year, which is calculated based on the PBT. For this purpose, “PBT” refers to the 
consolidated profit before tax before certain contractual adjustments.
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2.21 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”). 
The financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”).

(b) Transactions and balances

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated 
into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Currency 
translation differences from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the balance 
sheet date are recognised in the income statement.

2.22 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
executive directors who are responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the 
operating segments.

2.23 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents 
include cash on hand and deposits held at call with financial institutions and other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less but exclude restricted cash.

2.24 Share capital and treasury shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares 
are deducted against share capital account.

When any entity within the Group purchases the Company’s ordinary shares (“treasury shares”), the 
consideration paid including any directly attributable incremental cost is presented as a component within 
equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders, until they are cancelled, sold or reissued.

When treasury shares are subsequently cancelled, the cost of treasury shares are deducted against the 
share capital account if the shares are purchased out of capital of the Company, or against the retained 
earnings of the Company if the shares are purchased out of earnings of the Company.

When treasury shares are subsequently sold or reissued, the cost of treasury shares is reversed from the 
treasury shares account and the realised gain or loss on sale or reissue, net of any directly attributable 
incremental transaction costs and related income tax, is recognised in the capital reserve of the 
Company.

2.25 Dividends to the Company’s shareholders

Dividends to the Company’s shareholders are recognised when the dividends are approved for 
payment.



62 Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. • Annual Report 2009

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2009

2. SiGNiFiCANT ACCouNTiNG PoLiCiES (CoNTiNuED)

2.26 Contingencies

A contingent liability or asset is a possible obligation or asset that arises from past events and whose 
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future events not 
wholly within the control of the Group.

Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the balance sheet of the Group.

2.27 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised as a receivable at their fair value when there is reasonable 
assurance that the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all the attached conditions.

Government grants receivable are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with 
the related costs which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Government grants 
relating to expenses are shown separately as other income.

3. CRiTiCAL ACCouNTiNG ESTiMATES AND JuDGMENTS

Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Construction contracts

The Group uses the percentage-of-completion method in accounting for its construction contracts. The 
stage of completion is measured by reference to the contract costs incurred to date compared to the 
estimated total contract costs for the contract.

Significant assumptions are required to estimate the total contract costs and the recoverable variation 
works that will affect the stage of completion and the contract revenue, respectively. In making these 
estimates, management have used their accumulative knowledge of the industry, market conditions, and 
its customers, and corroborated with the experience gained from the most recent deliveries. The amount of 
revenue recognised in the year would decrease by RMB418,930,000 (2008: RMB425,410,000) if the total 
estimated contract cost were to increase by 10% (2008: 10%), or would increase by RMB201,330,000 
(2008: RMB601,325,000) if the total estimated contract cost were to decrease by 10% (2008: 10%).

(b) Impairment of financial assets

(i) Trade receivables

The Group’s management determines the allowance for impairment of trade receivables. Based 
on management’s assessment of the credit history of its customers and also that of the market 
conditions, it was determined no allowance for impairment was required.

(ii) Financial assets, held to maturity

The Group follows the guidance of FRS 39 in determining when the financial assets, held to 
maturity is considered impaired. Significant financial difficulties of the counterparty, probability that 
the counterparty will enter bankruptcy, and default or significant delay in payment are objective 
evidence that these financial assets, held to maturity are impaired. Based on management’s 
assessment of the credit history of its counter-parties, and that of the market conditions, it was 
determined that no allowance for impairment was required.
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(c) Current income tax

At the balance sheet date, one of the Group’s subsidiaries was in the process of applying for a tax grant. 
The successful application of the grant would allow the subsidiary to enjoy a preferential tax rate for a 
period of three years. At the balance sheet date, the application has not been approved and the Group 
had therefore computed its tax liabilities at its prevailing corporate tax rate.

4. REVENuE

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Contract revenue 10,620,564 7,304,849
Transfer from hedging reserve 3,078 54,247

Total revenue 10,623,642 7,359,096

5. oTHER iNCoME

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest income
 – Financial assets, held-to-maturity 185,723 60,773
 – Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 160,921 142,752
 – Entrusted loans – 28,906
Subsidy income 6,687 –
Rental income 6,672 –
Dividend income 524 –

360,527 232,431

6. oTHER GAiNS – NET

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Foreign exchange gains – net 142,847 277,209
Fair value gain on financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss 88,484 23,592
Gain on disposal of financial assets, available-for-sale – 45,549
Gain on disposal of an associated company – 1,856
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment – (417)
Ineffectiveness on cash flow hedges (58,489) (89,141)
Others 5,866 15,591

178,708 274,239
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7. EXPENSES BY NATuRE

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Raw materials and consumables used 6,581,286 4,701,951
Outsourcing and processing fee 651,348 413,159
Other project-related fees and charges 262,831 191,976
Commission expenses 124,483 133,157
Employee compensation (Note 8) 684,725 413,967
Depreciation of plant, property and equipment (Note 24) 123,509 85,352
Amortisation of lease prepayments (Note 21) 6,046 4,003
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 25) 138 125
Promotion and advertising expenses 215 358
Utilities 108,635 91,069
Professional fees 5,040 7,900
Directors fees 437 347
Transportation expenses 4,697 3,079
Operating lease 1,851 75,727
Donation 2,410 10,020
Others 43,858 24,315

Total cost of sales and administrative expenses 8,601,509 6,156,505

8. EMPLoYEE CoMPENSATioN

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries, wages and bonuses 571,154 357,800
Other employee benefits 74,295 26,524
Employer’s contributions to defined contribution plans (see Note (a) below) 13,525 12,473
Profit sharing scheme (see Note (b) below) 25,751 17,170

684,725 413,967

(a) Contributions to pension plans

The employees of the Group who are employed in the PRC participate in a defined contribution retirement 
benefit plan organised by the relevant provincial government. For the financial year ended 31 December 
2009, the Group is required to make monthly defined contribution to these plans at 37.6% (2008: 37.6%), 
of the employees’ monthly salaries and wages as stipulated by local rules and regulations. These pension 
contributions are expensed as incurred.

The Group has no other obligations for the payment of retirement and other post-retirement benefits of 
employees or retirees other than the payments disclosed in this note.
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(b) Profit-sharing scheme

Profit-sharing scheme is a performance incentive settled by cash pursuant to which certain Executive 
Directors and Executive Officers, namely Ren Yuanlin, Wang Dong, Xiang Jianjun, Cao Zhiteng and 
Du Chengzhong (the “PSS Officers”), are each entitled, subject to the approval of the Remuneration 
Committee, to the Performance Bonus Pool.

PBT Attained Performance Bonus Pool

Where the PBT does not exceed RMB600.0 million NIL

Where the PBT exceeds RMB600.0 million but
 does not exceed RMB700.0 million

0.5% of PBT

Where the PBT exceeds RMB700.0 million but
 does not exceed RMB800.0 million

0.75% of PBT

Where the PBT exceeds RMB800.0 million 1.0% of PBT

The applicable Performance Bonus Pool for each financial year will be apportioned between Ren Yuanlin, 
Wang Dong, Xiang Jianjun, Cao Zhiteng and Du Chengzhong depending on their involvement, role, 
responsibility and performance in the Group, subject to an annual review by the Remuneration Committee. 
Where the employment of any of the PSS Officers is not for a full financial year, his share of the applicable 
Performance Bonus Pool will be pro-rated accordingly.

9. FiNANCE EXPENSES

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest on bank borrowings 14,155 27,009
Foreign currency exchange gains – net (5,694) (20,366)

8,461 6,643

10. iNCoME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profit arising or derived from the tax jurisdiction in 
which the Group is domiciled and operates.

In accordance with the approval from the relevant PRC tax authority, the Group’s subsidiary, JYS, was granted 
an income tax exemption for 2004 and 2005 and a 50% reduction in income tax rate for each of the three years 
from 2006 to 2008. Jiangsu New Yangzi Shipbuilding Co., Ltd (“JNYS”) was granted income tax exemption for 
2008 and 2009 and a 50% reduction in income tax rate for each of the three years from 2010 to 2012.
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(a) Income tax expense

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Income tax expense attributable to profit is made up of:

Current income tax 107,137 100,387
Deferred income tax 152,462 (24,738)

259,599 75,649

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the amount that would arise using the PRC income 
tax rate applicable to profit of the main operating legal subsidiaries in PRC due to the following:

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit before tax 2,549,550 1,699,864

Tax calculated at the applicable tax rate of 25% (2008: 25%) 637,388 424,966
Changes in PRC tax rate (Note 30) – (9,300)
Effect of tax exemption (544,005) (340,798)
Withholding tax (Note 30) 156,844 –
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 9,372 2,265
Other – (1,484)

259,599 75,649

(b) Movements in current income tax liabilities

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January 61,477 112,249
Income tax paid (98,708) (151,159)
Current financial year’s tax expense on profit 107,137 100,387

As at 31 December 69,906 61,477
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11. EARNiNGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

The Group
2009 2008

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company (RMB’000) 2,289,951 1,579,760

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for 
 basic earnings per share (’000) 3,653,283 3,500,362

Basic earnings per share (RMB cents) 62.68 45.13

Diluted earnings per share is equal to basic earnings per share as at the year ended 31 December 2009 and 
2008 as the Company has no potential dilutive ordinary shares.

12. CASH AND CASH EQuiVALENTS

The Group The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash at bank and on hand 1,775,119 1,895,860 57,357 4,073
Short term bank deposits 2,031,836 1,164,524 78,077 –

3,806,955 3,060,384 135,434 4,073

The weighted average effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits, with a short maturity date of 7 days 
to less than 12 months (2008: 7 days to less than 12 months) was 2.63% (2008: 3.46%).

The Group’s cash denominated in RMB is deposited with banks in the PRC. The conversion of these RMB 
denominated balances into foreign currencies is subject to the foreign exchange control rules and regulations 
promulgated by the PRC Government.

13. RESTRiCTED CASH

The restricted cash was held in designated bank accounts under the name of the Company and the Group as 
deposits for performance guarantee, letters of credits and borrowings.

The Group The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Restricted cash 2,979,646 2,619,030 – –

The weighted average effective interest rate on restricted cash, with a maturity of 180 days to one year (2008: 
180 days to one year), was 2.24% (2008: 4.00%).
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14. FiNANCiAL ASSETS, AT FAiR VALuE THRouGH PRoFiT oR LoSS

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Held for trading:
Investment in listed securities 420 –
Investment in funds (Note (i)) 5,000 190,000

At fair value on initial recognition:
Investment in a financial product (Note (ii)) – 1,023,592

5,420 1,213,592

(i) Investment in funds represented quoted funds issued by Great Wall Fund Management Co., Ltd. In 
the previous year, the quoted funds invested were issued by China Merchant Bank and Yinhua Trust 
Management Co., Ltd in the PRC.

(ii) Investment in a financial product as at 31 December 2008 represented unquoted investment with the 
Agriculture Bank of China, in the PRC. The investment was principal protected, and matured on 6 June 
2009.

15. FiNANCiAL ASSETS, AVAiLABLE-FoR-SALE

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January 9,300 104,970
Additions – 77,773
Disposal (9,000) (214,497)
Fair value gains recognised in equity – net of tax – 41,054

As at 31 December 300 9,300

The available-for-sale financial assets comprised of unlisted equity investments.

There was no active market for the unlisted equity investment. Based on the directors’ assessment of the valuation 
of the unlisted equity investments, the carrying amounts of the investments approximated their fair values.
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16. FiNANCiAL ASSETS, HELD-To-MATuRiTY

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Unlisted –
Investment funds 4,788,367 1,782,049
Less: current portion (1,708,831) (1,782,049)

Non-current portion 3,079,536 –

Unlisted-investment funds represented fixed-interest investments through financial institutions. The maturity 
dates of these investments ranges from 15 April 2010 to 1 July 2013, and interest rates range from 3.6% to 
20% per annum.

The carrying amounts of financial assets, held-to-maturity approximate their fair values.

17. oTHER RECEiVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND oTHER ASSETS

The Group The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Other receivables
 – Due from subsidiaries – – 801,238 327,759
 – Loan to subsidiaries – – 141,470 318,278
 – Ad vance to an associated company  

(Note 36) – 19,720 – –
 – Due from non-related parties 376,688 – – –
Other assets
 – Tax recoverable 300,346 209,238 115 174
 – Deposits 200,000 270,000 – –
 – Others 10,000 98,368 10 –
Prepayments 3,290,763 4,187,431 289,720 289,720

4,177,797 4,784,757 1,232,553 935,931
Less: Non-current other receivables (175,000) – – –

4,002,797 4,784,757 1,232,553 935,931

The amounts due from subsidiaries, advance to an associated company and loan to subsidiaries are unsecured, 
interest-free and have no fixed term of repayment.
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18. iNVENToRiES

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Raw materials 658,228 1,474,367
Work in progress 179,134 –

837,362 1,474,367

Raw materials mainly consist of metal steel products and fuel which are used in the Group’s shipbuilding activities. 
The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in “cost of sales” amounts to RMB6,581,286,000 
in 2009 (2008: RMB4,701,951,000).

19. DuE FRoM/(To) CuSToMERS oN CoNSTRuCTioN CoNTRACTS

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Aggregate costs incurred and profits recognised 
 (less losses recognised) to date 1,727,178 3,433,347
Progress billings (12,806,381) (15,029,398)

(11,079,203) (11,596,051)

Presented as:
Due from customers on construction contracts – 130,002
Due to customers on construction contracts (11,079,203) (11,726,053)

(11,079,203) (11,596,051)

Advances received on construction contracts (137,560) (397,310)
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20. DERiVATiVE FiNANCiAL iNSTRuMENTS

Contract Fair value
notional Assets Liabilities

  amount Current Non-current Current Non-current
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Group
2009
Cash-flow hedges
 – Currency forwards 2,107,034 – – (103,006) –
Non-hedging instruments
 – Embedded derivatives 1,499,930 – – (6,424) (30,257)
 – Currency forwards 17,226,495 70,142 – (15,261) –

Total 20,833,459 70,142 – (124,691) (30,257)

2008
Cash-flow hedges
 – Currency forwards 9,644,072 124,271 5,351 (59,261) (123,114)
Non-hedging instruments
 – Currency forwards 472,940 4,084 – – –

Total 10,117,012 128,355 5,351 (59,261) (123,114)

Company
2009
Non-hedging instruments
 – Currency forwards 17,226,495 70,142 – – –

2008
Non-hedging instruments
 – Currency forwards 2,049,406 60,657 5,351 (56,573) (5,351)

(a) Currency forwards held for hedging

Currency forwards held for hedging are entered to hedge highly probable forecasted revenues 
denominated in USD. The highly probable revenues are expected to occur at various dates during the 
financial year. The currency forwards have maturity dates that coincide within the expected occurrence 
of these transactions. Gains and losses recognised in the hedging reserve prior to the occurrence of these 
transactions are transferred to the income statement when the highly probable forecasted revenues are 
recognised in the income statement.

(b) Embedded derivatives

Embedded foreign currency derivatives are Euro payment features embedded in the host shipbuilding 
contract, which is denominated in USD.
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21. LEASE PREPAYMENTS

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Land use rights
Cost
As at 1 January 398,595 249,899
Acquisition of subsidiary – 199,096
Disposal of a subsidiary – (50,400)

As at 31 December 398,595 398,595

Accumulated amortisation
As at 1 January (8,232) (4,229)
Amortisation charge (6,046) (4,003)

As at 31 December (14,278) (8,232)

Net book value at 31 December 384,317 390,363

The Group’s interest in land use rights in the PRC are held on leases for 50 years.

22. iNVESTMENTS iN SuBSiDiARiES

The Company
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Equity investment at cost
As at 1 January 4,526,196 788,071
Acquisition – 3,304,610
Transfer from quasi-capital loan to investment in a subsidiary – 433,515

As at 31 December 4,526,196 4,526,196

Details of significant subsidiaries are included in Note 41.

Acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries in 2008

Disposal of 0.97% equity interest in JNYS by SEAVI Advent Asia Investment (III) Ltd (“SEAVI”) to Yitian Investment 
Pte Ltd (“Yitian”)

On 12 March 2008, SEAVI, a subsidiary of the Group has transferred its 0.97% equity interests in JNYS to 
Yitian, a minority shareholder of JNYS. The consideration paid by Yitian to SEAVI is RMB6,000,000. Upon the 
completion of the transfer, the Group’s aggregated shareholding in JNYS reduced from 76.16% to 75.19% as 
at 12 March 2008.
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22. iNVESTMENTS iN SuBSiDiARiES (CoNTiNuED)

Acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries in 2008 (continued)

Disposal of 0.97% equity interest in JNYS by SEAVI Advent Asia Investment (III) Ltd (“SEAVI”) to Yitian 
Investment Pte Ltd (“Yitian”) (continued)

The difference between the RMB6,000,000 considerations received and the amount of adjustment to minority 
interest (approximately RMB5,000,000), that of RMB1,000,000 is brought to other reserves in equity.

The disposal of 0.97% equity interests in JNYS to Yitian is carried out, in light of legal requirements, in connection 
with the subsequent acquisition of 24.81% equity in JNYS from Hong Kong Hengyuan Investment Limited 
(“HKHI”). Yitian is a wholly owned subsidiary of HKHI.

Acquisition of 24.81% equity interest in JNYS from HKHI

On 18 April 2008, the Company acquired the 24.81% equity interest in JNYS from HKHI. The consideration 
paid for the acquisition was determined as RMB2,762,637,000 (equivalent S$533,800,000) which comprised 
of the issuance of 352,625,000 new ordinary shares in the capital of the Company at RMB1,642,851,000 and 
RMB1,119,786,000 in cash.

The acquisition of the aggregate 24.81% interest in JNYS is considered as a change in the Group’s ownership 
interest in the subsidiary after control is obtained. The difference between the amount of adjustment to minority 
interest and the fair value of the consideration paid is RMB2,599,887,000, which is brought to other reserves 
in equity.

Subsequent to the completion of this acquisition of 24.81% equity interest, the Company beneficially holds 
100% of total equity interests (including the above 75.19%) of JNYS.

Acquisition of Jiangsu Tongzhou Marine Equipment Co., Ltd (“JTME”)

On 10 December 2008, the Company acquired the 100% beneficial equity interest in the registered capital of 
JTME from ICH Invest & Trade Ltd; through the acquisition of 100% equity interest of Baoling Investment Pte 
Ltd (“Baoling”) at a consideration of 228,000,000 treasury shares in the capital of the Company amounting to 
RMB541,973,000 based on the consideration value of SGD 0.52 per share.

The Company acquired the group of net assets in JTME. The fair value of the consideration of RMB541,973,000 
is allocated across the individual identifiable assets and liabilities of JTME based on their fair values at the date 
of acquisition.

Through the net assets of JTME, the Company acquired 10% equity interest in Jiangsu Tianyuan Marine Import 
& Export Co., Ltd (“JTY”), which is an existing subsidiary of the Group.

Transfer from quasi-capital loan to investment in SEAVI

In 2008, the Company has increased its investment in SEAVI by RMB433,515,000 by way of the capitalisation 
of the quasi-equity loan to SEAVI.

Acquisition of Jiangsu Jingjiang Yangzi Labour Supply Co., Ltd (“JJYLS”)

On 21 October 2008, JNYS entered into an agreement with Jiangyin Zezhou Investment Co., Ltd (“JZI”) and 
Jiangyin Shunyuan Investment Co., Ltd (“JSI”) to acquire 80% of JZI’s and 20% of JSI’s interests, respectively in 
JJYLS, a company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China, which is equivalent to a 100% stake in JJYLS 
for a consideration of RMB1,000,000.

JJYLS was incorporated on 22 May 2006 as a labour subcontractor supplying labours to the ship builder, but 
has remained dormant. The paid in capital of JJYLS is RMB1,000,000.
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23. iNVESTMENTS iN ASSoCiATED CoMPANiES

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January 14,102 54,600
Addition 40,000 80,400
Disposal – (118,144)
Share of losses (3,357) (2,754)

As at 31 December 50,745 14,102

The summarised financial information of associated companies are as follows:

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Total assets 229,591 98,819
Total liabilities (4,905) (85,317)
Revenue 6,443 20,903
Loss for the year (6,816) (1,497)

Details of associated companies are provided in Note 41.

The Group’s wholly-owned subsidiary, JYS, invested RMB40,000,000 in a newly incorporated entity, namely 
Everbright Venture Capital Jiangyin Co., Ltd in 2009, representing 20% of the total paid-in capital of the 
entity.
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24. PRoPERTY, PLANT AND EQuiPMENT

The Group

Buildings Machinery Vehicles

Furniture, 

fittings and 

equipment

Construction

 in progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2009

Cost

As at 1 January 2009 1,204,831 500,021 40,433 17,039 435,942 2,198,266

Additions 541 70,337 22,709 4,278 30,641 128,506

Transfers 103,256 110,888 – – (214,144) –

As at 31 December 2009 1,308,628 681,246 63,142 21,317 252,439 2,326,772

Accumulated depreciation

As at 1 January 2009 (113,545) (109,533) (10,332) (3,273) – (236,683)

Additions (63,675) (52,172) (5,465) (2,197) – (123,509)

As at 31 December 2009 (177,220) (161,705) (15,797) (5,470) – (360,192)

Net book value as 

 at 31 December 2009 1,131,408 519,541 47,345 15,847 252,439 1,966,580

2008

Cost

As at 1 January 2008 753,760 403,349 30,005 10,255 188,949 1,386,318

Acquisition of subsidiaries 446,334 922 – 23 – 447,279

Additions – 10,473 11,187 7,626 355,370 384,656

Transfers 17,094 90,399 – – (107,493) –

Disposal of subsidiary (12,357) (1,310) (4) (117) (884) (14,672)

Disposals – (3,812) (755) (748) – (5,315)

As at 31 December 2008 1,204,831 500,021 40,433 17,039 435,942 2,198,266

Accumulated depreciation

As at 1 January 2008 (73,718) (72,827) (7,157) (2,527) – (156,229)

Additions (39,827) (40,311) (3,754) (1,460) – (85,352)

Disposals – 3,605 579 714 – 4,898

As at 31 December 2008 (113,545) (109,533) (10,332) (3,273) – (236,683)

Net book value as 

 at 31 December 2008 1,091,286 390,488 30,101 13,766 435,942 1,961,583
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25. iNTANGiBLE ASSETS

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Computer Software
Cost
As at 1 January 626 626
Additions 70 –

As at 31 December 696 626

Accumulated amortisation
As at 1 January (215) (90)
Amortisation charge (classified as administrative expense 
 in the income statement) (138) (125)

As at 31 December (353) (215)

Net book value at 31 December 343 411

26. TRADE AND BiLLS PAYABLES

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables 772,232 685,946
Bills payables 168,000 –

940,232 685,946

Bills payable were bills of exchange with average maturity dates of less than 6 months.

27. ACCRuALS, oTHER PAYABLES AND oTHER LiABiLiTiES

The Group The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Other payables
 – Due to related parties (Note 36) 5,231 5,231 5,231 5,231
 – Due to subsidiaries – – 179,827 –
 – Due to an associated company (Note 36) – 1,403 – –
 – Non-related parties 187,452 191,729 1,570 1,820
Other operating accruals 199,093 29,275 44,919 29,275
Other tax payable 67,881 26,676 – –

459,657 254,314 231,547 36,326

The amounts due to related parties, subsidiaries, associated company, and non-related parties are unsecured, 
interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.
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28. BoRRoWiNGS

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current
Bank borrowings 907,077 489,983

Bank borrowings are secured by restricted cash (Note 13).

The weighted average effective interest rates at the respective balance sheet dates were as follows:

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Bank borrowings
 – Singapore Dollar 1.67% –
 – United States Dollar 1.68% 5.85%
 – Euro – 7.33%

The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate risks are categorised by the earlier of contractual 
repricing dates or maturity dates as follow:

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

– Six months or less 144,310 414,171
– Six months to one year 762,767 75,812

907,077 489,983

29. PRoViSioNS

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Warranty 188,296 94,127

The Group gives one year warranties on completed and delivered vessels and undertakes to repair or replace 
items that fail to perform satisfactorily. A provision is recognised at the balance sheet date for expected warranty 
claims based on past experience of the level of repairs.
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29. PRoViSioNS (CoNTiNuED)

Movement in provision for warranty is as follows:

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January 94,127 71,747
Provision made 108,768 32,964
Provision utilised (14,599) (10,584)

As at 31 December 188,296 94,127

30. DEFERRED iNCoME TAX

The Group The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Deferred tax assets (44,590) (46,310) – –

Deferred tax liabilities
 – to be settled within one year 7,191 11,999 – 10,918
 – to be settled after one year 156,844 963 156,844 963

164,035 12,962 156,844 11,881

Movements in deferred income tax assets during the year are as follow:

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January (46,310) (8,610)
Effect of changes in PRC tax rate – (9,300)
Charged/(credited) to income statement 1,720 (28,400)

As at 31 December (44,590) (46,310)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through 
the future taxable profit is probable.

Deferred tax assets of RMB 21,981,000 (2008: RMB 15,531,000) have been recognised for the provision of 
warranties. 

Deferred tax assets of RMB 22,609,000 (2008: RMB 30,779,000) have been recognised for the fair value losses 
on derivative financial instruments. 

The deferred tax assets are expected to be recovered within one year.
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30. DEFERRED iNCoME TAX (CoNTiNuED)
Movements in deferred income tax liabilities during the year are as follow:

The Group The Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January 12,962 1,168 11,881 –
Charged to income statement 150,742 12,962 144,963 11,881
Charged/(credited) to equity 331 (1,168) – –

As at 31 December 164,035 12,962 156,844 11,881

Deferred tax liabilities of RMB156,844,000 (2008: Nil) have been recognised for the withholding taxes that will 
be payable on the earnings of overseas subsidiaries when remitted to the Company.

Deferred tax liabilities of RMB7,191,000 (2008: RMB12,962,000) have been recognised for the fair value gains 
on derivative financial instruments.

In the previous financial year, the deferred tax liabilities of the Company have been recognised for the fair value 
gains on derivative financial instruments.

31. SHARE CAPiTAL
Number of shares Amount

issued
share

capital
Treasury

shares
Share

capital
Treasury 

shares
’000 ’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Group

2009
Beginning and end of financial year 3,653,522 (239) 4,980,010 (610)

2008
Beginning of financial year 3,300,897 – 3,337,159 –
Treasury shares purchased (Note (a)) – (228,239) – (582,775)
Share issue (Note (b)) 352,625 – 1,642,851 –
Treasury shares transferred (Note (a))
 – Consideration paid in acquiring a subsidiary – 228,000 – 582,165

End of financial year 3,653,522 (239) 4,980,010 (610)

Company

2009
Beginning and end of financial year 3,653,522 (239) 4,944,793 (610)

2008
Beginning of financial year 3,300,897 – 3,301,942 –
Treasury shares purchased (Note (a)) – (228,239) – (582,775)
Share issue (Note (b)) 352,625 – 1,642,851 –
Treasury shares transferred (Note (a))
 – Consideration paid in acquiring a subsidiary – 228,000 – 582,165

End of financial year 3,653,522 (239) 4,944,793 (610)
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31. SHARE CAPiTAL (CoNTiNuED)

(a) Treasury shares

During 2008, the Company acquired 228,239,000 shares in the Company through purchases on the 
Singapore Exchange. The total amount paid to acquire the shares was RMB582,775,000 and this was 
presented as a component with shareholders’ equity.

The Company transferred 228,000,000 treasury shares during 2008 pursuant to the acquisition of 100% 
interests in JTME (Note 22) at the exercise price of SGD 52 cents each, for a total consideration of 
RMB541,973,000. The cost of acquiring these 228,000,000 treasury shares was RMB582,165,000 which 
was reserved from the treasury share account and the difference of RMB40,192,000 was recognised in 
the capital reserve of the Company.

(b) Ordinary shares

During 2008, the Company allotted and issued 352,625,000 new ordinary shares to HKHI pursuant to 
the acquisition of 24.81% equity interests in JNYS (Note 22) at the fair value of SGD 90 cents each, for 
a total consideration of RMB1,642,851,000.

All issued ordinary shares are fully paid. There is no par value for these ordinary shares.

32. oTHER RESERVE

(a) Foreign statutory reserve

(i) Statutory surplus reserve and statutory public welfare reserve

JYS and JNYS are considered as Wholly Owned Foreign Entity (“WOFE”) from April 2006. They 
are not subject to the provision of statutory surplus reserve and statutory public welfare reserve 
since then. This reserve pertained to the profit appropriation prior to April 2006, when JYS was 
a domestic entity till April 2004, and a joint venture using Chinese and foreign investment till 
March 2006.

(ii) Reserve fund and enterprise expansion fund

JYS and JNYS are considered as WOFE from April 2006. They are not subject to the provision of 
enterprise expansion fund since then. This reserve pertained to those profit appropriation prior to 
April 2006, when JYS was a joint venture using Chinese and foreign investment till March 2006, 
and that of 10% appropriated for reserve fund.

JYS and JNYS may discontinue the contribution to the reserve fund when the aggregate sum 
more than 50% of their registered capital in accordance with the “Law of the PRC on Enterprise 
Operated Exclusively with Foreign Capital”.
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32. oTHER RESERVE (CoNTiNuED)

(b) Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents capital investments and distribution relating to equity transactions with 
shareholders. Included within is RMB200,689,000 arising from reverse acquisition of JYS in 2007.

33. DiViDENDS

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Ordinary dividends paid
Final exempt dividend paid in respect of the previous financial year of 
 SGD1.8 cents (2008: SGD 1.565 cents) per share 310,843 265,920
Interim dividends declared in respect of current year – 165,106

310,843 431,026

A final exempt (one-tier) dividend of SGD3.5 cents per share amounting to approximately S$127,865,000 
(approximately equivalent of RMB622,191,000) has been recommended for the shareholders’ approval at the 
Annual General Meeting on 27 April 2010. These financial statements do not reflect this dividend, which will 
be accounted for in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of retained earnings in the financial year ending 
31 December 2010.

34. CoMMiTMENTS

(a) Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for at balance sheet date but not yet incurred are as follows:

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Property, plant and equipment 31,338 175,816
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34. CoMMiTMENTS (CoNTiNuED)

(b) Operating lease commitments – where the Group is a lessee

The Group leases land use rights and port line use rights under non-cancellable operating lease 
agreements.

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

No later than 1 year 2,128 1,851
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 5,713 7,659
Later than 5 years 1,915 2,098

9,756 11,608

35. FiNANCiAL RiSK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit 
risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise adverse effects from the 
unpredictability of financial markets on the Group’s financial performance. The Group uses financial instruments 
such as currency forwards and foreign currency borrowings to manage certain financial risk exposures.

The management is responsible for setting the objectives and underlying principles of financial risk management 
for the Group, including establishing operating guidelines governing the hedging activities of the Group, such 
as authority levels, oversight responsibilities, risk identification and measurement, exposure limits and hedging 
strategies.

(a) Market risk

(I) Currency risk

The Group has shipbuilding contracts with customers around the world and is exposed to currency 
risk arising from US Dollar (“USD”) and Euro (“EUR”) as these future commercial transactions and 
their related assets and liabilities are denominated in currencies that are not the Group’s functional 
currency. The Group aims to mitigate the currency risk when negotiating the contract price and 
payment terms of shipbuilding contracts.

The Group will only enter into foreign currency forward contracts, in accordance with the Group’s 
risk management policies, to hedge the sales proceeds from shipbuilding contracts denominated 
in foreign currencies.
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35. FiNANCiAL RiSK MANAGEMENT (CoNTiNuED)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(I) Currency risk (continued)

The Group’s currency exposure based on the information provided to key management is as 
follows:

RMB uSD EuR SGD Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Group

At 31 December 2009

Financial assets

Trade receivables 621,152 444,016 233,486 – 1,298,654

Other receivables and 

 other assets 877,034 – – – 877,034

Financial assets at 

 fair value, through 

 profit or loss 5,420 – – – 5,420

Available-for-sale 

 financial assets 300 – – – 300

Held-to-maturity 

 investment 4,788,367 – – – 4,788,367

Restricted cash 2,912,355 43,535 23,756 – 2,979,646

Cash and cash equivalents 2,911,374 739,049 41,671 114,861 3,806,955

12,116,002 1,226,600 298,913 114,861 13,756,376

Financial liabilities

Borrowings – (667,820) – (239,257) (907,077)

Trade and bills payables (940,232) – – – (940,232)

Accruals, other payables 

 and other liabilities (389,903) – – (1,997) (391,900)

(1,330,135) (667,820) – (241,254) (2,239,209)

Net financial assets/

 (liabilities) 10,785,867 558,780 298,913 (126,393) 11,517,167

Less:  Net financial assets 

denominated in the 

respective entities’ 

functional currency (10,785,867) – – –

Currency exposure – 558,780 298,913 (126,393)
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35. FiNANCiAL RiSK MANAGEMENT (CoNTiNuED)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(i) Currency risk (continued)

RMB uSD EuR SGD Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Group

At 31 December 2008 

 (continued)

Financial assets

Trade receivables 403,402 120,330 76,297 – 600,029

Other receivables 

 and other assets 597,326 – – – 597,326

Financial assets at fair 

 value, through 

 profit or loss 1,213,592 – – – 1,213,592

Available-for-sale 

 financial assets 9,300 – – – 9,300

Held-to-maturity 

 investment 1,782,049 – – – 1,782,049

Restricted cash 2,242,038 369,256 7,736 – 2,619,030

Cash and cash equivalents 2,877,466 165,524 13,343 4,051 3,060,384

9,125,173 655,110 97,376 4,051 9,881,710

Financial liabilities

Borrowings – (385,387) (104,596) – (489,983)

Trade payables (685,946) – – – (685,946)

Accruals, other payables 

 and other liabilities (237,478) (5,466) (2,228) (9,142) (254,314)

(923,424) (390,853) (106,824) (9,142) (1,430,243)

                   

Net financial assets/

 (liabilities) 8,201,749 264,257 (9,448) (5,091) 8,451,467

Less:  Net financial assets 

denominated in the 

respective entities’ 

functional currency (8,201,749) – – –

Currency exposure – 264,257 (9,448) (5,091)
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35. FiNANCiAL RiSK MANAGEMENT (CoNTiNuED)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(i) Currency risk (continued)

The Company’s currency exposure based on the information provided to key management is as 
follows:

RMB uSD EuR SGD Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Company
At 31 December 2009
Financial assets
Other receivables 
 and other assets 942,708 – – – 942,708
Cash and cash equivalents – 20,653 – 114,781 135,434

942,708 20,653 – 114,781 1,078,142

Financial liabilities
Accruals, other payables 
 and other liabilities (229,550) – – (1,997) (231,547)

Net financial assets 713,158 20,653 – 112,784 846,595

Less:  Net financial assets 
denominated in the 
respective entities’ 
functional currency (713,158) – – –

Currency exposure – 20,653 – 112,784

At 31 December 2008
Financial assets
Other receivables 
 and other assets 646,211 – – – 646,211
Cash and cash equivalents – 24 – 4,049 4,073

646,211 24 – 4,049 650,284

Financial liabilities
Accruals, other payables 
and other liabilities (27,184) – – (9,142) (36,326)

Net financial assets 619,027 24 – (5,093) 613,958

Less:  Net financial assets 
denominated in the 
respective entities’ 
functional currency (619,027) – – –

Currency exposure – 24 – (5,093)
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35. FiNANCiAL RiSK MANAGEMENT (CoNTiNuED)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(i) Currency risk (continued)

If the USD, EUR and SGD change against the RMB by 5% (2008: 5%) respectively with all other 
variables including tax rate being held constant, the effects arising from the net financial assets 
position will be as follows:

2009 2008
increase/(decrease)

 

Profit 
after tax Equity

Profit 
after tax Equity

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Group
USD against RMB
 – strengthened 25,145 (110,459) 12,618 (479,601)
 – weakened (25,145) 110,459 (12,618) 479,601
EUR against RMB
 – strengthened 13,451 – (451) –
 – weakened (13,451) – 451 –
SGD against RMB
 – strengthened (5,688) – (243) –
 – weakened 5,688 – 243 –

Company
USD against RMB
 – strengthened 857 – 1 –
 – weakened (857) – (1) –
SGD against RMB
 – strengthened 4,681 – (209) –
 – weakened (4,681) – 209 –

(ii) Price risk

The Group is exposed to financial product price risk mainly due to investments held by the Group 
which are classified as at fair value through profit or loss and available for sale financial assets. 
To manage its price risk arising from investments, the Group ensure that the investment is within 
authorised mandate based on its approved risk management and operating guidelines.

The Group does not believe that they are significantly exposed to the price risk in the current year. 
In the previous financial year, to manage the price risk of an investment in a financial product, the 
Group ensured that the underlying investments were mandate investments in high credit quality 
financial assets within the PRC.
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35. FiNANCiAL RiSK MANAGEMENT (CoNTiNuED)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risks arise primarily from its cash and cash equivalents, held-to-maturity 
financial assets and borrowings with financial institutions. The Group’s policy is to minimize 
exposure to variable interest rates.

As at 31 December 2009, the Group’s investment in held-to-maturity financial assets and borrowings 
were not exposed to cash flow interest rate risk as they were all fixed rated instruments.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the Group.

(i) Trade receivables

The credit risk for trade receivables as at 31 December based on the information provided to key 
management is as follows:

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

By geographical areas
Germany 426,218 292,407
Canada – 240,771
Other European countries 251,285 –
China 621,151 66,851

1,298,654 600,029

Concentration of credit risk with respect to the trade receivables is limited as the Group adopts the 
policy of dealing with customers of appropriate credit history and obtaining guaranteed letters of 
credit and advances, amounting to not less than 20% of the total contract amount, from registered 
banks of the customers’ home countries.

There are no recent history of significant defaults in relation to trade receivables. The Group’s 
trade receivables are all neither past due nor impaired as these amounts are due from customers 
with a good collection track record with the Group.

(ii) Financial assets

For held-to-maturity financial assets, financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss and other 
financial assets, the Group adopts the policy of dealing only with high credit quality counterparties 
in the PRC and internationally. There are no recent history of significant defaults in relation to 
financial assets.

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are mainly held in major financial 
institutions located in the PRC and Singapore, which management believes are of high credit 
quality and expects no significant credit risks.

The management is of the opinion that the Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. 
Without taking into consideration of the collaterals held by the Group, the maximum exposure 
to credit risk for each category of financial instruments is the carrying amount of those financial 
instruments. There are no financial assets that are past due and/or impaired.
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35. FiNANCiAL RiSK MANAGEMENT (CoNTiNuED)

(c) Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and marketable 
securities to enable them to meet their normal operating commitments.

The table below analyses the maturity profile of the Group’s and Company’s non-derivative financial 
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings on the remaining period from the balance sheet date to the 
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash 
flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not 
significant.

Less than 
1 year

Between 
1 year and 

2 years
RMB’000 RMB’000

Group
As at 31 December 2009
Bank borrowings (912,951)
Trade and bills payables (940,232) –
Accruals, other payables and other liabilities (391,900) –

(2,245,083) –

As at 31 December 2008
Bank borrowings (502,147) –
Trade payables (685,946) –
Accruals, other payables and other liabilities (254,314) –

(1,442,407) –

Company
As at 31 December 2009
Accruals, other payables and other liabilities (231,547) –

As at 31 December 2008
Accruals, other payables and other liabilities (36,326) (5,351)
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35. FiNANCiAL RiSK MANAGEMENT (CoNTiNuED)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

The table below analyses the Group’s and the Company’s derivative financial instruments for which 
contractual maturities are essential for an understanding of the timing of the cash flows into relevant 
maturity groupings based on the remaining period from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity 
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 
12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Less than 
1 year

Between 
1 year and 

2 years
RMB’000 RMB’000

Group
As at 31 December 2009
Gross-settled currency forwards
– Receipts 19,015,262 –
– Payments (19,133,529) –

(118,267) –

As at 31 December 2008
Gross-settled currency forwards
– Receipts 3,198,916 2,036,120
– Payments (3,258,177) (2,159,234)

(59,261) (123,114)

Company
As at 31 December 2009
Gross-settled currency forwards
– Receipts – –
– Payments – –

– –

As at 31 December 2008
Gross-settled currency forwards
– Receipts 1,512,513 83,475
– Payments (1,569,086) (88,826)

(56,573) (5,351)
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35. FiNANCiAL RiSK MANAGEMENT (CoNTiNuED)

(d) Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and to maintain an optimal capital structure so as to maximise shareholder value. In order to 
maintain or achieve an optimal capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment, 
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, buy back issued shares, obtain new borrowings or sell 
assets to reduce borrowings. Consistent with the industry practice, the Group monitors capital on the 
basis of the total liabilities to total assets ratio.

The Group’s strategy is to maintain a stable total liabilities to total assets ratio. The ratios at 31 December 
2009 and 31 December 2008 were as follows:

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Total liabilities 14,100,914 13,904,547
Total assets 20,411,218 18,219,985

Debt-to-asset ratio 69.08% 76.31%

The Group and the Company are in compliance with all externally imposed capital requirements for the 
financial years ended 31 December 2009 and 2008.

(e) Fair value measurements

Effective 1 January 2009 the Group adopted the amendment to FRS 107 which requires disclosure of fair 
value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

(a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);

(b) inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly (ie as prices) or indirectly (ie derived from prices) (Level 2); and

(c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) 
(Level 3).

The following table presents our assets and liabilities measured at fair value at 31 December 2009.
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35. FiNANCiAL RiSK MANAGEMENT (CoNTiNuED)

(e) Fair value measurements (continued)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Group
Assets
Financial assets at fair value 
 through profit or loss
 – Trading securities 5,420 – – 5,420
Non-hedging derivatives – 70,142 – 70,142

Total assets 5,420 70,142 – 75,562

Liabilities
Derivatives used for hedging – (103,006) – (103,006)
Non-hedging derivatives – (51,942) – (51,942)

Total liabilities – (154,948) – (154,948)

Company
Assets
Non-hedging derivatives – 70,142 – 70,142

Fair value measurement of trading securities using quoted market prices (current bid prices) are classified 
as Level 1 in the fair value measurement hierarchy.

Fair value measurement of currency forwards using estimated discounted cash flow with reference 
to quoted forward exchange rate at the balance sheet date are classified as Level 2 in the fair value 
measurement hierarchy.

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTioNS

In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the transactions took place 
between the Group and related parties, at terms agreed between the parties:

(a) Related party transactions

The Group had the following significant transactions with the following related parties.

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Service provided by an associated company
Ship designing services – Shanghai Henggao Ships Designing Co., Ltd 
 (an associated company) 1,800 12,010
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTioNS (CoNTiNuED)

(b) Related party balances

As at 31 December 2009 and 2008, the Group had the following balances with related parties:

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Balances with ultimate shareholders of the Company
Other payables (Note 27)
Newyard Worldwide Holdings Ltd 5,231 5,231

Balances with associated companies
Other payables
 Shanghai Henggao Ships Designing Co., Ltd (Note 27) – 1,403

Advances to
 Shanghai Henggao Ships Designing Co., Ltd (Note 17) – 19,720

(c) Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel compensation is analysed as follow:

The Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Directors
 Basic salaries 87 89
 Director fees 437 347
 Contributions to defined contribution plans 30 31
 Discretionary bonuses 160 60
Senior management
 Basic salaries 1,738 1,802
 Contributions to defined contribution plans 255 261
 Discretionary bonuses 96 20
Profit sharing scheme (see Note 8) 25,751 17,170

28,554 19,780
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37. SEGMENT iNFoRMATioN

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Executive Committee 
(“Exco”) that are used to make strategic decisions. The Exco comprises of executive directors in the Board.

The Exco considers the business from only a business segment perspective, as geographically, management 
manages and monitors the business only from the PRC.

The segment information provided to the Exco for the reportable segments for the year ended 31 December 
2009 is as follows:

Shipbuilding investments Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Group

For the financial year ended 31 December 2009
Revenue 10,623,642 – 10,623,642
Other income – 185,723 185,723
Other gains – net – 88,484 88,484

10,623,642 274,207 10,897,849

Segment result 2,234,672 274,207 2,508,879

Total assets 14,230,138 4,793,787 19,023,925

Total liabilities (12,959,896) – (12,959,896)

The segment information provided to the Exco for the reportable segments for the year ended 31 December 
2008 is as follows:

Shipbuilding investments Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Group

For the financial year ended 31 December 2008
Revenue 7,359,096 – 7,359,096
Other income – 89,679 89,679
Other gains – 23,592 23,592

7,359,096 113,271 7,472,367

Segment result 1,363,012 113,271 1,476,283

Total assets 14,276,561 2,995,641 17,272,202

Total liabilities 13,340,125 – 13,340,125
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37. SEGMENT iNFoRMATioN (CoNTiNuED)

The Exco assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of segment results. 
Administrative expenses, foreign currency exchange differences, are not allocated to segments, as all this type 
of activities are shared by each segment. Interest income on cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and finance 
expenses are not allocated to segments, as this type of activity is driven by the treasury of the Group, which 
manages the cash position of the group.

A reconciliation of segment results to profit before tax is provided as follows:

2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB’000

Segment results for reportable segments 2,508,879 1,476,283
Other income 174,804 142,752
Other gains 90,224 250,647
Administrative expenses (212,539) (160,421)
Share of results of associated companies (3,357) (2,754)
Finance expense (8,461) (6,643)

Profit before tax 2,549,550 1,699,864

Reportable segments’ assets are reconciled to total assets as follows:

The amounts provided to the Exco with respect to total assets are measured in a manner consistent with that of 
the financial statements. All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than restricted cash pledged for 
borrowings, investment in associated companies, deferred income tax assets, other receivables, and available-
for-sale financial assets.

2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB’000

Segment assets for reportable segments 19,023,925 17,272,202
Unallocated:
 Restricted cash 907,077 489,983
 Other receivables, prepayments and other assets 384,581 388,088
 Investment in associated companies 50,745 14,102
 Deferred income tax assets 44,590 46,310
 Available for sale financial assets 300 9,300

20,411,218 18,219,985
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37. SEGMENT iNFoRMATioN (CoNTiNuED)

Reportable segments’ liabilities are reconciled to total liabilities as follows:

The amounts provided to the Exco with respect to total liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with 
that of the financial statements. All liabilities are allocated to the reportable segments other than income tax 
liabilities, borrowings and deferred income tax liabilities.

2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB’000

Segment liabilities for reportable segments 12,959,896 13,340,125
Unallocated:
 Income tax liabilities 69,906 61,477
 Deferred income tax liabilities 164,035 12,962
 Borrowings 907,077 489,983

14,100,914 13,904,547

Geographical information

The Group’s sales, based on the customers’ location, are mainly in countries such as Germany, China, Canada 
and other European countries:

Year ended 31 December
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Germany 4,608,085 3,926,931
Canada 1,279,170 2,086,918
Other European Counties 3,674,049 1,036,722
China 891,655 308,525
Japan 170,683 –

10,623,642 7,359,096

Revenues of approximately RMB3,773,206,000 (2008: RMB4,004,469,000) are derived from three (2008: three) 
major customers. These revenues are attributable to the shipbuilding segment.

The Group’s non-current assets amount to RMB 5,701,111,000 (2008: RMB 2,418,120,000) are mainly located 
in the PRC.
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38. NEW ACCouNTiNG STANDARDS AND FRS iNTERPRETATioNS

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published and are 
mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010 or later periods and which 
the Group has not early adopted. The Group is currently assessing the impact of adopting those standards, 
amendments and interpretations. The Group does not expect the adoption of these standards to be of significant 
impact, except the following:

(a) FRS 27 (revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 July 2009).

FRS 27 (revised) requires the effects of all transactions with non-controlling interests to be recorded in 
equity if there is no change in control and these transactions will no longer result in goodwill or gains 
and losses. The standard also specifies the accounting when control is lost. Any remaining interest in the 
entity is re-measured to fair value, and a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. The Group will apply 
FRS 27 (revised) prospectively to transactions with minority interests from 1 January 2010.

(b) FRS 103 (revised) Business Combinations (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 
2009)

FRS 103 (revised) continues to apply the acquisition method to business combinations, with some 
significant changes. For example, all payments to purchase a business are to be recorded at fair value at 
the acquisition date, with contingent payments classified as debt subsequently re-measured through the 
income statement. There is a choice on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis to measure the non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree either at fair vale or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s net assets. All acquisition-related costs should be expensed. The Group will apply FRS 103 
(Revised) prospectively to all business combinations from 1 January 2010.

39. CoMPARATiVE FiNANCiAL iNFoRMATioN

For the financial year ended 31 December 2009, the Company reclassified cash used in the acquisition of equity 
interest in existing subsidiaries from minority shareholder for the financial year ended 31 December 2008 of 
RMB1,119,786,000 from the investing activities to the financing activities, to reflect the nature and policy 
adopted for transaction with minority shareholder.

40. AuTHoRiSATioN oF FiNANCiAL STATEMENTS

These financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors 
of Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd passed on 24 March 2010.
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41. LiSTiNG oF SiGNiFiCANT CoMPANiES iN THE GRouP

Name

Place and date of 

establishment

Paid-in capital 

(RMB’000)

Attributable 

equity interests Principal activities

2009 2008 2009 2008

Subsidiaries

Jiangsu Yangzijiang 

 Shipbuilding Co.,

 Ltd. (“JYS”)(1) and (4)

Jiangyin

the PRC,

22 December 1999

622,600 622,600 100% 100% Building, repair, dismantling 

of vessels with tonnage of 

55,000 tons or less;

Production and processing of 

large scale steel structures, 

belt transportation machinery;

Production of oxygen and 

nitrogen;

Sale and provision of 

technical consultancy services 

and after sales service with 

regards to products produced 

by the company

Jiangsu New Yangzi 

 Shipbuilding Co.,

 Ltd. (“JNYS”)(1) and (4)

Jingjiang

the PRC,

12 May 2005

518,000 518,000 100% 100% Ship manufacturing, 

maintenance and breaking;

Large-scale steel structure 

products processing and 

manufacturing;

Sale of self-manufactured 

products and after-sale 

service;

Import and export business 

for various merchandise and 

technologies

SEAVI Advent Asia 

 Investments (III) Ltd. 

 (“SEAVI”) (2)

Virgin Islands

British,

24 May 2006

N.M N.M 100% 100% Investment holding

Yitian Investments

 Pte Ltd. 

 (“Yitian”)

Singapore,

3 September 2008

N.M N.M 100% 100% Investment holding

Baoling Investments 

 Pte Ltd. 

 (“Baoling”)

Singapore,

5 September 2008

N.M N.M 100% 100% Investment holding

Pleasant Way Analyse 

 Development Ltd. 

 (“PWAD”) (2)

Virgin Islands

British,

2 April 2008

N.M N.M 100% 100% Investment holding
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Name

Place and date of 

establishment

Paid-in capital 

(RMB’000)

Attributable 

equity interests Principal activities

2009 2008 2009 2008

Subsidiaries (continued)

Jiangsu Runzhou Ship 

 Accessories Co.,

 Ltd. (“JRS”)

Jiangyin

the PRC,

27 November 2006

180,000 180,000 100% 100% Manufacturing of ship 

accessories

Jiangyin Yangchuan

 Labour Supply Co., 

 Ltd. (“JYLS”)

Jiangsu

the PRC,

30 October 2008

1,000 1,000 100% 100% Labour subcontractor to 

supply labour to the ship 

builder

Jiangsu Tianyuan

 Marine Import and

 Export Co., Ltd.

 (“JTY”)

Jiangsu

the PRC,

15 February 2008

10,000 10,000 100% 100% Facilitating the sale and 

export of ships to the ship 

builder

Jiangsu Jingjiang

 Yangzi Labour

 Supply Co., Ltd.

 (“JJYLS“)

Jiangsu

the PRC,

22 May 2008

1,000 1,000 100% 100% Labour subcontractor to 

supply labour to the ship 

builder

Jiangsu Tongzhou 

 Marine Equipment 

 Co., Ltd. (“JTME”)

Jiangsu

the PRC,

6 November 2008

262,000 262,000 100% 100% Providing facility and 

production area for structural 

building in blocks, block 

outfitting and modularisation 

of outfitting into units

Jiangsu Yangchuan 

 Equipment and 

 Materials Co., Ltd. 

 (“JYEM”)

Jiangsu

the PRC,

22 October 2009

10,000 – 100% – Supply of marine equipment 

and materials

Associated companies

Shanghai Henggao

 Ships Designing Co.,

 Ltd. (“SHSD”)(3)

Shanghai

the PRC,

28 February 2005

15,000 15,000 60% 60% Engaging in the design and 

conceptual development for a 

wide range of merchant ships

Everbright Venture 

 Capital Jiangyin Co.,

 Ltd. (“EVCJ”)(3)

Jiangsu

the PRC,

1 July 2009

500,000 – 20% – Engaging in the venture 

capital investment providing 

seed capital

(1) Audited for purposes of preparation of consolidated financial statements.
(2) Not required to be audited under the laws of the country of incorporation.
(3) Not consolidated as the entity is not controlled by the Group but deemed to be an associated company as the Group 

has significant influence over the entity.
(4) JYS and JNYS are audited by Jiangyin Da Qiao CPAs Limited Company and Jiangsu Tian Cheng CPAs Limited Company 

respectively for local statuary purpose.

N.M Not material for disclosure purpose.

41. LiSTiNG oF SiGNiFiCANT CoMPANiES iN THE GRouP (CoNTiNuED)
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Issued and fully paid-up shares capital: S$975,589,555 or (RMB4,980,010,000)
Number of shares (excluding treasury share): 3,653,283,000
Class of shares: Ordinary Shares
Voting per share: One vote per share
Treasury Shares: 239,000

DiSTRiBuTioN oF SHAREHoLDiNGS

SiZE oF SHAREHoLDiNGS
No. oF

SHAREHoLDERS % No. oF SHARES %

1 – 999 17 0.06 4,145 0.00
1,000 – 10,000 19,721 68.92 107,996,202 2.96
10,001 – 1,000,000 8,840 30.90 343,485,532 9.40
1,000,001 AND ABOVE 34 0.12 3,201,797,121 87.64

TOTAL: 28,612 100.00 3,653,283,000 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHoLDERS

No. NAME No. oF SHARES %

1. Newyard Worldwide Holdings Ltd 883,668,000 24.19
2. HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd 573,553,249 15.70
3. Lido Point Investments Ltd. 510,466,000 13.97
4. Hong Kong Hengyuan Investment Limited 376,364,900 10.30
5. Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 224,890,199 6.16
6. Almond Beach Resources Corporation 184,086,000 5.04
7. DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 174,401,839 4.77
8. DBSN Services Pte Ltd 69,158,834 1.89
9. Raffles Nominees (Pte) Ltd 39,931,521 1.09

10. United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 25,554,851 0.70
11. OCBC Securities Private Ltd 22,108,000 0.61
12. BNP Paribas Securities Services Singapore Pte Ltd 17,318,600 0.47
13. UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd 14,796,000 0.41
14. Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 11,145,000 0.31
15. DBS Vickers Securities (S) Pte Ltd 8,585,000 0.23
16. Kim Eng Securities Pte. Ltd. 7,843,000 0.21
17. DB Nominees (S) Pte Ltd 7,598,956 0.21
18. OCBC Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 5,715,500 0.16
19. Hl Bank Nominees (S) Pte Ltd 5,301,000 0.15
20. CIMB-GK Securities Pte. Ltd. 4,688,000 0.13

3,167,174,449 86.70
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SuBSTANTiAL SHAREHoLDERS

Direct interest Deemed interest
Number of

Shares %
Number of

Shares %

Newyard Worldwide Holdings Ltd 883,668,000(1) 24.19 – –
Almond Beach Resources Corporation 184,086,000(2) 5.04 – –
Lido Point Investments Ltd. 510,466,000(3) 13.97 – –
Hong Kong Hengyuan Investment Limited 376,364,900(4) 10.30 – –
Ren Yuanlin 300,000 0.01 1,067,754,000(5) 29.23
Xiang Jianjun – – 883,668,000(1) 24.19
Ren Jinhua 1,690,000 0.05 184,086,000(2) 5.04
Wang Dong – – 510,466.000(3) 13.97
Chang Liang – – 376,364,900(4) 10.30

Notes:

(1) Xiang Jianjun is deemed to be interested in the Shares through his interest in Newyard Worldwide Holdings Ltd by virtue of 
Section 7 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50.

(2) Ren Jinhua is deemed to be interested in the Share through his interest in Almond Beach Resources Corporation by virtue of 
Section 7 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50.

(3) Wang Dong is deemed to be interested in the Shares through his interest in Lido Point Investments Ltd. by virtue of Section 
7 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50.

(4) Chang Liang is deemed to be interested in the Shares through his interest in Hong Kong Hengyuan Investment Limited by 
virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50.

(5) Ren Yuanlin is deemed to be interested in the Shares through his interest in Newyard Worldwide Holdings Ltd and Almond 
Beach Resources Corporation by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50.

SHAREHoLDiNG HELD iN PuBLiC HANDS

Approximately 35.88% of the shareholding of the Company is held in the hands of the public as at 8 March 2010 and 
Rule 723 of the Listing Manual is complied with.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at Meeting Room 203, Level 
2, Suntec Singapore International Convention & Exhibition Centre, 1 Raffles Boulevard, Suntec City, Singapore 039593 
on Tuesday, 27 April 2010 at 2:00 p.m. to transact the following business:–

oRDiNARY BuSiNESS

1. To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2009 
and the Directors’ Reports and the Auditors’ Report thereon. (Resolution 1)

2. To declare a tax exempt (one-tier) final dividend of S$0.035 per ordinary share in respect of the financial year 
ended 31 December 2009. (Resolution 2)

3. To approve the proposed Directors’ fees of S$91,000 for the financial year ended 31 December 2009. (2008: 
S$91,500) (Resolution 3)

4. To re-elect the following Directors retiring by rotation pursuant to Article 94 of the Company’s Articles of 
Association:

(i) Mr Xiang Jianjun (Resolution 4)
(ii) Mr Wang Dong (Resolution 5)

5. To re-appoint Messrs PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix their 
remuneration. (Resolution 6)

SPECiAL BuSiNESS

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following Ordinary Resolutions, with or without modifications:

6. AuTHoRiTY To ALLoT AND iSSuE SHARES

“That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 and the listing rules of the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to:

(a) (i) issue ordinary shares in the capital of the Company (“Shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus 
  or otherwise; and/or

(ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “instruments”) that might or would 
require Shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as 
adjustments to) warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into Shares,

at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the 
Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit; and

(b) issue Shares in pursuance of any Instruments made or granted by the Directors while such authority 
was in force (notwithstanding that such issue of Shares pursuant to the Instruments may occur after the 
expiration of the authority contained in this resolution).
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provided that:

(1) the aggregate number of the Shares to be issued pursuant to such authority (including the Shares to be 
issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to such authority), does not exceed 50% 
(unless paragraph (3) below applies) of the total number of issued Shares (as calculated in accordance with 
paragraph (2) below), and provided further that where shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) 
are not given the opportunity to participate in the same on a pro-rata basis (“non pro-rata basis”), 
then the Shares to be issued under such circumstances (including the Shares to be issued in pursuance 
of Instruments made or granted pursuant to such authority) shall not exceed 20% of the total number 
of issued Shares (as calculated in accordance with paragraph (2) below);

(2) (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose of determining 
the aggregate number of the Shares that may be issued under paragraph (1) above, the total number of 
issued Shares shall be based on the issued Shares of the Company (excluding treasury shares) at the time 
such authority was conferred, after adjusting for:

(a) new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities;

(b) new Shares arising from the exercising share options or the vesting of share awards which are 
outstanding or subsisting at the time such authority was conferred; and

(c) any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of the Shares;

and, in relation to an Instrument, the number of Shares shall be taken to be that number as would have 
been issued had the rights therein been fully exercised or effected on the date of the making or granting 
of the Instrument;

(3) the 50% limit in paragraph (1) above may increased to 100% for issues of Shares and/or Instruments by 
way of a renounceable rights issue where Shareholders are given the opportunity to participate in the 
same on a pro-rata basis;

(4) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the requirements 
imposed by the SGX-ST from time to time and the provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the 
time being in force (in each case, unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST), all applicable 
legal requirements under the Companies Act and otherwise, and the Articles of Association of the 
Company for the time being; and

(5) (unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting) the authority so conferred shall continue 
in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which 
the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier 
except for paragraph (3) above which will expire on 31 December 2010 or any date to be extended by 
the SGX-ST, subject to their review.”

 (Resolution 7)
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7. INCREASE IN DISCOUNT LIMIT TO NOT MORE THAN 20% FOR NON PRO-RATA 
SHARE ISSUE

(a) “That notwithstanding Rule 811 of the Listing Manual issued by SGX-ST, the Directors of the Company 
be and are hereby authorized, pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Share Issue Mandate under 
Resolution 7 above, to issue new shares of the Company to subscribers or placees under a share placement 
at a discount that is more than 10% but not exceeding 20% to the weighted average price for trades 
done on the SGX-ST for the full market day on which the placement or subscription agreement is signed. 
If, however, trading in the Company’s shares is not available for a full market day, the weighted average 
price shall be based on trades done on the preceding market day up to the time the placement agreement 
or subscription agreement is signed.

(b) (unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting), the authority so conferred shall continue 
in force until 31 December 2010 or any date to be extended by the SGX-ST, subject to their review.”

 (Resolution 8)

8. RENEWAL OF SHARE PURCHASE MANDATE

“That:

(a) the exercise by the Directors of the Company of all the powers of the Company to purchase or otherwise 
acquire issued Ordinary Shares not exceeding in aggregate the Maximum Limit (as hereafter defined), at 
such price or prices as may be determined by the Directors of the Company from time to time up to the 
Maximum Price (as hereafter defined), whether by way of:

(i) market purchase(s) on the SGX-ST; and/or

(ii) off-market purchase(s) (if effected otherwise than on the SGX-ST) in accordance with any equal 
access scheme(s) as may be determined or formulated by the Directors of the Company as they 
consider fit, which scheme(s) shall satisfy all the conditions prescribed by the Companies Act;

and otherwise in accordance with all other laws and regulations and rules of the SGX-ST as may for the 
time being be applicable, be and is hereby authorised and approved generally and unconditionally (the 
“Share Purchase Mandate”),

(b) unless varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting, the authority conferred on the Directors of 
the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate may be exercised by the Directors of the Company 
at any time and from time to time during the period commencing from the date of the passing of this 
Resolution and expiring on the earlier of:

(i) the date on which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is held; or

(ii) the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be 
held;
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(c) in this Resolution:

“Maximum Limit” means that number of issued Ordinary Shares representing 10% of the total number 
of the issued Ordinary Shares as at the date of the passing of this Resolution (excluding any Ordinary 
Shares which are held as treasury shares as at that date);

“Maximum Price”, in relation to an Ordinary Share to be purchased or acquired, means the purchase 
price (excluding brokerage, commission, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) 
which shall not exceed:-

(i) in the case of a Market Purchase, 105% of the Average Closing Price (as defined hereinafter); 
and

(ii) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase, 120% of Average Closing Price (as defined hereinafter), 
pursuant to an equal access scheme;

“Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of a Share for the five 
consecutive Market Days on which the Shares are transacted on the SGX-ST immediately preceding the 
Ｄate of Market Purchase by the Company or, as the case may be, the date of the making of the offer 
pursuant to the Off-Market Purchase, and deemed to be adjusted in accordance with the Listing Rules 
for any corporate action which occurs after the relevant five Market Days;

“Date of the making of the offer” means the date on which the Company announces its intention to 
make an offer for an Off-Market Purchase, stating therein the purchase price (which shall not be more 
than the Maximum Price for an Off-Market Purchase calculated on the foregoing basis) for each Share 
and the relevant terms of the equal access scheme for effecting the Off-Market Purchase;

(d) the Directors of the Company and/or any of them be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all 
such acts and things (including executing such documents as may be required) as they and/or he may 
consider expedient or necessary to give effect to the transactions contemplated and/or authorised by this 
Resolution.”

 (Resolution 9)

9. To transact any other business which may be properly transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

By Order of the Board

Joanna Lim Lan Sim
Company Secretary
1 April 2010
Singapore
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STATEMENT PuRSuANT To ARTiCLE 56 oF THE CoMPANY’S ARTiCLE oF 
ASSoCiATioN:–

The effects of the resolutions under the heading “Special Business” in this Notice of Annual General Meeting are:

(a) The ordinary resolution 7 proposed in the item (6) above if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company 
from the date of the above meeting to issue shares in the Company up to an amount not exceeding in total 
50 per centum of the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company (or 100% in the case of 
pro-rata renounceable rights issue) with a sub-limit of 20% other than on a pro-rata basis to shareholders for 
the time being for such purposes as they consider would be in the interest of the Company. The authority will, 
unless previously revoked or varied at a general meeting, expire at the next Annual General Meeting (or on 31 
December 2010 or a date to be extended by the SGX-ST, subject to their review, for pro-rata renounceable 
rights issue as mentioned in paragraph (3) of the proposed Resolution 7) of the Company or the date by which 
the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.

(b) The ordinary resolution 8 proposed in item (7) above if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company to 
undertake placements of new shares on a non pro-rata basis priced at discounts of more than 10% but not 
exceeding 20% to the weighted average price of the shares determined in accordance with the requirement 
of SGX-ST. The authority will, unless previously revoked or varied at a general meeting, continue to be in force 
until 31 December 2010, or any date to be extended by the SGX-ST, subject to their review.

(c) The ordinary resolution 9 proposed in item (8) above if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company 
from the date of the above meeting until the date of the next Annual General Meeting to purchase or acquire 
up to 10% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at the date of the passing of this Resolution. 
Details of the proposed Share Purchase Mandate are set out in the Appendix.

(i) As at the date of this Notice, the Company has not purchased any share by way of market acquisition 
for cancellation.

(ii) The amount of financing required for the Company to further purchase or acquire its shares, and the 
impact on the Company’s financial position, cannot be ascertained as at the date of this Notice as this 
will depend on the number of the shares purchased or acquired and the price at which such shares were 
purchased or acquired.

(iii) The financial effects of the purchase or acquisition of shares by the Company pursuant to the proposed 
Share Purchase Mandate on the Group’s audited financial statements for the financial year ended 31 
December 2009 are set out in Appendix I to the Notice of the above meeting and are for illustration 
only.

Notes:

(1) A member entitled to attend and vote at this meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy 
need not be a member of the Company.

(2) If a proxy is to be appointed, the form must be deposited at the registered office of the Company, at 8 Cross Street #11-00 
PWC Building, Singapore 048424, not less than 48 hours before the meeting.

(3) The form of proxy must be signed by the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing.
(4) In the case of joint shareholders, all holders must sign the form of proxy.
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THE PRoPoSED RENEWAL oF SHARE PuRCHASE MANDATE

1. iNTRoDuCTioN

1.1 Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. (the “Company”) proposes to seek the approval of Shareholders of 
the Company (“Shareholders”) at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at Meeting Room 
203, Level 2, Suntec Singapore International Convention & Exhibition Centre, 1 Raffles Boulevard, Suntec City, 
Singapore 039593 on Tuesday, 27 April 2010 at 2.00 p.m. (“2010 AGM”) for the proposed renewal of share 
purchase mandate to authorise the Directors from time to time to purchase shares in the capital of the Company 
(whether by market purchases and/or off-market purchases on an equal access system) up to 10% of the issued 
ordinary share capital of the Company as at the date on which this Resolution is passed, at the price of up to but 
not exceeding the Maximum Price (as defined below), subject to the Memorandum and Articles of Association 
of the Company and in accordance with the “Guidelines on Share Purchases by the Company” as set out in 
Annexure A to this Appendix I and the listing rules of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-
ST”) as set out in the SGX-ST Listing Manual (“Listing Rules”) (the “Share Purchase Mandate”).

1.2 The Shareholders of the Company had at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 25 April 2008, approved 
the Share Purchase Mandate (“2008 Mandate”) for the Directors to exercise all the powers of the Company 
to purchase or acquire up to 10% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company on the terms of that 
mandate. The 2008 Mandate was approved for renewal at the Annual General Meeting held on 28 April 2009 
(“2009 Mandate”).

1.3 The 2009 Mandate will expire on the date of the forthcoming 2010 AGM. If the proposed resolution for the 
renewal of Share Purchase Mandate is approved at the 2010 AGM, the mandate shall, unless revoked or varied 
by the Company in a general meeting, continue in force until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company 
is held or is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.

1.4 The purpose of this Appendix is to provide information relating to and explain the rationale for the proposed 
renewal of Share Purchase Mandate.

2. RATioNALE FoR THE SHARE PuRCHASE MANDATE

The renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate authorising the Company to purchase or acquire its ordinary shares 
in the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company (“Shares”) would give the Company the flexibility to 
undertake share purchases or acquisitions up to the 10% limit described in paragraph 2.3.1 below at any time, 
during the period when the Share Purchase Mandate is in force.

The rationale for the Company to undertake the purchase or acquisition of its issued Shares, as previously stated 
in its Circular to Shareholders dated 9 April 2008, is as follows:

(a) In managing the business of the Group, the management will strive to increase Shareholders’ value by 
improving, inter alia, the Return on Equity (“ROE”) of the Company. In addition to growth and expansion 
of the business, share purchases may be considered as one of the ways through which the ROE of the 
Company may be enhanced.

(b) In line with international practice, the Share Purchase Mandate will provide the Company with greater 
flexibility in managing its capital and maximising returns to its Shareholders. To the extent that the 
Company has capital and surplus funds, which are in excess of its financial needs, taking into account 
its growth and expansion plans, the Share Purchase Mandate will facilitate the return of excess cash and 
surplus funds to Shareholders in an expedient, effective and cost-efficient manner.
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(c) Share purchase programmes help to buffer short-term share price volatility.

(d) The Share Purchase Mandate will provide the Company the flexibility to undertake share repurchases at any 
time, subject to market conditions, during the period when the Share Purchase Mandate is in force.

While the Share Purchase Mandate would authorise a purchase or acquisition of Shares up to the said 10% limit 
during the duration referred to in paragraph 2.3.2 below, Shareholders should note that purchases or acquisitions 
of Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate may not be carried out to the full 10% limit as authorised 
and the purchases or acquisitions of Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate would be made only as 
and when the Directors consider it to be in the best interests of the Company and in circumstances which they 
believe will not result in any material adverse effect to the financial position of the Company or the Group, 
or result in the Company being delisted from the SGX-ST. The Directors will use their best efforts to ensure 
that after a purchase or acquisition of Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate, the number of Shares 
remaining in the hands of the public will not fall to such a level as to cause market illiquidity or adversely affect 
the orderly trading and listing status of the Shares on the SGX-ST.

2.3 Authority and Limits on the Share Purchase Mandate

The authority and limitations placed on share purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company under the 
proposed Share Purchase Mandate, are similar in terms to those previously approved by Shareholders, and are 
summarised below:

2.3.1 Maximum Number of Shares

Only Shares which are issued and fully paid-up may be purchased or acquired by the Company. The total 
number of Shares which may be purchased or acquired by the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase 
Mandate is limited to that number of Shares representing not more than 10% of the total number of 
issued Shares of the Company ascertained as at the date of the last Annual General Meeting or at the 
date of the forthcoming 2010 AGM at which the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate is approved, 
whichever is higher, unless the share capital of the Company has been reduced in accordance with the 
applicable provisions of the Companies Act, at any time during the Relevant Period, in which event the 
total number of issued Shares shall be taken to be the total number of issued Shares as altered. Any Shares 
which are held as treasury shares will be disregarded for purposes of computing the 10% limit. As at 19 
March 2010 (the “Latest Practicable Date”), the Company is holding 239,000 Shares in treasury.

For illustrative purposes only, on the basis of 3,653,283,000 Shares in issue as at the Latest 
Practicable Date (out of which 239,000 Shares are held in treasury as at the Latest Practicable Date), 
and assuming:

(a) no further Shares are issued on or prior to the 2010 AGM; and

(b) no further Shares are purchased or acquired by the Company, and no Shares purchased or acquired 
by the Company are held as treasury shares,

not more than 365,328,300 Shares (representing 10% of the total number of Shares (excluding the 
Shares held in treasury) as at that date) may be purchased by the Company pursuant to the proposed 
Share Purchase Mandate during the duration referred to in paragraph 2.3.2 below.
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2.3.2 Duration of Authority

Purchases or acquisitions of Shares pursuant to the proposed Share Purchase Mandate may be made, 
at any time and from time to time, on and from the date of the forthcoming 2010 AGM, at which the 
renewal of Share Purchase Mandate is approved, up to:

(a) the date on which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is held or required by law 
to be held; or

(b) the date on which the purchases or acquisitions of Shares pursuant to the proposed Share Purchase 
Mandate are carried out to the full extent mandated; or

(c) the date on which the authority conferred by the Share Purchase Mandate is revoked or varied by 
the Shareholders in a general meeting,

whichever is the earliest.

The authority conferred on the Directors by the Share Purchase Mandate to purchase Shares may be 
renewed at the next Annual General Meeting (after the forthcoming 2010 AGM) or an EGM to be 
convened immediately after the conclusion or adjournment of the next Annual General Meeting. When 
seeking the approval of the Shareholders for the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate, the Company 
is required to disclose details pertaining to purchases or acquisitions of Shares pursuant to the proposed 
Share Purchase Mandate made during the previous 12 months, including the total number of Shares 
purchased, the purchase price per Share or the highest and lowest prices paid for such purchases of 
Shares, where relevant, and the total consideration paid for such purchases.

2.3.3 Manner of Purchases or Acquisitions of Shares

Purchases or acquisitions of Shares may be made by way of:

(a) market purchase(s) (“Market Purchase”), transacted on the SGX-ST through the ready market, 
through one or more duly licensed stock brokers appointed by the Company for the purpose; and/
or

(b) off-market purchase(s) (“off-Market Purchase”) effected pursuant to an equal access scheme 
in accordance with Section 76C of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore (“Companies 
Act”).

The Directors may impose such terms and conditions which are not inconsistent with the Share Purchase 
Mandate, the Listing Rules and the Companies Act, as they consider fit in the interests of the Company 
in connection with or in relation to any equal access scheme or schemes. An Off-Market Purchase must, 
however, satisfy all the following conditions:

(i) offers for the purchase or acquisition of Shares shall be made to every person who holds Shares 
to purchase or acquire the same percentage of their Shares;

(ii) all of the abovementioned persons shall be given a reasonable opportunity to accept the offers 
made; and

(iii) the terms of all the offers shall be the same, except that there shall be disregarded (1) differences 
in consideration attributable to the fact that offers may relate to Shares with different accrued 
dividend entitlements; (2) differences in consideration attributable to the fact that offers relate to 
Shares with different amounts remaining unpaid (if applicable); and (3) differences in the offers 
introduced solely to ensure that each person is left with a whole number of Shares.
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Pursuant to the Listing Rules, if the Company wishes to make an Off-Market Purchase in accordance 
with an equal access scheme, it will issue an offer document to all Shareholders containing at least the 
following information:

(1) the terms and conditions of the offer;

(2) the period and procedures for acceptances;

(3) the reasons for the proposed purchase or acquisition of Shares;

(4) the consequences, if any, of the purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company that will arise 
under the Take-over Code or other applicable take-over rules;

(5) whether the purchases or acquisitions of Shares, if made, would have any effect on the listing of 
the Shares on the SGX-ST; and

(6) details of any purchases or acquisitions of Shares made by the Company in the previous 12 months 
(whether Market Purchases or Off-Market Purchases), giving the total number of Shares purchased, 
the purchase price per Share or the highest and lowest prices paid for the purchases of Shares, 
where relevant, and the total consideration paid for the purchases.

2.3.4 Maximum Purchase Price

The purchase price (excluding brokerage, stamp duties, commission, applicable goods and services tax 
and other related expenses) to be paid for a Share will be determined by the Directors or a committee 
of Directors that may be constituted for the purposes of effecting purchases or acquisitions of Shares by 
the Company under the Share Purchase Mandate. However, the purchase price to be paid for the Shares 
pursuant to the purchases or acquisitions of the Shares must not exceed:

(a) in the case of a Market Purchase, 105% of the Average Closing Price; and

(b) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase pursuant to an equal access scheme, 120% of the Average 
Closing Price,

(the “Maximum Price”) in either case, excluding related expenses of the purchase or acquisition.

For the above purposes:

“Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of a Share for the five 
consecutive Market Days on which the Shares are transacted on the SGX-ST immediately preceding the 
date of the Market Purchase by the Company or, as the case may be, the date of the making of the offer 
pursuant to the Off-Market Purchase, and deemed to be adjusted in accordance with the Listing Rules 
for any corporate action which occurs after the relevant five (5) Market Days.

“Date of the making of the offer” means the date on which the Company announces its intention to 
make an offer for an Off-Market Purchase, stating therein the purchase price (which shall not be more 
than the Maximum Price for an Off-Market Purchase calculated on the foregoing basis) for each Share 
and the relevant terms of the equal access scheme for effecting the Off-Market Purchase.
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2.4 Status of Purchased Shares

Shares purchased or acquired by the Company are deemed cancelled immediately on purchase or acquisition 
(and all rights and privileges attached to the Share will expire on such cancellation) unless such Share is held 
by the Company as a treasury share. Accordingly, the total number of issued Shares will be diminished by the 
number of Shares purchased or acquired by the Company and which are not held as treasury shares. At the 
time of each purchase of Shares by the Company, the Directors will decide whether the Shares purchased will 
be cancelled or kept as treasury shares, or partly cancelled and partly kept as treasury shares, depending on the 
needs of the Company at that time.

2.5 Treasury Shares

Under the Companies Act, Shares purchased or acquired by the Company may be held or dealt with as treasury 
shares. Some of the provisions on treasury shares under the Companies Act are summarised below:

2.5.1 Maximum Holdings

The number of Shares held as treasury shares cannot at any time exceed 10% of the total number of 
issued Shares.

2.5.2 Voting and Other Rights

The Company cannot exercise any right in respect of treasury shares. In particular, the Company cannot 
exercise any right to attend or vote at meetings and for the purposes of the Companies Act, the Company 
shall be treated as having no right to vote and the treasury shares shall be treated as having no voting 
rights.

In addition, no dividend may be paid, and no other distribution of the Company’s assets may be made, to 
the Company in respect of treasury shares. However, the allotment of shares as fully paid bonus shares 
in respect of treasury shares is allowed. Also, a subdivision or consolidation of any treasury share into 
treasury shares of a smaller amount is allowed so long as the total value of the treasury shares after the 
subdivision or consolidation is the same as before.

2.5.3 Disposal and Cancellation

Where Shares are held as treasury shares, the Company may at any time:

(a) sell the treasury shares for cash;

(b) transfer the treasury shares for the purposes of or pursuant to an employees’ share scheme;

(c) transfer the treasury shares as consideration for the acquisition of shares in or assets of another 
company or assets of a person;

(d) cancel the treasury shares; or

(e) sell, transfer or otherwise use the treasury shares for such other purposes as may be prescribed 
by the Minister for Finance.

Under the Listing Manual, immediate announcement must be made of any sale, transfer, cancellation and/
or use of treasury shares (in each case, the “usage”). Such announcement must include details such as 
the date of the usage, the purpose of the usage, the number of treasury shares comprised in the usage, 
the number of treasury shares before and after the usage, and the percentage of the number of treasury 
shares comprised in the usage against the total number of issued shares (of the same class as the treasury 
shares) which are listed on the SGX-ST before and after the usage.
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2.6 Reporting Requirements

Within 30 days of the passing of a Shareholders’ resolution to approve the purchases of Shares by the Company, 
the Company shall lodge a copy of such resolution with the Registrar.

The Company shall notify the Registrar within 30 days of a purchase of Shares by the Company on the SGX-ST 
or otherwise. Such notification shall include details of the purchases, the total number of Shares purchased 
by the Company, the Company’s total number of issued shares as at the date of the Shareholders’ resolution 
approving the purchase of the Shares and after the purchase of Shares, the amount of consideration paid by the 
Company for the purchases, whether the Shares were purchased out of profits or the capital of the Company 
and such other particulars as may be required in the prescribed form.

The Listing Rules specify that a listed company shall notify the SGX-ST of all purchases or acquisitions of its 
Shares not later than 9.00 a.m.:

(a) in the case of a Market Purchase, on the Market Day following the day on which the Market Purchase 
was made, and

(b) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase under an equal access scheme, on the second Market Day after 
the close of acceptance of the offer for the Off-Market Purchase.

The notification of such purchases or acquisition of Shares to the SGX-ST shall be in such form and shall include 
such details that the SGX-ST may prescribe. The Company shall make arrangements with its stockbrokers to 
ensure that they provide the Company in a timely fashion the necessary information which will enable the 
Company to make the notifications to the SGX-ST.

2.7 Source of Funds

The Company may only apply funds for the purchase or acquisition of the Shares as provided in the Articles of 
Association of the Company and in accordance with the applicable laws in Singapore. The Company may not 
purchase its Shares for a consideration other than in cash or, in the case of a Market Purchase, for settlement 
otherwise than in accordance with the trading rules of the SGX-ST.

The Companies Act permits the Company to purchase or acquire its own Shares out of capital, as well as from its 
distributable profits. Apart from using its internal sources of funds, the Company may obtain or incur borrowings 
to finance its purchase or acquisition of Shares.

2.8 Financial Effects

It is not possible for the Company to realistically calculate or quantify the impact of purchases or acquisitions 
of Shares that may be made pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate on the net tangible asset and earning 
per share as the resultant effect would depend on, inter alia, the aggregate number of Shares purchased or 
acquired, whether the purchase or acquisition is made out of capital or profits, the purchase prices paid for such 
Shares and the amount (if any) borrowed by the Company to fund the purchases or acquisitions and whether 
the Shares purchased or acquired are cancelled or held as treasury shares.

The Company’s total number of issued Shares will be diminished by the total number of the Shares purchased 
by the Company and which are cancelled. The NTA of the Group will be reduced by the aggregate purchase 
price paid by the Company for the Shares.
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Under the Companies Act, purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company may be made out of the 
Company’s capital or profits so long as the Company is solvent. Where the consideration paid by the Company 
for the purchase or acquisition of Shares is made out of profits, such consideration (excluding brokerage, stamp 
duties, commission, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) will correspondingly reduce 
the amount available for the distribution of cash dividends by the Company. Where the consideration paid by 
the Company for the purchase or acquisition of Shares is made out of capital, the amount available for the 
distribution of cash dividends by the Company will not be reduced.

The Directors do not propose to exercise the Share Purchase Mandate to such an extent that it would have 
a material adverse effect on the working capital requirements of the Group. The purchase or acquisition of 
the Shares will only be effected after considering relevant factors such as the working capital requirements, 
availability of financial resources, the expansion and investment plans of the Group and the prevailing market 
conditions. The proposed Share Purchase Mandate will be exercised with a view of enhancing the EPS and/or 
the NTA value per Share.

For illustrative purposes only, the financial effects of the Share Purchase Mandate on the Company and the 
Group, based on the audited financial statements of the Group for the financial period ended 31 December 
2009 are based on the assumptions set out below:

(a) based on 3,653,283,000 Shares in issue as at the Latest Practicable Date (out of which 239,000 Shares 
are held in treasury as at the Latest Practicable Date), and assuming no further Shares are issued and 
no further Shares are held by the Company as treasury shares on or prior to the AGM, not more than 
365,328,300 Shares [representing 10% of the total number of issued shares of the Company (excluding 
Shares held in treasury) as at that date] may be purchased by the Company pursuant to the proposed 
Share Purchase Mandate;

(b) in the case of Market Purchases by the Company and assuming that the Company purchases or acquires 
365,328,300 Shares at the Maximum Price of S$1.250* for one Share (being the price equivalent to 5% 
above the Average Closing Price of the Shares for the five consecutive Market Days on which the Shares 
were traded on the SGX-ST immediately preceding the Latest Practicable Date), the maximum amount 
of funds required for the purchase or acquisition of 365,328,300 Shares (excluding brokerage, stamp 
duties, commission, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) is approximately RMB 
2,213,917,000; and

(c) in the case of Off-Market Purchases by the Company and assuming that the Company purchases or 
acquires 365,328,300 Shares at the Maximum Price of S$1.428* for one Share (being the price equivalent 
to 20% above the Average Closing Price of the Shares on the five consecutive Market Days on which 
the Shares were traded on the SGX-ST immediately preceding the Latest Practicable Date), the maximum 
amount of funds required for the purchase or acquisition of 365,328,300 Shares (excluding brokerage, 
stamp duties, commission, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) is approximately 
RMB 2,530,191,000.

* Average Closing Price of the Shares: S$1.190 at the exchange rate: RMB4.850.

For illustrative purposes only, and based on the assumptions set out in sub-paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) above 
and assuming that (i) the purchase or acquisition of Shares is financed solely by internal sources of funds; (ii) the 
Share Purchase Mandate had been effective on 1 January 2009; and (iii) the Company had purchased or acquired 
365,328,300 Shares [representing 10% of its total number of issued shares of the Company (excluding Shares 
held in treasury) at the Latest Practicable Date] on 31 December 2009, the financial effects of the purchase or 
acquisition of 365,328,300 Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate:

(1) by way of purchases made entirely out of capital and held as treasury shares; and

(2) by way of purchases made entirely out of capital and cancelled,
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on the financial statements of the Company and the Group for the financial period ended 31 December 2009 
are set out below:

(1) Purchases made entirely out of capital and held as treasury shares

(A) Market Purchases

Group Company
Before  After Before After
Share Share Share Share

Purchase Purchase Purchase Purchase
RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 31 December 2009

Issued capital and reserves 4,316,048 4,227,491 5,417,885 5,329,328

Treasury shares (610) (2,214,527) (610) (2,214,527)

Total shareholders’ equity 4,315,438 2,012,964 5,417,275 3,114,801

NTA 4,315,438 2,012,964 5,417,275 3,114,801

Profit after taxation and minority 
interest 2,289,951 2,201,394 371,126 282,569

Net debt NA NA NA 2,078,483

Number of shares (‘000) 3,653,283 3,287,955 3,653,283 3,287,955

Financial Ratios

NTA per share (cents) 118.12 61.22 148.29 94.73

Gross debt gearing (%) 21.02 155.04 NA 66.73

Net debt gearing (%) NA NA NA 66.73

Current ratio (times) 1.06 0.90 4.36 0.54

Earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation divided 
by interest expenses (times) 317.66 26.79 NA 4.83

Basic EPS (cents)

(before exceptional items) 0.63 0.67 0.10 0.09

(after exceptional items) 0.63 0.67 0.10 0.09

Return on equity 53.06 109.36 6.85 9.07

Note:

Based on 3,653,283,000 Shares in issue as at the Latest Practicable Date, excluding 239,000 Shares that are held in 

treasury as at the Latest Practicable Date.
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(B) Off-Market Purchases

Group Company
Before After Before After
Share Share Share Share

Purchase Purchase Purchase Purchase
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 31 December 2009

Issued capital and reserves 4,316,048 4,214,840 5,417,885 5,316,677

Treasury shares (610) (2,530,801) (610) (2,530,801)

Total shareholders’ equity 4,315,438 1,684,040 5,417,275 2,785,877

NTA 4,315,438 1,684,040 5,417,275 2,785,877

Profit after taxation and minority 
interest 2,289,951 2,188,743 371,126 269,918

Net debt NA NA NA 2,394,757

Number of shares (‘000) 3,653,283 3,287,955 3,653,283 3,287,955

Financial Ratios

NTA per share (cents) 118.12 51.22 148.29 84.73

Gross debt gearing (%) 21.02 170.76 NA 85.96

Net debt gearing (%) NA NA NA 85.96

Current ratio (times) 1.06 0.88 4.36 0.48

Earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation divided 
by interest expenses (times) 317.66 23.58 NA 4.10

Basic EPS (cents)

(before exceptional items) 0.63 0.67 0.10 0.08

(after exceptional items) 0.63 0.67 0.10 0.08

Return on equity 53.06 129.97 6.85 9.69

Note:

Based on 3,653,283,000 Shares in issue as at the Latest Practicable Date, excluding 239,000 Shares that are held in 

treasury as at the Latest Practicable Date.
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(2) Purchases made entirely out of capital and cancelled

(A) Market Purchases

Group Company
Before After Before After
Share Share Share Share

Purchase Purchase Purchase Purchase
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 31 December 2009

Issued capital and reserves / Total 
shareholders’ equity 4,315,438 2,012,964 5,417,275 3,114,801

NTA 4,315,438 2,012,964 5,417,275 3,114,801

Profit after taxation and minority 
interest 2,289,951 2,201,394 371,126 282,569

Net debt NA NA NA 2,078,483

Number of shares (‘000) 3,653,283 3,287,955 3,653,283 3,287,955

Financial Ratios

NTA per share (cents) 118.12 61.22 148.29 94.73

Gross debt gearing (%) 21.02 155.04 NA 66.73

Net debt gearing (%) NA NA NA 66.73

Current ratio (times) 1.06 0.90 4.36 0.54

Earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation divided 
by interest expenses (times) 317.66 26.79 NA 4.83

Basic EPS (cents)

(before exceptional items) 0.63 0.67 0.10 0.09

(after exceptional items) 0.63 0.67 0.10 0.09

Return on equity 53.06 109.36 6.85 9.07
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(B) Off-Market Purchases

Group Company
Before After Before After
Share Share Share Share

Purchase Purchase Purchase Purchase
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 31 December 2009
Issued capital and reserves / Total 
shareholders’ equity 4,315,438 1,684,040 5,417,275 2,785,877

NTA 4,315,438 1,684,040 5,417,275 2,785,877
Profit after taxation and minority 
interest 2,289,951 2,188,743 371,126 269,918

Net debt NA NA NA 2,394,757

Number of shares (‘000) 3,653,283 3,287,955 3,653,283 3,287,955

Financial Ratios

NTA per share (cents) 118.12 51.22 148.29 84.73

Gross debt gearing (%) 21.02 170.76 NA 85.96

Net debt gearing (%) NA NA NA 85.96

Current ratio (times) 1.06 0.88 4.36 0.48
Earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation divided 
by interest expenses (times) 317.66 23.58 NA 4.10

Basic EPS (cents)

(before exceptional items) 0.63 0.67 0.10 0.08

(after exceptional items) 0.63 0.67 0.10 0.08

Return on equity 53.06 129.97 6.85 9.69

Shareholders should note that the financial effects set out above are purely for illustrative 
purposes only. Although the proposed Share Purchase Mandate would authorise the Company 
to purchase or acquire up to 10% of its issued Shares (excluding Shares held in treasury), the 
Company may not necessarily purchase or acquire or be able to purchase or acquire the entire 
10% of its issued Shares (excluding Shares held in treasury). in addition, the Company may cancel 
all or part of the Shares repurchased or hold all or part of the Shares repurchased in treasury.

Shareholders who are in doubt as to their respective tax positions or any tax implications arising 
from the Share Purchase Mandate or who may be subject to tax in a jurisdiction other than 
Singapore should consult their own professional advisers.

2.9 Take-over implications

Appendix 2 of the Singapore Code on Take-over and Mergers (“Take-over Code”) contains the Share Purchase 
Guidance Note applicable as at the Latest Practicable Date. The take-over implications arising from any purchase 
or acquisition by the Company of its Shares are set out below.
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2.9.1 Obligation to make a Take-over Offer

If, as a result of any purchase or acquisition by the Company of the Shares, the proportionate interest in 
the voting capital of the Company of a Shareholder and person(s) acting in concert with him increases, 
such increase will be treated as an acquisition for the purposes of Rule 14 of the Take-over Code. 
Consequently, a Shareholder or a group of Shareholders acting in concert with a Director could obtain 
or consolidate effective control of the Company and become obliged to make an offer under Rule 14 of 
the Take-over Code.

2.9.2 Persons Acting in Concert

Under the Take-over Code, persons acting in concert comprise individuals or companies who, pursuant 
to an agreement or understanding (whether formal or informal), co-operate, through the acquisition by 
any of them of shares in a company to obtain or consolidate effective control of the company.

Unless the contrary is established, the following persons, inter alia, will be presumed to be acting in 
concert, namely:

(a) a company with its parent company, subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries, any associated companies 
of the foregoing companies, any company whose associated companies include any of the 
foregoing companies, and any person who has provided financial assistance (other than a bank 
in the ordinary course of business) to any of the foregoing companies for the purchase of voting 
rights;

(b) a company with any of its directors, together with their close relatives, related trusts and any 
companies controlled by any of the directors, their close relatives and related trusts;

(c) a company with any of its pension funds and employee share schemes;

(d) a person with any investment company, unit trust or other fund in respect of the investment 
account which such person manages on a discretionary basis;

(e) a financial or other professional adviser, with its client in respect of the shareholdings of the adviser 
and the persons controlling, controlled by or under the same control as the adviser and all the 
funds which the adviser manages on a discretionary basis, where the shareholdings of the adviser 
and any of those funds in the client total 10% or more of the client’s equity share capital;

(f) directors of a company, together with their close relatives, related trusts and companies controlled 
by any of them, which is subject to an offer or where they have reason to believe a bona fide offer 
for their company may be imminent;

(g) partners; and

(h) an individual, his close relatives, his related trusts, any person who is accustomed to act according 
to his instructions, companies controlled by any of the foregoing persons and any person who has 
provided financial assistance (other than a bank in the ordinary course of business) to any of the 
foregoing persons and/or entities for the purchase of voting rights.

For this purpose, ownership or control of at least 20% but not more than 50% of the voting rights of a 
company will be regarded as the test of associated company status.
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The circumstances under which Shareholders, including Directors and persons acting in concert with them 
respectively, will incur an obligation to make a take-over offer under Rule 14 of the Take-over Code after 
a purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company are set out in Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code.

2.9.3 Effect of Rule 14 and Appendix 2

In general terms, the effect of Rule 14 and Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code is that, unless exempted, 
Directors and persons acting in concert with them will incur an obligation to make a take-over offer under 
Rule 14 if, as a result of the Company purchasing or acquiring Shares:

(a) the voting rights of such Directors and their concert parties would increase to 30% or more; or

(b) in the event that such Directors and their concert parties hold between 30% and 50% of the 
Company’s voting rights, if the voting rights of such Directors and their concert parties would 
increase by more than 1% in any period of six months.

In calculating the percentages of voting rights of such Directors and their concert parties, treasury shares 
shall be excluded.

Under Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code, a Shareholder who is not acting in concert with the Directors 
will not be required to make a take-over offer under Rule 14 if, as a result of the Company purchasing 
or acquiring its Shares:

(a) the voting rights of such Shareholder would increase to 30% or more; or

(b) if such Shareholder holds between 30% and 50% of the Company’s voting rights, the voting rights 
of such Shareholder would increase by more than 1% in any period of six months.

Such Shareholder need not abstain from voting in respect of the resolution authorising the renewal of 
the Share Purchase Mandate.

2.9.4 Exemptions from the requirement to make a general offer granted by the SIC

As at the Latest Practicable Date, Ren Yuanlin, a Director, and:

(a) two shareholder companies, namely:

(i) Almond Beach Resources Corporation (“Almond Beach”), in which Ren Yuanlin is a 
controlling shareholder; and

(ii) Newyard Worldwide Holdings Ltd, in which Ren Yuanlin is a controlling shareholder 
(“Newyard”);

(b) Ren Jinhua, by virtue of his shareholding in Almond Beach; and

(c) Xiang Jianjun, also a Director, by virtue of his shareholding in Newyard,

may be deemed to be acting in concert pursuant to the Take-over Code (collectively, the deemed concert 
parties shall be known as the “Relevant Shareholders”).
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Details of the Relevant Shareholders’ direct and deemed interests in the shareholding of the Company 
and their voting rights as at the Latest Practicable Date are set out on page 119 of this Annual Report. 
The Relevant Shareholders have an aggregate interest (both deemed and direct) in 1,069,744,000 Shares 
representing approximately 29.2817% of the total voting rights of the Company (excluding Shares held 
in treasury).

Based on the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings and the Register of Substantial Shareholders and on 
information provided to the Company by the Directors and Substantial Shareholders, as at the Latest 
Practicable Date, and as at the date of the 2010 AGM (on the assumption that their voting rights will 
not change between the Latest Practicable Date and the date of the 2010 AGM), the direct and deemed 
interests and voting rights of the Relevant Shareholders as a percentage of the total voting rights of the 
Company (excluding Shares held in treasury) before and after the purchase of Shares pursuant to the 
Share Purchase Mandate, assuming (a) the Company purchases the maximum amount of 10% of the 
total number of issued shares of the Company (excluding Shares held in treasury) and (b) there is no 
change in the number of Shares held by the Relevant Shareholders or which they are deemed interested 
in, will be as follows:

Before Share Purchase 
(No. of Shares)

Before 
Share

 Purchase

After 
Share

 Purchase
Relevant 
Shareholders

Direct
 interest

Deemed
 interest

Total 
interest % %

Ren Yuanlin 300,000 1,067,754,000 1,068,054,000 29.235 32.484
Ren Jinhua 1,690,000 184,086,000 185,776,000 5.085 5.650
Almond Beach 184,086,000 – 184,086,000 5.039 5.599
Newyard 883,668,000 – 883,668,000 24.188 26.876
Xiang Jianjun – 883,668,000 883,668,000 24.188 26.876

If the Company undertakes share purchase of up to 10% of the total number of issued shares of the 
Company within any six-month period as permitted by the Share Purchase Mandate, the total interest of 
the Relevant Shareholders:

(a) may be increased to 30% or more; or

(b) (in the event that the Relevant Shareholders hold between 30% and 50% of the Company’s voting 
rights) may be increased by more than 1% within a period of six months,

as a result of the Share Purchase undertaken by the Company. As a consequence, the Relevant 
Shareholders may be required to make a general offer to the other Shareholders under Rule 14 of the 
Take-over Code.

The Company had, on 1 February 2010, written to the SIC in respect of the obligations of the Relevant 
Shareholders and their concert parties under the Take-over Code.

The SIC had, in their letter of 11 February 2010, ruled that the requirement for the Relevant Shareholders 
and their concert parties to make a general offer for the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase 
Mandate shall be waived subject to the following conditions:

(a) the Appendix I to the Shareholders on the resolution to renew the Share Purchase Mandate:
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(i) contains advice to the effect that by voting for the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate, 
Shareholders are waiving their right to a general offer at the required price from the 
Relevant Shareholders and their concert parties who, as a result of the Company buying 
back its Shares, would increase their percentage of voting rights to 30% or more; and

(ii) discloses the names of the Relevant Shareholders and their concert parties and their voting 
rights at the time of the resolution and after the Share Purchase;

(b) the resolution to renew the Share Purchase Mandate is approved by a majority of those Shareholders 
present and voting at the meeting on a poll who could not become obliged to make an offer as 
a result of the Share Purchase;

(c) the Relevant Shareholders and their concert parties abstain from voting and/or recommending 
Shareholders to vote in favour of the resolution to renew the Share Purchase Mandate;

(d) the Relevant Shareholders and their concert parties have not acquired and will not acquire any 
Shares of the Company between the date on which they know that the announcement of the 
renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate is imminent and the earlier of:

(i) the date on which the Share Purchase Mandate expires; and

(ii) the date on which the Company announces it has bought back such number of Shares 
as authorised by the Share Purchase Mandate or the date the Company decides to cease 
buying back its Shares, as the case may be,

if such acquisitions, taken together with the Share Purchase, would cause their aggregate voting 
rights to increase to more than 30%; and

(e) if the Company ceases to buy back its Shares and the voting rights held by the Relevant Shareholders 
and their concert parties as a result of the Share Purchase at the time of such cessation do not 
increase to more than 30%, the Relevant Shareholders and their concert parties will be allowed to 
acquire further voting rights in the Company. However, any increase in the Relevant Shareholders’ 
and their concert parties’ percentage of voting rights as a result of the Share Purchase will be taken 
into account together with any Shares acquired by the Relevant Shareholders and their concert 
parties (by whatever means) in determining whether the Relevant Shareholders and their concert 
parties have increased their aggregate voting rights in the Company to more than 30%.

If, after the proposed renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate is approved by Shareholders at the 2010 
AGM, the Company undertakes Share Purchase of up to 10% of the total number of issued shares of 
the Company (excluding Shares held in treasury), being 365,328,300 Shares as at the Latest Practicable 
Date, as permitted by the Share Purchase Mandate, the voting and shareholding rights of the Relevant 
Shareholders (excluding Shares held in treasury), provided that there was no change in the number of 
Shares held or deemed to be held by the Relevant Shareholders, will be increased as follows:

% of effective 
shareholding before 

Share Purchase of 
up to 10% of the 

total number of Shares

% of effective 
shareholding after 
Share Purchase of 
up to 10% of the 

total number of Shares

The Relevant Shareholders 29.2817 32.5352
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Shareholders should note that by voting for the Share Purchase Mandate, they are waiving their 
rights to a take-over offer by the Relevant Shareholders in the circumstances set out above. 
Such a take-over offer, if required to be made and had not been exempted by the SiC, would 
have to be made in cash or be accompanied by a cash alternative at not less than the highest 
price (excluding related expenses) paid by the Relevant Shareholders or by the Company for 
any Share within the preceding six months.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any facts or factors which suggest or imply 
that any particular person(s) and/or Shareholder(s) are, or may be regarded as, parties acting in concert 
such that their respective interests in voting shares in the capital of the Company should or ought to 
be consolidated, and consequences under the Take-over Code would ensue as a result of a purchase of 
Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate.

Shareholders who are in doubt as to their obligations, if any, to make a mandatory take-over 
offer under the Take-over Code as a result of any purchase or acquisition of Shares by the 
Company should consult the SiC and/or their professional advisers at the earliest opportunity.

2.10 Listing Rules

While the Listing Rules do not expressly prohibit purchase of shares by a listed company during any particular 
time or times, the listed company would be considered an “insider” in relation to any proposed purchase or 
acquisition of its issued shares. In this regard, the Company will not purchase any Shares pursuant to the Share 
Purchase Mandate after a price-sensitive development has occurred or has been the subject of consideration 
and/or a decision of the Board of Directors until such time as the price-sensitive information has been publicly 
announced. In particular, the Company will not purchase or acquire any Shares through Market Purchases during 
the period of:

(a) one month immediately preceding the announcement of the Company’s annual financial results; and

(b) two weeks immediately preceding the announcement of the Company’s financial results for each of the 
first three quarters of its financial year.

The Company is required under Rule 723 of the Listing Manual to ensure that at least 10% of its Shares 
(excluding Shares held in treasury) are in the hands of the public. The “public”, as defined under the Listing 
Manual, are persons other than the directors, chief executive officer, Substantial Shareholders or controlling 
shareholders of the Company and its subsidiaries, as well as the associates of such persons.

Based on the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings and the Register of Substantial Shareholders maintained by 
the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date, approximately 1,310,678,860 Shares, representing approximately 
35.877% of the issued Shares (excluding Shares held in treasury), are in the hands of the public. Assuming 
that the Company purchases its Shares through Market Purchases up to the full 10% limit pursuant to the 
Share Purchase Mandate, the number of Shares in the hands of the public would be reduced to approximately 
945,350,560 Shares, representing approximately 28.752% of the total number of issued Shares of the Company 
(excluding Shares held in treasury). Accordingly, the Company is of the view that there is a sufficient number of 
issued Shares (excluding Shares held in treasury) held in the hands of the public which would permit the Company 
to undertake purchases or acquisitions of its issued Shares up to the full 10% limit pursuant to the proposed 
Share Purchase Mandate without affecting the listing status of the Shares on the SGX-ST, and that the number 
of Shares remaining in the hands of the public will not fall to such a level as to cause market illiquidity.

In undertaking any purchases or acquisitions of Shares through Market Purchases, the Directors will use their 
best efforts to ensure that, notwithstanding such purchases, a sufficient float in the hands of the public will 
be maintained so that the purchases or acquisitions of Shares will not adversely affect the listing status of the 
Shares on the SGX-ST, cause market illiquidity or adversely affect the orderly trading of the Shares.
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2.11 Previous Share Purchases

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company had not purchased nor acquired any Shares by way of Market 
Purchases pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate approved by Shareholders at the AGM held on 28 April 
2009.

3. DiRECToRS’ AND SuBSTANTiAL SHAREHoLDERS’ iNTERESTS

3.1 Directors’ interests

The interests of the Directors in the Shares as recorded in the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings as at the 
Latest Practicable Date are set out below:

Number of Shares
Director Direct interest Deemed interest

Ren Yuanlin 300,000 1,067,754,0001

Xiang Jianjun – 883,668,0002

Wang Dong – 510,466,0003

Teo Yi-Dar 150,000 –
Teo Moh Gin – –
Yu Kebing – 74,876,0004

1 Ren Yuanlin is deemed to be interested in the Shares through his interest in Newyard and Almond Beach, by virtue of 

Section 7 of the Companies Act.

2 Xiang Jianjun is deemed to be interested in the Shares through his interest in Newyard, by virtue of Section 7 of the 

Companies Act.

3 Wang Dong is deemed to be interested in the Shares through his interest in Lido Point Investments Ltd (“Lido”), by virtue 

of Section 7 of the Companies Act.

4 Yu Kebing is deemed to be interested in the Shares through his interest in Mediterranean Success Group Inc. 

(“Mediterranean”), by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act.

3.2 Substantial Shareholders’ interests

The interests of the Substantial Shareholders of the Company in the Shares as recorded in the Register of 
Substantial Shareholders as at the Latest Practicable Date are set out below:

Number of Shares Total 
Percentage

 interest (%)5Substantial Shareholder Direct interest Deemed interest

Ren Yuanlin 300,000 1,067,754,0006 29.235
Newyard 883,668,000 – 24.188
Xiang Jianjun – 883,668,0007 24.188
Lido Point Investments Ltd 510,466,000 – 13.973
Wang Dong – 510,466,0008 13.973
HongKong Hengyuan Investment Limited 376,364,900 – 10.300
Chang Liang – 376,364,9009 10.300
Ren Jinhua 1,690,000 184,086,00010 5.085
Almond Beach 184,086,000 – 5.039

5 Based on 3,653,283,000 Shares in issue as at the Latest Practicable Date, excluding 239,000 Shares that are held in 

treasury as at the Latest Practicable Date.

6 Ren Yuanlin is deemed to be interested in the Shares through his interest in Newyard and Almond Beach, by virtue of 

Section 7 of the Companies Act.
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7 Xiang Jianjun is deemed to be interested in the Shares through his interest in Newyard, by virtue of Section 7 of the 

Companies Act.

8 Wang Dong is deemed to be interested in the Shares through his interest in Lido Point Investments Ltd (“Lido”), by virtue 

of Section 7 of the Companies Act.

9 Chang Liang is deemed to be interested in the Shares through his interest in HongKong Hengyuan Investment Limited, 

by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act.

10 Ren Jinhua is deemed to be interested in the Shares through his interest in Almond Beach, by virtue of Section 7 of the 

Companies Act

4. DiRECToRS’ RECoMMENDATioNS

The Proposed Renewal of Share Purchase Mandate

The Directors are of the opinion that the proposed renewal of Share Purchase Mandate is in the best interest 
of the Company. Accordingly, the Directors, other than Ren Yuanlin and Xiang Jianjun, recommend that 
Shareholders vote in favour of the Ordinary Resolution relating to the proposed renewal of Share Purchase 
Mandate as set out in the Notice of 2010 AGM.

5. ANNuAL GENERAL MEETiNG

The 2010 AGM, notice of which is set out on pages 101 to 105 of the Notice of AGM attached to the Annual 
Report 2009 of the Company, will be held at Meeting Room 203, Level 2, Suntec Singapore International 
Convention & Exhibition Centre, 1 Raffles Boulevard, Suntec City, Singapore 039593, on 27 April 2010 at 2.00 
p.m. for the purpose of, inter alia, considering and, if thought fit, passing the ordinary resolution on the renewal 
of Share Purchase Mandate as set out in the Notice of the 2010 AGM.

6. ABSTENTioN FRoM VoTiNG

In light of the exemption granted by the SIC and in accordance with Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code, the 
Relevant Shareholders and their concert parties shall abstain from voting in respect of the ordinary resolution 
relating to the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting or making 
any recommendations to shareholders in relation to the Share Purchase Mandate and shall not accept nomination 
as proxies or otherwise for voting in respect of the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate unless specific 
instructions have been given in the proxy instrument on how the shareholders wish their votes to be cast for 
the resolution relating to the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate.

7. DoCuMENTS FoR iNSPECTioN

The following documents may be inspected at the registered office of the Company at 8 Cross Street, #11-00, 
PWC Building, Singapore 048424 during normal business hours from the date hereof up to and including the 
date of the 2010 AGM:

(a) the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company; and

(b) the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for FY2009.

8. DiRECToRS’ RESPoNSiBiLiTY STATEMENT

The Directors collectively and individually accept responsibility for the accuracy of the information given in this 
Appendix and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge and belief, 
the facts stated and the opinions expressed in this Appendix are fair and accurate in all material respects as at 
the date hereof and that there are no other material facts the omission of which would make any statement in 
this Appendix misleading.
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9. SGX-ST’S DiSCLAiMER

The SGX-ST assumes no responsibility for the accuracy of any of the statements made, reports contained or 
opinion expressed in this Appendix I and its accompanying Appendix.

Yours faithfully,
For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
YANGZiJiANG SHiPBuiLDiNG (HoLDiNGS) LTD.

Ren Yuanlin
Executive Chairman
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GuiDELiNES oN SHARE PuRCHASE BY THE CoMPANY

1. SHAREHoLDERS’ APPRoVAL

(a) Purchase of shares by the Company must be approved in advance by the Shareholders at a general meeting 
of the Company, by way of a general mandate.

(b) A general mandate authorising the purchase of shares by the Company will expire on the earlier of:-

(i) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company; or

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the next annual general meeting of the Company is 
required to be held; or

(iii) the time when such mandate is revoked or varied by an ordinary resolution of the Shareholders 
of the Company in general meeting.

(c) The authority conferred on the Directors by the Share Purchase Mandate to purchase shares shall, unless 
varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting, continue in force until the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company is held or is required by law to be held (i.e. not later than 30 April 2010), 
whichever is earlier.

(d) The maximum number of shares which can be purchased pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate shall 
be shares representing ten per centum (10%) of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at 
the date of the AGM at which the Share Purchase Mandate is approved.

(e) Purchases of shares can only be effected by the Company in either one of the following two ways or 
both:-

(i) by way of on-market purchases on the SGX-ST (“Market Purchases”). Market Purchases means a 
purchase of shares transacted through the SGX-ST’s trading system.

(ii) by way of an “off-market acquisition on an equal access scheme” as defined in section 76C of 
the Companies Act (“Off-Market Purchase Scheme”).

2. FuNDiNG oF SHARE PuRCHASES

(a) In purchasing shares, the Company may only apply funds legally available for such purchase in accordance 
with its Memorandum and Articles of Association, and the applicable laws in Singapore.

(b) The Company may not purchase its shares on the SGX-ST for a consideration other than cash or for 
settlement otherwise than in accordance with the trading rules of the SGX-ST.

(c) Any purchase by the Company may be made out of profits that are available for distribution as dividends 
and/or from capital.

(d) The Directors do not propose to exercise the proposed Share Purchase Mandate to such an extent as 
would materially affect the working capital requirements of the Company and the Group.
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3. TRADiNG RESTRiCTioNS

(a) The Company may not purchase any shares if, as a result of such purchase, the issued share capital of 
the Company will be reduced below the minimum capital specified in its Memorandum of Association.

(b) The Company will not effect a share purchase if immediately following the share purchase, the continuing 
shareholding spread requirement prescribed by the SGX-ST rules which are in force at the time of the 
intended share purchase cannot be maintained.

(c) The Directors will ensure that any share purchases will not have an effect on the listing of the Company’s 
shares on the SGX-ST.

4. oFF-MARKET PuRCHASE SCHEME

For purchases of shares to be made by way of an Off-Market Purchase Scheme, the Company will issue an offer 
document to all Shareholders. The offer document shall contain at least the following information:-

(a) the terms and conditions of the offer;

(b) the period and procedures for acceptances;

(c) the reasons for the proposed share buy-back;

(d) the consequences, if any, of share purchases by the Company that will arise under the Singapore Code 
on Take-overs and Mergers or any other applicable take-over rules;

(e) whether the share purchases, if made, would have any effect on the listing of the Company’s securities 
on the SGX-ST; and

(f) details of any share purchases made by the Company in the previous 12 months whether through 
Market Purchases or the Off-Market Purchase Scheme, including the total number of shares purchased, 
the purchase price per share or the highest and lowest prices paid for such purchases of shares, where 
relevant, and the total consideration paid for such purchases.

5. PRiCE RESTRiCTioNS

The purchases of shares by the Company shall be at the price of up to but not exceeding the Maximum Price. In 
the case of Market Purchases by the Company, the Maximum Price is five per centum (5%) above the average 
closing market prices of the shares over the last five (5) market days, on which transactions in the shares were 
recorded before the day on which the market purchases are made by the Company. In the case of Off-Market 
Purchases by the Company on an equal access scheme, the Maximum Price is 10% above the average closing 
market prices of the shares over the last five (5) market days when transactions in the shares were recorded up 
to and including the closing date of the offer to purchase shares by way of an Off-Market Purchase Scheme.

6. STATuS oF PuRCHASED SHARES

A share purchased or acquired by the Company is deemed cancelled immediately on purchase or acquisition (and 
all rights and privileges attached to the Share will expire on such cancellation) unless such share is held by the 
Company as a treasury share. Accordingly, the total number of issued Shares will be diminished by the number 
of Shares purchased or acquired by the Company and which are not held as treasury shares.
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7. REPoRTiNG REQuiREMENTS

(a) Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”)

Within thirty (30) days of the passing of a Shareholders’ resolution to approve purchases of shares, the 
Company must lodge a copy of such resolution with the ACRA.

The Company must notify the ACRA within thirty (30) days of a purchase of shares on the SGX-ST or 
otherwise. Such notification shall include details of the date of the purchases, the total number and 
value of shares purchased by the Company, the Company’s issued share capital as at the date of the 
Shareholders’ resolution approving the share purchases and after the purchase of shares and the amount 
of consideration paid by the Company for the purchases.

(b) SGX-ST

The Company will notify the SGX-ST of Market Purchases of shares not later than 9.00 a.m. on the market 
day following the day on which the Market Purchases were effected, and of Off-Market Purchases not 
later than 9.00 a.m. on the second market day after the close of acceptances of the offer for Off-Market 
Purchases. The notification of such purchases of shares to the SGX-ST shall be in such form and shall 
include such details that the SGX-ST may prescribe.

(c) CDP

The Company will notify the CDP on the date and quantity of the Share Purchase on the market day 
following the date on which the purchase was made, or the dates and quantities of the Share Purchases 
on a weekly basis if the share buy-back is an on-going process.

(d) The Company shall make arrangements with its stockbrokers to ensure that they provide to the Company 
in a timely fashion the necessary information which will enable the Company to make the aforesaid 
notifications to the SGX-ST and the CDP.

(e) When seeking the approval of Shareholders for the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate, the Company 
is required to disclose details pertaining to purchases of shares made during previous 12 months, including 
the total number of shares purchased, the purchase price per share or the highest and lowest prices paid 
for such purchases of shares, where relevant, and the total consideration paid for such purchases.

8. iNTERESTED PERSoNS

In a Market Purchase, the Company is prohibited from knowingly purchasing shares on the SGX-ST from an 
interested person, that is, a Director, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company or Substantial Shareholder of 
the Company or any of their associates (as defined in the SGX-ST Listing Manual) and an interested person is 
prohibited from knowingly selling his shares to the Company.

9. SuSPENSioN oF PuRCHASES

The Company may not purchase shares after a price sensitive development has occurred or has been the subject 
of a decision until such time as the price sensitive information has been publicly announced.

In particular, the Company may not purchase its shares on the SGX-ST during the period commencing two weeks 
before the announcement of the results of the first three quarters and one month before the announcement of 
the Company’s full year results, , and ending on the date of announcement of the relevant results.

10. SGX-ST RuLES

These guidelines are supplemental to the SGX-ST rules. In the event of any inconsistency between these guidelines 
and the SGX-ST Rules, the SGX-ST rules will prevail.
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PRoXY FoRM

Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
(Company Registration No.: 200517636Z)

iMPoRTANT

1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to 
buy shares in the capital of Yangzijiang Shipbuilding 
(Holdings) Ltd., the Annual Report is forwarded to 
them at the request of their CPF Approved Nominees 
and is sent solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors 
and shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if 
used or purported to be used by them.

I/We  (name)

of  (address) 

being a member/ members of Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. (the “Company”), hereby appoint:–

Name Address
NRiC/

Passport No.

Proportion of 
shareholdings to be

represented by proxy (%)

and/or failing him/her (delete as appropriate)

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company as my/our proxy/proxies to attend 
and to vote for me/us on my/our behalf and, if necessary, to demand a poll at the AGM of the Company to be held at Meeting 
Room 203, Level 2, Suntec Singapore International Convention & Exhibition Centre, 1 Raffles Boulevard, Suntec City, Singapore 
039593 on Tuesday, 27 April 2010 at 2.00 p.m., and at any adjournment thereof.

I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Resolutions to be proposed at the AGM as indicated with an “X” 
in the spaces provided hereunder. If no specified directions as to voting are given, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from 
voting at his/their discretion, as he/they will on any matter arising at the Meeting.

No. Ordinary Resolutions

To be used on a
show of hands

To be used in the
event of a poll

For Against
No. of
votes
for

No. of
votes

against
1. To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements of the Company 

for the financial year ended 31 December 2009 and the Reports of the 
Directors and the Auditors thereon.

2. To declare a tax exempt (one-tier) final dividend of S$0.035 per ordinary 
share for the financial year ended 31 December 2009.

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$91,000 by the Company 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2009.

4. To re-elect Mr Xiang Jianjun as Director of the Company pursuant to Article 
94 of the Company’s Articles of Association.

5. To re-elect Mr Wang Dong as Director of the Company pursuant to Article 
94 of the Company’s Articles of Association.

6. To re-appoint Messrs PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors of the 
Company and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.

7. To authorise Directors to allot and issue shares.

8. To approve the increase in discount limit to not more than 20% for non 
pro-rata share issue.

9. To renew the Share Purchase Mandate.

Dated this day of , 2010

Total Number of 
Shares Held in: No. of Shares

(a) CDP Register

(b) Register of Members

Signature(s) of Member(s)/Common Seal

iMPoRTANT: Please read notes overleaf



Notes:–

1. A member should insert the total number of shares held by him. If the member has shares entered against his name in the Depository Register (as defined 
in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50), he should insert that number of shares. If the member has shares registered in his name in the Register 
of Members of the Company, he should insert that number of shares. If the member has shares entered against his name in Depository Register and shares 
registered in his name in the Register of Members, he should insert the aggregate number of shares. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing 
a proxy or proxies will be deemed to relate to all the shares held by the member.

2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote on his 
behalf. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportion of his shareholding (expressed as percentage 
of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

4. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the Company’s registered office at 8 Cross Street, #11-00 PWC Building, Singapore 
048424 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Annual General Meeting.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the instrument 
appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly 
authorised.

6. Where an instrument appointing a proxy is signed on behalf of the appointor by the attorney, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof 
must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the instrument of proxy, failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid.

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or where the true intentions 
of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of shares 
entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to 
have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting, as certified by The 
Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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